IN THE HIGH COURT OF ZIMBABWE CASE NO HC /19
HELD AT HARARE

In the matter between:

ROBIN VELA APPLICANT
And

THE AUDITOR GENERAL OF ZIMBABWE N.O 15T RESPONDENT

And

BDO ZIMBABWE CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 28D RESPONDENT

(a firm of Accountants whose partners are Ngoni Kudenga, Gladman Sabarauta,
Martin Makaya, Gilbert Gwatiringa, and Jonas Jonga)

founding affidavit

(a) The deposition and parties

[, ROBIN VELA, make oath and state as follows;

1.1 I am an adult male and applicant in this matter. The facts that [ depose to are unless
otherwise stated known to me and are true and correct, Where [ relate to legal
propositions, I do so on counsel’s advice with the understanding that all the legal issues
raised will be canvassed in argument, both written and oral. The legal questions that
arise have, however, been explained to my satisfaction.

1.2 My address for service for the purposes of these proceedings is care of RUBAYA AND
CHATAMBUDZA Legal Practitioners of 57 Churchill Avenue, Alexandra Park,
Harare.

1.3 First respondent is the AUDITOR GENERAL OF ZIMBABWE appointed in terms
of section 310 of the Constitution of Zimbabwe, 2013 and who operates under and in
terms of the Audit Office Act (Chapter 22:18). She is cited in her official capacity.

1.4 Second respondent is a firm of Accountants BDO ZIMBABWE CHARTERED
ACCOUNTANTS whose partners are Ngoni Kudenga, Gladman Sabarauta, Martin
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Makaya, Gilbert Gwatiringa and Jonas Jonga. Second respondent’s address for service
is at Kudenga House, 3 Baines Avenue, Harare. I do not know whether the firm is
registered in terms of the Public Accountants and Auditors Act (Chapter 27:12).

The jurisdictional question

Section 309(2) of the Constitution of Zimbabwe, 2013 sets out the functions of the first
respondent as follows;

“(2) The functions of the Auditor-General are —

(a) to audit the accounts, financial systems and financial management of all
departments, institutions and agencies of government, all provincial and metropolitan
councils and all local authorities;

(b) at the request of the Government, to carry out special audits of the accounts of
any statutory body or government-controlled entity,

(¢) fo order the taking of measures to rectify any defects in the management and
safeguarding of public funds and public property; and

(d} to exercise any other functions that may be conferred or imposed on him or her
by or under an Act of Parliament”

It is common cause that the National Social Security Authority (NSSA) falls under this
audit jurisdiction of the first respondent. This is also the case in terms of section 5(2)
of the Audit Office Act (Audit Act).

By section 8(1) of the Audit Act, first respondent can act through authorised
representatives. In that regard, section 9 of the Act specifically provides as follows;

“(1)  The Auditor-General may, by notice in the Gazette, appoint a person registered
as a public auditor in terms of the Public Accountants and Auditors Act [Chapter
27:12] o inspect, examine and audit the accounts, records or siores that are required
by this Act or by any other enactment, to be inspected, examined or audited by the
Auditor-General and report the results of the inspection, examination or audit.

(2) The person appointed in terms of subsection (1) may carry out an economy,
efficiency and effectiveness audit of the operations, or specified operations, of a
designated statutory body, and report the results of the audit to the Auditor-General ”

It is on the basis of this provision that second respondent was on the 28" of February
2018 appointed by first respondent to carry out a forensic investigation of the affairs of
NSSA for the period 1 January 2015 to 28 February 2018.

[ am advised that in carrying out the forensic investigation as a delegate of the first
respondent, second respondent was by that fact exercising public power. The manner
in which it conducted the investigation and the conclusions it arrived at is accordingly
liable to judicial review at the instance of an aggrieved party of whom I am.

The nature of the application

This is an application brought in terms of section 3(1)(a) as read together with section
4 of the Administrative Justice Act (Chapter 10:28) (AJA). The application remains at
all times inspired by section 68(1) of the Constitution of Zimbabwe 2013, which [ have
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not invoked in the first instance by reason of the twin doctrines of subsidiarity and
constitutional avoidance.

It is my contention that the Audit report which I seek to impugn is without jurisdiction,
irregular, unreasonable, incompetent, biased, malicious and unfair in a manner which
violates section 3(1)(a) of the AJA.

In the alternative and to the extent that it becomes necessary, I seek to invoke this
court’s review powers as set out under sections 26 and 27 of the High Court Act as well
as the common law. The grounds upon which that invocation is sought are the same as
those already referred to above.

The background issues

From 12 July 2015 to 27 March 2018, I was the board chairman of NSSA. It is my
submission that during that period I conducted myself with honour, zeal, dignity,
distinction and patriotism. [ am proud of the work that I did to turn around an institution
of national significance that had been failing to meet its mandate.

[ am a professionally qualified and experienced Investment Banker; and Fellow of both
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (“ICAEW™) and the UK
Chartered Securities Institute. In 2016, I was appointed to the I{CAEW Member’s
Advisory Board for Africa, a position | resigned from in July 2018.

I am also a member of the Institute of Directors in Southern Africa and the past Patron
for the African Institute of Petroleum. 1 was also a former appointed consultant to the
World Bank, IFC and Sanlam Investment Managers in Swaziland.

[ have founded and led a Johannesburg & London Stock Exchange (AIM List) listed
entity; co-founded two separate UK equity investment funds and worked for top tier
bulge bracket financial institutions in the City of London as a senior private equity/
investment banking executive for more than a decade. I have a verifiable track record
of leading and closing corporate and investment related transactions in Sub-Saharan
Africa and the City of London.

[ have held numerous public, listed company and private company directorships. 1
graduated with a Bachelor of Science (honours) degree in Economics and Accounting
from Bristol University.

I was named the overall winner of the “Megafeast Outstanding Top 20 Men of the Year
2017 Special Recognition in Professional Approach to Business Award” in Zimbabwe
for 2017, I am an acclaimed international business person, experienced in a vast array
of economic activities and it is for that reason that | was appointed chairperson of
NSSA. The corporation accordingly enjoyed a new lease of life and exponential growth
under my stewardship with massive increases in net asset value, investment income,
cashflow and profitability as can be objectively verified from the annual reports audited
by the first respondent for the financial years 2016 and 2017,

After I was relieved of my position, on 27 March 2018, the first respondent in response
to a request from the then Minister of Public Service, Labour and Social Welfare,
Petronella Kagonye, appointed second respondent to investigate the affairs of NSSA.



2.7

2.8

2.9

3.1

(e)
3.2

3.3

il

iii.

iv.

Vi.

3.4

As [ have already indicated, I do not know whether the second respondent is registered
in terms of the Public Accountants and Auditors Act. The work that it conducted
suggests that it is not. I will account for that hard stated position herein.

I am, however, aware that this was the first big public and high profile mandate of the
second respondent. Regrettably, the second respondent seems to have been excitable
and overwhelmed by the task it had to undertake. It also seems to have been too eager
to impress and too eager it was, it did not consider it important to be governed by its
professional values and ethics in conducting the investigation.

The investigation yielded a report which I attach hereto and mark as “A”. I am
aggrieved by this report and by its conclusions. | am also aggrieved by the manner in
which the-investigation was conducted. My objections have long been recorded.

[ received this report, as circulated in the wide public domain, on Friday 2 August 2019
and have not wasted anytime in challenging it.

The process

The first time that | became aware that I was being investigated was on Friday 9
November 2018, when | received a call from Ms Primrose Mhembere, the personal
assistant to the second respondent’s managing partner, Ngoni Kudenga (Kudenga).

Subsequently, a questionnaire was given to me which | attach hereto and mark as “B”.
The following is apparent from the introductory paragraphs of annexure “B”;

I'made it clear that my responses were to be read together with a rebuttal Dossier dated
11 May 2018. The Dossier is attached hereto and marked as “C”.

That the Housing Transactions supplement dated 16 July 2018 also had to be
considered. I attach it hereto and mark same as *“D”

That the auditors also had to consider the Housing Transactions annexures dated 16
July 2018 which are attached hereto and marked as “E series”.

I also made it clear that | had already picked some whispers in the local business
community suggesting that there was already a draft report prepared even before my
responses to the questionnaire was considered. | wondered whether the auditors already
had conclusions and were just going through the motions as a window dressing
measure.

I also queried the accusatorial and in certain instances judgmental tone of the questions
put to me. I noted that the auditors seemed to have approached the matter with shut
minds and were seeking the confirmation of a view that had been held, crystallized and
turned into a conclusion.

In view of these concerns, | specifically reserved my rights. Not having anything to
hide though, I set about assisting the auditors to the best of my knowledge.

These concerns were neither acknowledged nor addressed. [ was altogether ignored as
is evident for a simple perusal of my responses to the questionnaire and the report’s
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write up and findings. I attached hereto and marked as “F1” confirmation that BDO
received the dossiers and questionnaire.

The court will note upon going through the report that it does not make use of or make
any reference to my answers. | am completely ignored though I am mercilessly
condemned.

The scope of the audit

The forensic audit covers the following areas, (and this is limited to those issues that
pertain to me);

Investments

The auditors were required to establish whether there were any related party
transactions as well as any out of the ordinary transactions during the review period.

Establish if investments done with Metbank were above board.

Whether there was proper securitization of certain off-take agreements,

Human resources

Whether, certain senior employees had been properly recruited by NSSA.

To establish whether the remuneration policy then in operation had been properly
authorised.

Any other issues

The auditors also had carte blanche to deal with any other issues.

The conclusions reached by the anditors

The conclusions reached by the auditors on the issues material to this challenge are the
following;

The auditors concluded that the Metbank investments were not above board and had
yielded certain losses to NSSA.

It was also concluded that the off-take agreements were irregular and has resulted in
losses to NSSA.

Further condemned was the agreement between NSSA and HCZ. The conclusion was
specifically arrived at that I had been the proximate cause of the conclusion of that
agreement.

The auditors also concluded that the manner in which the interviews for those recruited
into senior management had been was shrouded in mystery and hidden under a cloud
of unaccountability.

It was also the view of the auditors that [ had interfered in management issues.

The approval of Board Fees by the Permanent Secretary was also blamed on me. On
that issue the auditors wrote with no subtlety;
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“NSS4 should seek legal counsel on how to deal with the involvement of the former
Board Chairman in overpayment of board fees”

The effect

There is no doubt that the conclusion casts me in bad light and alleges all sorts of
improprieties against me. It affects my good name, my economic interests both locally
and abroad and has been a source of great consternation. The fact that the audit repott
has the Auditor General’s stamp, having been carried out at her bidding, formalises and
gives public character to the attack against my person. The stain being unearned must
be washed off.

It is in that context that | raise certain pertinent contentions against the repott, its
processes and conclusions.

The grounds for the challenge

The grounds upon which | challenge the report are many. 1 turn to them:

Bevond the remit of powers

I submit that in contracting the second respondent to audit all the issues on which it has
now given an opinion, the first respondent went beyond the remit of her powers.

First respondent’s constitutional function is to audit accounts, financial systems and
financial management of public bodies and institutions. It is that function that first
respondent can delegate to the second respondent. Any other audit that goes beyond the
audit of accounts, financial systems and financial management of public bodies and
institutions is unlawful. That at any rate is how the Audit Office Act is to be construed,
particularly section 9(2) thereof, in view of provisions of paragraph 10 of the sixth
schedule to the constitution of Zimbabwe as read together with section 2(1) of the same
constitution.

The audit carried out by the second respondent goes beyond the constitutional remit.
The scope of the audit makes that fundamentally clear and the findings arrived at puts
that beyond any doubt.

The whole audit process was consequently unlawful and nothing can depend on it. For
the comfort of the parties, its invalidity must be decreed.

The report does not constitute a forensic report

Public power cannot be exercised for a purpose other than that for which it has been
given. The Auditor General in fulfilment of a constitutional mandate decided that a
forensic investigation had to be carried out on the affairs of NSSA. The report impugned
simply does not constitute a forensic investigation,

The partner who signed off the report and none of the persons who worked on it are
qualified or accredited as Forensic Investigators by any institution, reputable or
otherwise and could not have carried out a forensic investigation. I attach hereto and
mark as “F2 series” an investigation conducted with the necessary reputable
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organisations with whom the second respondent would otherwise have been registered
had it had in its midst Forensic Investigators,

I am advised by counsel that something cannot be put on nothing neither can a valid act
arise out of the execution of duty by an unqualified person. To the extent that the
persons who conducted this investigation, signed off the report and passed it to the
Auditor General are not qualified, no validity could attach to their efforts.

In similar vein, the Auditor General could not have properly relied on an invalid report
as that would be breach of both the constitution and statute.

Further, the manner in which the report was prepared and complied shows a worrisome
lack of capacity to conduct the task for which second respondent was contracted. 1 will
relate to the incompetence that afflicts the report. Suffice to state at this stage, that such
incompetence reflects on the lack of basic qualifications and the depth needed for such
a task.

For this reason, the report may be reviewed and set aside. A declaration as to its
invalidity may precede such review.

The report is incompetent

The manner in which the investigators went about executing their task speaks to their
incompetency which incompetency affects the outcome of the report. I will highlight a
few issues which support that contention.

The report deals with Board Fees expenses which | am accused of having unlawfully
effected. An arbitrary calculated board fees quarterly retainer figure for the Board
Chairman of USD$4,988 is given and yet the approved figure was an accurate sum
amount of USD$6,450 for the Board Chairman. The question arises as to why someone
would choose to work on a percentage error when the actual sum is available.

I must point out that when this issue was raised with me, 1 provided the approval form
sent showing the actual numbers. This is what the Permanent Secretary approved. This
is what the report must relate to. It does not. Instead the second respondent imputes his
own numbers. As if to further demonstrate the complete incompetence of the second
respondent, a 50% increase of the Board Chairman’s retainer of USD$3,225 would give
an amount of USD$4,837.50 and NOT the arbitrary calculated amount of USD$4,988.
This in a forensic report of consequent is unacceptable.

Further, the report suggests, and without a basis, that these board fees were not
approved. This is clearly contrary to the evidence that was piaced before the auditors.
No explanation for the rejection of the position [ set out is given. This is incompetent.

This is an emotive and significant issue in the context of the report in that it speaks to
what [ am also supposed to have been paid. The incompetence that pervades the report
is however, stark.

The repoit deals with the Africom issue and gives a deemed actual loss to NSSA of
USD$303,140 which is incorrect. In fact the transaction NSSA undertakook with
ZAMCO and the Ministry of Defence resulted a profit restatement of USD$15.5 million
to NSSA. Not recognising this is incompetent.
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Prior to my tenure as Board Chairman, and as acknowledged in the report, NSSA had
provided an unconditional guarantee to pay DFIs in hard currency in the amount of
USD$15.8 million. The effect was a liability on NSSA’s balance sheet, the settlement
of an effective USD$303,104, getting ZAMCO to take over the guarantee and the
Ministry of Defence to pay some USD$300,000 effectively meant this was a saving and
return to balance sheet of NSSA of USD$15.5 million. This inconvenient truth is
ignored.

It is with respect shocking incompetence that an Accountancy Firm signs off on a report
but cannot determine the difference between an asset and a liability. This is inexcusable
and yet a taint has been put on my person on the basis of such incompetence.

Yet another aspect of the incompetency of the report relates to the so cailed calculation
of the potential loss suffered by NSSA on the Housing Corporation of Zimbabwe (HCZ)
issue of which an arbitrary figure of USD$104 million is given. The number is given
on the incompetent assumption that the HCZ houses, once completed, would have no
takers at the given price and were the same as the National Building Society (NBS)
houses which the auditors thought were comparable.

The auditors would not have proceeded on this erroneous assumption had they given
effect to my right to be heard. A full dossier of documents, including a voluminous
information memorandum from HCZ, already attached, was provided on the issue and
dealt with these concerns. Shockingly, the auditors do not show why that dossier could
be rejected or why they thought it otherwise didn’t provide answers to the issues on
which a conclusion was made.

The USD$104 million loss is arbitrary and has no basis in fact, accounting and or in
law. | point out that for Caledonia there was and remains extensive demand and full
uptake from civil servants and trade unions of all its houses. I challenge the second
respondent to bring evidence to the contrary. [ also point out for what it is worth that
these houses are markedly different from the NBS shell houses which the auditors
treated as comparable to the HCZ houses that came furnished, fully appliance equipped
and painted. Such key differences are not noted by a firm purportedly conducting a
forensic audit.

* Further, it is an objective fact that HCZ obtained judgment on 22 February 2019 against

NSSA. That judgment is attached hereto and marked as “G1”. The judgment speaks to
the issues on which the auditors provided a negative comment and shows that no basis
for such a negative conclusion exists.

In clear abdication of their duties, the auditors proceeded to release their report on the
4" of March 2019 without considering the judgment that had been rendered by the High
Court on the matter. | pause to put forward the following charges, these circumstances
considered;

a. It is most regrettable that the second respondent does not understand the position
of the High Court and the authority it yields over mortal disputation, The
auditors clearly do not understand that the court’s judgment on these issues
affects their conclusions. If they did, they would have deferred to its authority.
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Such level of incompetence is with respect crass and constitutes an abdication
of function.

b. Second, it shows that the auditors went about their work in a most malicious
manner. Indeed one can be forgiven for taking the view that they arrived at
conclusions before investigating the matter and thereafter set about validating
those conclusions. That would explain the tone of the questions they put to me
in the questionnaire. The bottom line is that they found the judgment of the High
Court to be an inconvenience. In pursuit of an opaque agenda, they ignored its
authority.

The Arbitration award granted in favour of HCZ, further contradicts the second
respondents position. The report was, however, never updated to reflect these two key
Jjudgements in favour of HCZ which are fundamental to the report’s contention. This is
incompetent at best but more likely malicious in that the judgments were not convenient
to the second respondent’s narrative. The arbitration award is attached as “G2”

The auditors also fail to identify a single meeting in which [ attended with NSSA
management and HCZ representatives. They do not because it never happened. Instead
NSSA management was given a free hand to engage with HCZ representation, to reach
agreement, to enter into contract, to conduct whatever work they wished prior to so
doing. Infact NSSA Management proceeded to contract and further engage with HCZ
without the NSSA Board or me.

The auditors put out a false narrative that HCZ, a week old company obtained a US$304
million contract without tender. Infact Housing Africa Corporation, the holding
company for HCZ, first approached NSSA in February 2017 with an information
memorandum. This memorandum was then passed on to NSSA management to work
through. It was only on 30 June 2017 that NSSA Board approved engagement with
HAC, Having approved the concept, and following discussions with NSSA
management, HAC incorporated HCZ as the special purpose vehicle for its
Zimbabwean housing projects. Nothing is untoward and this is infact the standard and
norm in any jurisdiction. It was in late July 2017/ early August 2017 that the contract
was entered into on a phased basis and infact for 2000 houses in the first phase. The
auditors non-descript explanation is designed to give a false and alarmist impression
but which is patently false and unwarranted. It took HAC/HCZ a minimum 6 months
to get to contract with NSSA.

For the reasons articulated above, the report cannot stand. The witch hunt that
characterises it requires a review.

The auditors were biased

As they were obliged to do, the auditors provided a questionnaire which put to me
certain pointed, though biased questions. As I have already indicated, 1 objected and
did at the same time take issue with the manner in which the questions were framed and
the premise from which they proceeded.
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Basic notions of justice and decency obliged the auditors to have considered my
position, They were obliged to either agree or disagree with it. In the event that they
decided to disagree with me, a basis for so disagreeing had to be articulated.

The responses that | gave were however, altogether ignored. The explanations that [
tendered were not followed through neither are they made reference to.

In the same vein, | provided three dossiers. These were also ignored. The pertinent
answers that are set out in those dossiers did not receive the attention of the auditors
neither did they exercise their minds. The auditors do not show why they considered
that those documents were useless.

I can only surmise that my responses were ignored for no other reason than that they
did not tally with the script. That the auditors were working with a script is to begin
with unfortunate. What, however, cannot be got over is that the entire process is clearly
stained, is compromised and can have no validity either in law or in morals. The fact
that this is an exercise of public power makes it worse.

I want to specifically point out that in my responses and dossiers [ provided sufficient
evidence which showed that:

The projects on which improprieties have been raised had full and informed board
approval. Collective responsibility was taken by the board and minuted.

There are full and credible minutes (as well as email correspondence) which totally
make nonsense of the allegation that management had anything other than a free hand
to carry out their duties. Indeed this was put to management explicitly and repeatedly.

There is sufficient evidence showing that the offtake arrangement was conceived,
designed and put in place by management. There was and remains nothing untoward
in relation to the housing offtake agreements undertaken by NSSA because that remains
a NSSA policy not my individual policy. Ironically, this is confirmed by the same
auditors on page 70 of their own report.

That the response of the board to all the issues raised is collective and that accordingly,
an attempt to single me out, pillory and raise improprieties against me is most
unfortunate.

This with respect shows that there was something in my responses which would have
affected the conclusions reached. | ought to have been heard through the consideration
of my responses. The right to be heard had reverberated in all processes throughout all
history, counselling us at all times of the dangers of considering one side to the matter
and of making decisions without considering both sides to an issue. This precept of
divine justice and judgment was negated with abandon in this matter. The process
cannot stand.

Further, it is a matter of public record that Ngoni Kudenga, second respondent’s
Managing Partner was publicly attacked as owing me some money and being biased in
my favour by a member of the House of Assembly. That these allegations put Kudenga
under immense pressure does not require esoteric quackery to appreciate.
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Unconsciously, Kudenga must have tried to make a point by showing that he was
unbiased and ended up being biased in the process against me.

I point out that the seriousness of the allegations made against Kudenga demanded of
him an immediate recusal from handling the matter. He did not. Counsel has advised
me, on the basis of a welter of judicial authorities, that everything that Kudenga did
beyond the point at which he ought to have recused himself is invalid, a nullity and
must be reviewed. The exercise has accordingly been abortive and time wasting; the
dance has not been worth the candle.

[ must point to the duplicity in Kudenga’s approach. In unrelated matters, Kudenga had
difficulties with NSSA management even citing incompetence of the same. In all those,
he approached me as the Board Chairman and all those issues were resolved. I set them
out:

In his capacity as Liquidator of Tetrad, Kudenga had certain properties which he wanted
saved from disposal in June 2017 but which were eventually sold at an undervaluation
as a result of what he perceived to be the incompetence of Mr Kurauone Chihota, an
employee of NSSA and the second respondent’s star witness in relation to the HCZ
matter. [ attach e-mail correspondence setting out those details below and mark it as
annexure “H series”. He asked that I intervene and resolve this issue. As it was despite
Mr Kurauone Chihota’s undertaking to save the properties and with more than a month
in hand to do so, the properties were sold at an undervaluation to the distaste of
Kudenga.

On a separate occasion, Kudenga sought my intervention on a Tetrad/Interfin debt to
NSSA which was secured by properties held by Pinnacle Holdings. Kudenga expressed
serious reservations about the capacity of NSSA management to deal with this issue.
assisted and the authority gained USD$16 million that had been previously written off
as lost to failed banks. It is of course quite rich of him that he does not mention this
episode which would alone obliterates any noted actual loss in the report.

The significance of these two happenings is that they follow a path, an approach, a
modus operandi which the auditors purport to criticise and crucify me for in their report.
They cannot blow hot and cold. Whiist that is however, clear, the crux of the matter is
that the blowing hot and cold speaks to a compromised “mind” and constitutes
reviewable circumstance.

[n this regard I must also make the point that the report is designed to deal with certain
targets, for certain unspecified oblique reasons. [ wish to make reference to some
happenings which took place during the period reviewed by the report and which
concern third parties who were not condemned for what [ have been condemned for.

Minister Petronella Kagonye, against the resolution of both the NBS and NSSA boards,
appointed Mr Lameck Danga as the Managing Director of NBS. Mr Danga had come
second in the interviews held. The report neither criticizes nor condemns her for this
appointment as it seeks to do with me. Surely it is a trite principle that like must be
treated alike. What standard did the auditors apply which applies against me and not
against my successors?
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Further, it is common cause that Permanent Secretary Ngoni Masoka directed Danga’s
salary to be paid at a rate which was above those of his seniors in NSSA. I attach hereto
and mark as “I series” correspondence dealing with that issue. If this is not unlawful
and worthy of condemnation, why have [ now been subjected to criticism?

Further, the report deals with what it calls the cost of unfair dismissals and mentions a
figure of USD$598 000-00. It conveniently does not mention that it was Minister
Patrick Zhuwao who forced, NSSA, against a board resolution, to pay Mr Chikuni
Mutiswa USD$400 000-00. The impression however, given is that I must account for
that entire globular sum. [ attach in this regard documentary evidence that pertains to
that issue and mark it the ““J series”

In that same vein, the report does not make mention of the fact that Minister Petronella
Kagonye forced the termination of the contract of employment of Mr David Makwara,
now the reinstated and Acting General Manager of NSSA, on the dubious basis that he
was too close to me. [ attach the claim by Mr David Makwara against NSSA which was
ultimately successful resulting in his reinstatement and mark it “K”. The results of that
indiscretion are carried in the sum against which the auditors complain and which they
lay on my doorstep. The false impression is sought to be given that I am responsible for
this loss. No attempt is made to identify the people who would otherwise be liable for
these decisions and their attendant losses. No explanation is given as to why they are
being shielded from either scrutiny or condemnation.

I must also point out that the report makes no mention of the fact that Minister
Petronella Kagonye forced NSSA to “sponsor” to the tune of USD$200 000-00 a
disability conference in her Caledonia Constituency and a further sum of USD$200,000
to a school in Ruwa immediately prior to the July 2018 elections. Involved in this were
then Minister Petronella Kagonye, then Permanent Secretary Ngoni Masoka and then
Principal Director Simon Masanga, now the Permanent Secretary in the Ministry of
Public Service, Labour and Social Welfare. This vote buying, done through pensioner’s
funds for private benefit is not mentioned. Is it because the auditors had a wider political
audience to satisfy or otherwise to not offend?

The other issue that arises for consideration is that of board fees. The illegitimate point
sought to be made by the report is that unlawful board fees were paid at my instance.
The facts reviewed by the auditors shows that those fees were approved by the
Permanent Secretary, Ngoni Masoka, and implemented by NSSA management. Despite
the fact that [ have never been a signatory to any NSSA agreement or bank account,
Neither NSSA management or the Permanent Secretary are saddled with the
consequences of this decision, whether it be correct or incorrect. There is however, a
malicious attempt to place these issues at my doorstep.

There are also issues in the NSSA report that relate to a period before my appointment
at NSSA. In particular the “overpayment” on MetBank debt swap and the purchase of
properties from MetBank at “overstated” prices. There is zero attempt by the auditors
to make clear I could not have been party to the same transactions that occurred prior
to my arrival at NSSA. This, with respect, is another brazen attempt by the auditors to
associate me with all alleged questionable transactions exposing their deep- seated bias
against my person.
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I contend that the auditors were biased against me. I contend that the bias contaminated
their approach to the issues and has affected their conclusions. A report produced under
such circumstances and affected by this kind of ill can have no legal validity. I submit
that this report must be reviewed and set aside.

Inaccurate report

[ have already related to some factual inaccuracies that affect the report. This is a major
feature of this report. The reason there are such inaccuracies is that the investigators did
not consider my rebuttal. They ought to have weighed the allegations on the one hand
and the responses on the other and thereafter come up with a conclusion.

There are however, further inaccuracies that afflict the report that I would like to relate
to.

The report refers to a meeting that took place at my offices. I have previously explained
why the meeting took place on that day at my offices. Deliberately and most
dishonestly, the auditors misstate both the numbers of the people who attended the
meeting and its business. The auditors refuse to acknowledge, despite there being
minutes that the then NSSA General Manager (Ms Liz Chitiga), the NSSA Chief
Finance Officer (Mr Emmerson Mungwariri), the NSSA Chief Investment Officer (Mr
Herbert Hungwe), the NSSA Chief Properties Investment Officer (Mr Kurauone
Chihota), NSSA Board member and ministry representative, Mrs Memory Mukondomt,
and, amongst others, Mrs Precious Sibiya who is from the ministry’s legal department
where all in attendance. A smaller list is given by the auditors to create a false
impression that this meeting was pregnant with impropriety. Further and for the
avoidance of doubt, contrary to what the auditors surmise in their report, no decisions
were made at this meeting. | challenge the second respondent to prove otherwise. To
the contrary minutes included in the dossiers provided to them show the formal
meetings held and timing at which decisions were made.

Further, it is claimed in the report that a decision was taken at that meeting. This is
patently false. There are minutes of that meeting, There are further minutes which show
that a decision was only taken at a [ater stage by the board. Where did the auditors get
this suggestion that a decision was taken at that meeting? The only answer is that this
is their creation. Instead of reviewing facts, the auditors were busy creating them.

The report also propounds the theory that there were investments undertaken without
board approval. This inaccurate conclusion does not take into account a board
resolution made before my time, in September 2012 authorising management to
implement decisions of the Board Investment Committee. A screenshot of this Board
resolution was provided to the auditors, and ignored. NSSA would also have been able
to furnish them with the same.

The report is clearly and for those reasons inaccurate. It cannot be a report properly
produced in terms of statute. Critically, no valid decisions and or courses of action be
they ilegal or otherwise can be made to depend on that report.
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Inconsistency in approach

A critical attribute of a forensic investigation is that it must be consistent. Consistent in
its approach, consistent in its methods and consistent in its conclusions. This report is
not consistent,

In dealing with the HCZ issue, the auditors report that NSSA was caused in one instance
a loss of USD$16 million, in another USD$104 million and yet in another instance
USD$304 million. This lack of consistency is legendary. It speaks to a lack of standard
on which the work was measured and conduct reviewed. The inconsistency is also a
sign of delinquency and incompetence on the part of the auditors.

The auditors also fail to recognise, accept and or acknowledge the fact that the USDS16
million disbursed by NSSA to HCZ was 3 times secured by a USD$16 million Zimnat
Insurance Guarantee and a USD$32 million land bond. The omission to deal with that
issue is deliberate and speaks to a malicious design.

A malicious agenda

[ have already related to the malice that permeates and pervades the whole report. |
submit that the malice discredits the report to the extent of rendering it reviewable. I
however, deal with other instances in which this vice rears its head.

[ turn to the issue of offtake agreements. | attach hereto and mark as the “L series” the
documentation on these issues. { observe as follows:

Offtake was conceived, designed and implemented by management. The issue was then
discussed with ministry representatives who were in favour of the suggested course, the
thinking being that this investment opportunity, was of national interest and import, and
would also serve to assist the country in developmental terms.

On its part, NSSA had employed Mr Charles Nyika, a senior executive specialising in
State Procurement Board procurement whose sole duty was to ensure compliance with
procurement regulations and requirements. He attended all the meetings, raised no red
flag and never noted any disaffection.

The minutes attached hereto and marked as “M series” show that the board took the
position that offtake agreements did not require the State Procurement Board .

With this context in place, it cannot be contended, let alone suggested that 1 pushed for
these projects without tender approval. It is malicious in the extreme for the auditors to
make that allegation. It is, I suggest, ever so beneath them.

In this regard 1 also deal with the authority given to MetBank to utilise USD$37.75
million of NSSA Treasury Bills they held in their custody. The authority was granted
in the name of the then General Manager, Ms Liz Chitiga, and unbeknown to her signed
for by her Executive Assistant, Mr James Chiuta (Chiuta). Chiuta had no approval from
the General Manager to sign off any document in her name and no board approval.
Infact, Ms Chitiga, was available on the day in question to sign the said authority in
person if warranted. Even after the fact, its existence, was never relayed to Ms Chitiga
and/ or myself. For reasons that will never be stated, the auditors blame me for that
issue. They blame me for an issue which by definition had nothing to do with me. They
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did not even attempt to get corrobation from Ms Chitiga but instead make the bland
statement based on, a naturally concerned Mr Chiuta, that he was instructed to
fraudulently sign off a letter in the name of Ms Chitiga by me. The auditors don’t
enquire as to if [ really wanted a letter signed, why [ would not instruct Ms Chitiga, my
subordinate, myself to do so or indeed as her superior, maybe sign the letter myself.

The same Chiuta, attempted on 22 February 2019 to have me sign a resolution dated 24
July 2017 that I had no recollection of. | politely declined to do so. [ attach the email
from his personal email address as Annexure “L” hereto.

Nothing, I dare suggest, nothing outside malice can account for this strange attitude.

At any rate, NSSA had the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe clearance on good standing of
MetBank when all these transactions were concluded. Is it suggested that such good
standing was improperly granted or that it should have been questioned?

I attach hereto and mark as “N” the RBZ letter on the basis upon which NSSA carried
out transactions with Metbank. What the auditors is now saying is that we should have
ignored a valid and public position taken by the RBZ and instead taken the view of
junior employees with the NSSA structure.

Nothing, I dare suggest, nothing outside malice can account for this strange attitude.
For all these reasons, the report cannot stand and must be set aside.

Issues that have nothing to do with me

[ was appointed to head the NSSA board on the 12™ of July 2015. The report covers the
period 1 January 2015. The auditors in typical fashion however, assume that [ was in
office since the 1% of January 2015. For that reason, they irregularly assign to me
transactions that happened before my time.

In that regard, 1 draw attention to the following;

The report concludes that NSSA lost some USD$4 million in a corrupt debt swap deal
involving Metbank’s property. | was not yet on the scene when that happened or is
alleged to have happened.

It is also concluded that Metbank sold some properties to NSSA at highly inflated prices
prejudicing the authority of some USDS$2 million. | had not been appointed as at the
time of those allegations.

For reasons that are not clear, the auditors have decided to turn back the hands of time.
This is irregular, this is malicious, this is unlawful. Indeed, this is reviewable.

Conflict between Auditor General and the Accountants

I have already made the point that second respondent carried out this audit as a delegate
of the Auditor General. The Auditor General has however, and without raising
questions, accepted findings that she clearly does not agree with and which are in
conflict with her earlier work,



8.6 I relate in this regard to the calculated HCZ USD$104 million potential liability, This
is quite material and I contend that given its materiality, if this loss were even remotely
real, the Auditor General would have flagged it in the 31 December 2018 results as a
contingent liability and published it in her annual report as a matter of emphasis.

8.7 I submit that the reason this was not done is that second respondents’ calculated loss is
arbitrary, fictitious and is designed to cause alarm and despondency. This is a further
taint that may not be got over.

(ix)  Other issues that do not relate to me

8.8 I submit that there are many other shortcomings in the report which however, do not
relate to me. Those shortcomings show the poor manner in which this task was handled
and the mandate executed. I would for instance raise the Capital Bank issue and the
flawed and amateurish modus followed by the auditors in that regard.

8.9 I point out however, that given that | cannot bear the torch on behalf of the multitudes,
the attack that I launch to this report relates only to those areas that affect me and in
which I am mentioned one way or the other. This will accordingly inform the relief that
[ seek.

(x)  Relief

9.1 [ therefore pray that the court may review this report and set it aside in those respects
that pertain to me.

9.2 The report ought to be reviewed on the grounds that [ have raised above.

9.3 The costs of this application ought to be borne by the second respondent. Those costs
ought to be borne on the higher scale in view of the basic irregularities identified above,
the malice that pervades the report and the complete and fundamental abdication of
duty that has been showcased.

(xiy Conclusion

94 In the premises, [ pray for an order in terms of the draft attached hereto.

THUS DONE AND SWORN TO AT JOHANNESBURG THIS g DAY OF AUGUST 2019

SIGNED

ROBIN VELA

BEFORE ME bl —

N%BLIC

ftis hereby cemiiea that g = & - 1+ mnstoratiue
copy thereof and that there is ho noigat.: v &~y allerations
nmade thereto by an unauthorised person

oS |og] Zetq <

ﬁfﬁshlon Jane Pollard

ISSIONER OF OATHS

{Practicing Atiorney)

Kira House

390 Kent Avenue

Ferndale, Randburg
(011) 885-300




IN THE HIGH COURT OF ZIMBABWE CASE NO HC /19

HELD AT HARARE

In the matter between:

ROBIN VELA APPLICANT

And

THE AUDITOR GENERAL OF ZIMBABWE N.O 15T RESPONDENT
And

BDO ZIMBABWE CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 2™ RESPONDENT

(a firm of Accountants whose partners are Ngoni Kudenga, Gladman Sabarauta,
Martin Makaya, Gilbert Gwatiringa, and Jonas Jonga)

draft order
Harare, the of 2019

Before the Honourable Mr(s) Justice

Advocate T. Mpofu with A. Rubaya for the Applicant

for the Respondent

WHEREUPON after reading documents filed of record and hearing Counsel
IT IS ORDERED THAT:

1 The Forensic Audit of the National Social Security Authority for the period 1 January
2015 to 28 February 2018 produced on behalf of the Auditor General of Zimbabwe by
BDO Chartered Accountants be reviewed and set aside in all those instances that pertain
whether directly and or indirectly to the applicant.

2 Costs of suit shall be borne by the second respondent on the higher scale of legal
practitioner and own client.

BY THE JUDGE



IN THE HIGH COURT OF ZIMBABWE CASE NO HC /19
HELD AT HARARE

In the matter between:

ROBIN VELA APPLICANT

And

THE AUDITOR GENERAL OF ZIMBABWE N.O 15T RESPONDENT
And

BDO ZIMBABWE CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 2ND RESPONDENT

(a firm of Accountants whose partners are Ngoni Kudenga, Gladman Sabarauta,
Martin Makaya, Gilbert Gwatiringa, and Jonas Jonga)

court application for review

TAKE NOTICE that Applicant intends to apply to the High Court sitting at Harare for an
order in terms of the draft annexed to this notice on the grounds set out in the founding affidavit
and supporting documents. The grounds upon which this application is made are the following;

1 Acting as a delegate of the first respondent, second respondent conducted a Forensic
Investigation of the affairs of the National Social Security Authority.

2 In conducting that investigation, second respondent committed many reviewable
irregularities which have now been fully set out in the founding affidavit.

3 Applicant seeks the review of second respondent’s processes and conclusions in view
of those irregularities.

If you intend to oppose the relief sought you should file and serve on the applicants a Notice
of Opposition together with one or more affidavits within ten days of service upon you of this
application. If you de not oppose the application, the matter will be dealt with as an unopposed
application to your possible detriment.

DATED AT HARARE THIS___ DAY OF AUGUST 2019

RUBAYA & CHATAMBUDZA
Applicant’s Legal Practitioners
57 Churchill Avenue, Alexandra Park
HARARE (Mr Rubaya)
TO THE REGISTRAR
High Court of Zimbabwe
HARARE
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Tol/Fax: +163 242703876/7/8 Kudenga House

Cell: +263 772,573 266471879 3 Baines Avenue
bdo@bdo.co.zw RO, Box 334
wiww, bdo.Co.Iw . Harare

: Zimbabwe

04 March 2019

Attention: M. Chir

The Auditor General

5% Fioor, Burrows House :
Carner Fourth Street/ George Silundika
HARARE

Dear Madam,

RE: FINAL REPORT ON THE FORENSIC INVESTIGATION INTO THE AFFAIRS OF NATIONAL SOCIAL
SECURITY AUTHORITY {NS5A} :

At your request and as documented in our engagement tetter dated 28 February 2018, we carried
out a forensic investigation into the affairs of N3SA and now have pleasure in attaching our final
report far your attention. :

This final repart contains our findings and observations together with our comments, where
appropriate. The report is based on documentation, information and explanations supplied to us
by NSSA staff, management and relevant third parties.

The report has been compiled; solely to provide you with our findings in respect of the forensic'
investigation which we performed on your behalf, in terms of our mandate. Annexures and Exhibits
have been attached to the report and should be read together with the report.

The final report is given in confidence and may only be used by the Auditor Generat and your
appainted legal representative and may not be gquoted, referred ta, used, made avaitable or
distributed to any other person ar for any other purpose without our prior written consent. We
reserve the right to supplement or amend this report upon the receipt of additional information.

Sho_uld you have any gueries or require clarification an any part of this final report please do nat
hesitate to contact Gilbert Gwatiringa at BDO Zimbabwe Chartered Accountants ¢ 0242 703 877.

Yours faithfully,

10
BDO Zimbabwe
Chartered Accountants

£00 Limbabwe, & Zimbabwean partnership, &5 a member of 600 fonal Limited LGN, i
f: B 8 Interzational Limited, & UK comszay B g i TS [ i
e : i b H 180, Linsny lirnitad hy uaraniey and forms alﬂ of their lE‘ﬂauu“&‘ v}

A tist ol partner marnes is avaitably tor Inspection 3t wur tegistored oitice, o, ) Baines avenue, Harare.
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Abbreviations/Acronyms

wae following abbreviations/Acronyms will be used throughout this report and their
rmeanings are as explained below!

AG ==

Authority” -~0 . % National Secial Security Authority

BIPC .- .- .~  Board Investment and Procurement Committee

BPS .. . Benefits Processing System

Board, - --. ..:. Main Board for NSSA
CCEG .. .t © 1 Chief Executive Officer for NSSA

‘¢SD.c ... Tt - Central Security Depository

CEIAR. ... 0+, - . Environmental Impact Assessment Report

EMA -0 - .- Environmental Management Agency

SGM. Tt General Manager for NSSA

JHAG .. ST Housing Africa Corporation
TOMGZ- - o Housing Corporation Zimbabwe

LT -+ 7. 77 Informaticn Communication Technology

(PEC 77w Insurance and Pensions Commission
SCMIC .. - .. Management lnvestment Committee
“UMPSLSW.T I T Mindstry of Public Service, Labour and Social Welfare

f.N_EiW-' s 7 - Natianal Merchant Bank of Zimbabwe
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. agreement.
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. agreement.
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Exhibi 25 ' .. File copy of the letter dated 30 June 2017 from Metbank to NSSA for the request for
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Exhibit 27 Response tetter from mr Hungwe to Mr Kundishera notifying him of the information
XAIbl o requested for him to make a racommendation to the Board.
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Letter from NSSA signed by Mr Chiuta to Metbank giving them autharity to use TBs worth
$37,350,000. .

. Letter dated 30 October 2017 from Mr Ndebele to Mr Mungwariri in response to the letter
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1

BACKGROUND

Based on our meating held with the NSSA Acting Generat Manager, we understood
the following:

-

National Social Secusity Authority (NSSA)}is a statutory corporate body
established in terms of the NSSA Act of 1989 (Chapter 17: 04), tasked by the
Government to provide social security. This is done by instituting public
policy measures intended to protect an individual in life situations
or canditions in which his/her livelihood and well-being may be threatened, such
as those affected by sickness, workplace injuries, unemployment, invalidity, otd
age, retirement and death, ‘

NSSA is administering two schemes: Pension and Other Benefits

Scheme and Accident Prevention and Workers' Compensation Scherme.

The NSSA board of directors is constituted by a tripartite
equal representation from Government, employer representatives (EM COZ)
and employees’ representatives (ZCTU and ZFTU).

jnvestments by NSSA cover real estate, equities, fixed income and
housing developments.

NSS4 is a long-term investor and so the investment strategy is designed o take
into consideration a long-term view of the macro environment. Through the
investments, it strives to achieve strong tong-term capital returns above market
benchmarks.

NSSA is driven by a liability-based investment Managemant approach wherein
investment strategies are informed by benefit levels and contribution rates of
the schemes that it manages.

NSSA also invests in projects that support the national development agenda while
offering an acceptable return to the Authority,
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2.1  Mandate

The Auditor General engaged BDO Zimbabwe Chartered Accountants to perform a
farensic investigation covering the period 01 January 2015 to 28 February 2018 and any
other specific transactions prior to this period. The forensic investigation covered the
following areas':

Ar Investments

a)

B)

c)

d)

e}

Establish if related party transactions, if any, were above board and identify
and quantify any out of the.ordinary transactions with related parties.
Establish if investments done with Metbank were in line with NSSA
investments poticies, NSSA Act and Public Finance Management Act.

Advise on way forward régarding Capital Bank outstanding issues and
recommend bast way to resolve disagreements,

Establish if all properties acquired by NSSA are legally owned by NSSA.

Securitization of NSSA funds of off-take housing agreements,

B: Human resources

a)

b)

c)

d}

e

Establish whether executive management recruited from 2015-2017 had been
recruited in terms of NSSA policy and tabour laws.

Establish if current remuneration framework had been approved by the Board
and parent Minfstry.

Establish whether the existing organizational structure and job grading had
been approved by the Board and the parent ministry.

Establish if Board and committee meetings are in line with the best practice
of good corparate governance, Government directives and NSSA Act.

Assess reasonableness of board expenses incurred and quantifying the same.

C:! Pensioner database

Establish the accuracy of pensioner's database in terms of:

a} Integrity of database;

b} 23% Century system appropriateness;

<) Verifying existence of ghost pensianers;

d} Weaknesses in database;

e} Contributions against benefits;

? Annexure 1 - BD0 Engagement Letter for the forensic investigation
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Investigate and report on any ather issues that may arise.

2.2 Procedures Performed

We performed the fotlowing procer'..{_ures:

Al Investments;

2.2.1 Establish if related party transactions, if any, were above board and
identify and quantify any out of the ordinary transactions with related

parties,

We reviewed emplovee personal files to identify links to supplier
companies involved in NSSA investment projects.

We conducted company searches for suppliers involved in NSSA projects
to confirm that the company shareholdings do not constitute a related
party relationship,

We requested and inspected company profiles for the companies involved
in NSSA projects to establish related party relationships.

Where related party relationship was established, we reviewed the board
minutes and the declaration of interest registers to confirm proper
approval and declaration.

We obtained detailed ledgers of all known related parties and verified the
transactions undertaken with the view of establishing that the
transactions were above board and appropriately authorized by inspecting
the underlying documentation. .

We evaluated and verified if the investrments were in the best interest of
NSSA and done at an arm'’s length value.

We enquired with management and the head of internal Audit for more
details on grey areas relating to related party transactions.

2,2.2  Establish if investments done with Metbank were in line with NSSA

investments policies, NSSA Act and Public Finance Management Act,

We obtained a thorough understanding of the NSSA investment policy,
NSSA Act and the Public Finance Management Act.

We requested for the investment movement schedules for all transactions

entered with Metbank to establish the complete position.
We reviewed all the investments done with Metbank and verified whether
they were in campliance with the above statutes,
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2.2.3

2.2.4

- We requested, Inspected and reviewed Board rminutes, contracts and
other correspondences to verify whether all transactions entered with the
bank were approved and bona fide.

- We requested and inspected internal audit reports to establish whether
there were issues relating to Metbank which were raised befare,

- We sought third party confirmations from Metbank and other related
parties.

We enquired of management, internal audit and NSSA [egal officer of any
irregularities noted.

- We performed company searches to establish the owners and
relationships of companies assaciated with Metbank investrments.
Requested responses from responsible management officials through

questionnaires,

Advise on way forward regarding Capital Bank ocutstanding issues and
recommend best way to resclve disagreements,
we enquired from management and reviewed the decumentation in place
to understand the background of the dispute.
We documented the sequence of events from the start to current and
detail alt the outstanding issues
- We made recommendations on the way ferward,

Estabh‘sh if ail properties acquired by NSSA are legaily owned by NSSA.
We Cbtained a listing of alt NSSA properties from Finance, Properttes and
Investments departments.

- We compared che two lists to identify differences to ensure completeness
of the properties.

- We inspected copies of all title deeds from NSS4,

- We reconcited the title deeds with the {ist to identify any properties that
do nat have title deeds.

- We inspected the title deeds records at the Deeds and Intellectual
Properties Office to 1denufy 8y caveals, endorsements and deducnons
on the Title deeds,

We agreed information from NSSA Deeds 10 Deeds Office information to
identify mismatches,

We investigated the reasons why some properties did not have titie deeds,
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We verified ownership for properties without title by reviewing records
at the Deeds office to identify the owner, reviewing agreements of sale

if any,

2.2.5 Securitization of NSSA funds for off-tzke housing agreements.

T -

We obtained and reviewed Off-take housing agreements which NSSA
entered with third parties.

We obtained Board minutes and other correspandences to ensure that the
Off-take housing agreements were properly approved.

We requested for and inspected the security ceded to NSSA from the
contractors for adequacy against the funds advanced.

We sent confirmations to security providers to confirm the authenticity
of the security cover. '

We sent confirmations to contractors under Off-take housing agreements
to confirm receipts from NSSA.

We reviewed and evaluated agreement documents to assess whether
adequate investment appraisals were carried out.

We conducted compary searches for contractor campanies to establish if
these companies are not owned by NSSA officiats,

: Human resources;

2.2.6 Establish whether executive management recruited from 2015-2017 had

: been recruited in terms of NSSA policy and labour laws.

'

We sought an understanding of the provisions of the NSSA Muman
Resources Policy and labour laws.

We identified additions to executives through the analysis of changes to
the payroll.

We investigated the reasons resulting in the post being vacant or open.
We verified if the post was approved at the appropriate lavel.

We_reviewed records to identify if the post was advertised-as—per-N5SSA
policy,

We obtained the list of shortlisted candidates and reconcited it to these
interviewed to identify imposed candidates.

We verified interview documents to identify any imposition of appointees
by reviewing the list of shortlisted candidates,
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2.2.7

2.2.8

We [nspected the appeintees' personal files to;

o Identify if background checks were dene for all appointees.
o Obtain proof that the appointees applied for the jobs.

o Check if appointees were interviewed.

We reviewed personal files for all new appointments to verily if due
process was followed on their appointment

Establish if current remuneration framework had been approved by the
Board and parent Ministry,

We read the NSSA provisions of the remuneration policy to understand the
Authority's remuneration policy.

We inspected documents to verify if the remuneration levels were
approved by the board and the parent Ministry.

We checked for any salary increases or addition of benefits to confirm if
the increases/additions were duly approved.

We inspected documents to verify if all other employment benefits were
duly approved.

We requested for and inspected payroll records of atl executives to verify

whether they adhered to the approvaed remuneration framework.

Establish whether the existing organizational structure and job grading
had been approved by the Board and the parent Ministry,

We obtained the organogram before changes were made to get an
understanding of how it used tc be.

We requested and inspected the Board and Ministerial approval for the
old organogram.

For the revised organogram, we requested for and inspected Board
minutes and Ministerial approval in which the matter to change the
organisational structure and job grading was approved.

We recoaciled the current executives and their grades to the existing

approved grganogram.
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2.2.9 lIdentify and establish if Board and committee meetings are in line with
the best practice of good corporate governance, Government directives

and N3SA Act.

We obtained from the Company secretary Board attendance register for
z2ll meetings hetd during the period under review.

We inspected the board rates for approval by the Parent Ministry.

We reconciled the board fees ledger to the attendance register ta identify
undue payments.

We verified if board sessions were following the NSSA Act to identify
occurrence of more than unwarranted meetings.,

Reviewed the director’s duties and responsibilities according to the NSSA
Act.

We identified any breach of 2IMCODE pravisions by directors. o
We compared the committees of the NSSA Beoard against committees of
other parastatals to assess whether they were within best practice of good
corporate governance, Government directives and the NSSA Act.

We inspected the calendar of the Board and Committee meetings to verify
whether the fre'quency of the meetings was within the best practice,

2.2.10  Assess reasonability of board expenses incurred and quantifying the

same

- We extracted the board fees payments from the system.
We obtained and reviewed Board members engagement lettars to
verify their conditions of services and benefits thereof to establish if
there are other payments or benefits paid to' board members falling
cutside the approved benefits.

- We obtained & schedule of board fees approved by the Minister,
We agreed the board fees rates to the scﬁedule of board fees approved
by the Minister.

- We established possible Board fees threshold regarded to be
reasonable by comparing board fees paid to board members of other

companies and/or parastatals.
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C: Pensioner’s database;

2.2.11 Establish the accuracy of the pensioner’s database in terms of;

a}l Integrity of database

b)

c)

We obtained the datzbase used by NS$SA in-order to verify its integrity
through applying data analytic procedures.

We subjected the database to a sensitivity test for all numerical fields
within the database in-order to verify whether there were negative
numbers and nil values containad.

We used data analytical tools to identify dates and periods outside set
parameters.

We enquired from management on all issues identified above to in-order

for us to satisfy ourselves,

23rd Century system appropriateness

We obtained and reviewed board minutes in-order to understand the
deliberations and appeintment of 23™ Century System to undertake the
project, |

We reviewed reports done by NSSA appointed expert over the SAF system
'in-urdér to understand all issues araund the system.

We evaluated the infermation from the minutes and the report above and
camé up with our own assessment about SAP system appropriateneass.

Verifying existence of ghost pensioner

We obtained databases of the contributors, beneficiaries, employments
and payments which were extracted in our presence,

Using data analytics pracedures, we isolated alf payments made to
beneficiaries from the payment datz base in-order to separate payments
from secondary beneficiaries. ‘

We matched the payments made to principal beneficiaries to the
contributions database in-order to verify whether all beneficiaries had
made contributions in their life time. ) o

We also matched the payments made to principal beneficiaries to the
employment database in-order to verify whether all principal

beneficiaries were registered to any employer.
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For secondary beneficiaries, we matched all payments made to the
contributions  database in-order to link the beneficiaries to the
contributor.

We performed duplication tests of Social Se'curity Numbers to verify
whether they were cases of duplicated beneficiaries.

We physically verified the files of beneficiaries which were paid but did
not appear in the contributions database to determine whether they were

ghost pensiohers or not.

d} Weaknesses in database

We interrogated and checked the database tables to determine whether
it accepted and saved records with missing fields.
We reviewed the database for design flow to determing whether it was

working as intended.
We obtained and reviewed internal audit reports to identify reported

weaknesses and their continued implications on the database.

e) Contributions against benefits

We matched paid benefits with contributions to ensure that benefits
were paid to pensioners who had once contributed in the past.

We performed an analyéis of all contribution income and investment
income done to determine how the two sources of income were
contributing to the payment of benefits.

We reviewed the quality of NSSA investments to determine whether they
will generate adequate investment income to fund future NSSA pension

benefits.

PERIOD EXAMINED
Our forensic investigation cavered the period from 1 January 2015 to 28 February 2018

and any other specific transactions prior to this period.

LIMITATIONS AND SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
We have included all information that we came across which is relevant Lo the scope
of our woark., However, it is possible that documents and information exist which

were not made available to us or which we were upable to locate.
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+ Any document or information brought to our attention subsequent 1o the date of
this repart which would affect our findings will require our report to be adjusted
accordingly.

REGULATORY AND POLICY FRAMEWORK
NSSA operations are subject but not limited to the following regulatory and policy
framework:

» National Social Security Authority ACt of 1989 (Chapter17:04)
* Public Finance Management Act {Chapter 22:3 9)

» Companies Act [Chapter 24:03];

= Labour Act [Chapter 28:01];

* Income Tax Act [Chapter 23:06];

»  Criminal Law {Codification and Reform) Act [Chapter 9:23}.

> Natienal Code on Lorporate Governance Zimbabwe

*  Money Laundering and Proceeds of Crime Act No.4/2013

o Procurement Act & Procurement Regulations (Chapter 22:14)
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6.2 Financial prejudice from the issues investigated
We summarise below actual and potential financial prejudice suffered by NSSA
from the issues investigated;

Potential financial loss 167,713,756
) Treasury bills and loan exposures to Metbank 62,003,756
Off-take housing agreements - MCZ 104,000,000
- Metre Realty (Metbank guarantee) 1,710,000
Actual financial prejudice 7,536,375
Overpayment on Metbank debt swap 4,172,000
- Metbank properties baught at overstated prices 2,055,000
Unapproved costs - Executive Management . 306,195
- - Non-Executive Directors 86,322
Payment en Africom debt factoring 303,140
= Payment of unautharised contsact extension 15,000
Payments to unfairly dismissed employees 398,718
- 6.3 Investments with Metbank Limited
NSSA entered into a number of transactions with Metbank during the pericd under
investigation. Most of the transactions did not make economic sense from NSSA's
- . view point. This resuited in fuge exposures to NSSA which stood at Us$62,003,795
as at the date of this report. | is pertinent to note that NSSA management had
assessed Methank as a high-risk client which could not be granted new facilities.
- However, becauss of pressure from the then Minister of Public Service, Labour and

Sociat Welfare, Metbank ended Up getting facilities which were not merited. The
€xposure to NSSA s broken down as follows:-

- . T S

N Ele S S e

Treasury Bills -First Tranche 37,350,c00

- -Secand Tranche 20,000,000
Sub-Total | 57,350,000

— _ Loan facilizies 4,653,796
Skpdsure” - fo L e T R sziooa‘,za
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i} First tranche of treasury bitls
On the first tranche, NSSA gave Metbank treasury bills worth US$62,250,000 on a
custodial arrangement. Metbank proceeded to ptedge NSSA TBs with a face value
of US$37,350,000 without getting appropriate authority from NSSA. The letter
which authorised Metbank to use the TBs was written and signed by the Executive
Assistant to the General Manager, who had no authority te act in such a manner,

1) Second tranche of treasury bilis
N55A gave Metbank T8s with a face 'value of US520 million on a custodial
arrangement. Metbank sought and was granted authori ty by NSSA, at the right
tevel, to use the TRs.

iii) Legal dispute
When NSSA discovered that its TBs worth US$37,350,000 had been used by Metbank
without getting appropriate authority, they tock the matter to court. The gther
TBs with a face value of US524,9 million which had not been used by Metbank, were
returned into NSSA's custedy,

Metbank then advised NSSA that henceforth it was freezing zll transactions with
NS5A until the issue of US$37,350,000 TBs has been settled by the court. The
position taken by Matbank resulted in the following; -

 Inability by NSSA ta recover its TBs with a face value of US5$37,350,000 [First
tranche] and US$20 million [Second tranche]. )

= [nabitity by NSSA to recover loan advances of 1J554,653,796.

= Suspension of the two off-take housing projects which were being done by Metro
Realty. '

On off-take housing proiects, this was despite the fact that the contracts were
awarded to Metro Realty and not Metbank,

The Authority should put measures in place to ensure recovery of the
outstanding treasury bills and loan advances amounting to UJS562,003,796. In
future NSSA should strictly adhere to its investment policy in line with the NSSA
Act. Lending to financial institutions should be guided by the NSSA Risk
department approved counter party trading limits.

6.4 Dff-take housing agreements

During the period under investigation, NSSA awarded four off-take housing

. projects. According to the then Board Chairperson, off-take projects were an effort
to meet the housing targets set by the Government by delivering low cost hauses,
We however noted that a number of key processes were not done before awarding
the contracts. These included not going to tender, non-performance of due
ditigence on prospective contractors, non-evaluation of investment proposals. The
responsible officials indicated that this was due to pressure to award the contracts
within a short time frame.

However, none of the projects have progressed at per the set time frames, The
status of the projects is as follows:-
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" : Caledonia Housing 14 July 2017 18,600 Nil Us5térn On suspension
Corporation
Zimbabwe
Stateland Metro Realty | august 2017 695 Nit USS1,71m Nat yet
-_ commenced
St-lves Metro Realty 1 24 July 2017 1 869 Nil USSh, 145m On suspension_
Gwary Drawcard 3 August 2017 | 1,000 Nit Ussy,5m Not yet
Housing commenged
- Project

NS5A management was pressured into awarding the two cantracts to Metro Realty
without following due process, The contractor is related to Metbank which was
also getting favours from NSSA as a result of the then parent Minister.

Drawcard is also related to Metbank and it was awarded the contract without going
to tender,

HCZ/HAC was introduced to NSSA officials by the then Board Chairperson. The
Chairman put pressure for the cantract to be awarded within a shert peried of time,
- ' The contract which was awarded to HCZ had 4 roomed houses with a unit cost to
- . NSSA of $38,000. NBS had delivered 4 roomed houses at a unit cost of 525,000 an
: the Dzivarasekwa project. The design and building materials used/being used on
- the 2 projects are different. However, considering that the thrust of NSSA was to
— . deliver low cost houses, there was no Justification for engaeing a contractor whose
houses were $13,000/unit mare expensive than the NBS price. This exposes NSSA
to a total financial prejudice of $104 million on the HCZ/HAC contract by choosing

- . a more expensive contractor.

We recommend that NSSA should engage a quantity surveyor to carry out a cost
appraisal on the Caledonia off-take housing project. This will confirm the exact
extent to which NSSA was financially prejudiced. In addition, the Surveyor’s
report can be used in court in the event of fitigation. The exercise should also
cover the other off-take housing projects awarded to Metro Realty and
Drawcard.

- ) The off-take housing projects have not been a success. This can be attributed to

NSSA not faltowing due Brocess during the awarding of the contracts. This was

) mainly as a result of interference by the then parent Minister and the non-executive
—_ Board Chairpersen Mr Robin Vela,

6.5 Ownership of properties by NSSA
There are a number of properties which were bought by NSSA for which titie has
— ] not yet passed.

Conditions of sale not vet fulfilled
) Title deeds ior praperties with a2 market value of U5515,908,000 have not been
— issued to NSSA because the conditions of sale have not been fulfilled, The
conditions include construction of certain structures and payment of cutstanding
amounts. NSSA wiil get title once it fulfils the outstanding conditions,

— . Properties owned by parent Ministry or Worker’s Compensation Fund
There are 28 properties which are in the financial statements of NSSA, but the title
deeds are either in the name of the parent Ministry or the Worker's Compensation
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Fund. The parent Ministry is in the process of transferring the assets to the
Authority,

fuifitled. The Authority should also speed up the process of transferring title
from the parent Ministry or Worker's Compensation into its name.

6.6 Capital Bank issue
There is a dispute between NSSA and RFHL emanating from the waiver settiement
agreement. As 3 result of the agreement NSSA became the majority shareholder
in RMB and FML. RFHL shareholders are challenging the legality of the waiver
agreement which gave NSSA control. RFHL is claiming US5526 miltion in damages.

NSSA should seek tegal advice on how to proceed so that the issue can be
finalised.

6.7 Recruitment of executives
The Authority recrujted several executives including the General Manager during
the period under investigation. NSSA Muman Resaurces Management Guidelines

Human Resources Committee Chairperson told us that their mandate was to
conduct the interviews and rank the candidates according to the interview results

Mr Vela while the resyits for other executives were given to the General Manager,
There is o evidence on how the finat selection was arrived at.,

The current executives should be appraised to establish if they are performing
at the expected leve!,

6.8 Remuneration framework

6.9 Management structire framework
The management structures for the pericd 2015 to 2016 were authorised by both the
Board and the Minister. Hawever, the structure was changed in 2017 without the
Minister's approval. The 2017 change in structure was approved by the Permanent
Secretary following a request which was made by the NSSA Board.
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6.10 Promotion 10 executive level )
Slx managers were promoted to executive positions in Becember 2617, Five of those

promoted had spent fsss than a year in their.previous roles and one was still on
probation. Most of them moved more than pne grade with one moving five grades.
Mo performance appraisal was done before the promaotions.

We recommend that performance appraisats should be conducted for all the six
managers who'were promoted without following due processes to determine the
suitability of such candidates at the executive level.

8.11 Corporate governance issues

We identified that in a number of instances, the former Board Chairman was
interfering with executive Management issues that led to decisions which were not
in the best interest of NSSA. He was involved in awarding an off-take housing contract
worth US$304 million to HCZ without going to tender. In addition, he was also
involved in the creation of a treasury bills custodial arrangement with Metbank
where NSS4 is now being exposed to potentiat financial prejudice to the tune of
US557,350,000.

N55A should seek legal counsel on how to deal with the involvement of the former
Board Chairman in exposing the Authority to patential financial prejudice,

6.12 Board expenses

From January 2015 until November 2017, all amounts paid to the board members
were properly approved by the parent Minister as required by the NSSA Act.
Hawever, in November 201 7, the Board Chairperson sought an increase of board fees
from the Permanent Secretary and was granted. The approval by the Permanent”
Secretary was irregular as the NSSA Act requires all board fees and expenses to be
approved by the Minister. On implementing the irregular approval by the Permanent
Secretary, the Board Chairperson gave executive management figures which were
higher than those approved by the Permanent Secretary. Mr Vela's rates are the
ones which were used to pay board fees from November 2017 until the board was
dissolved in October 2018, The overpayment as a result of the irregular increase by
the Permanent Secretary and the unauthorised additional increase by Mr Vela
amounts te U5586,322.

NSS4 should seek legal counsel on how to deal with the involvement of the farmer
Board Chairman in overpayment of board fees. Board fees should be approved by
the parent Minister in accordance with the requirements of the NSSA Act,

6.13 Integrity of database

There were several changes to the pensioner database that took place during the
period. NSSA abandoned the SAP system and introduced an in-house database known
as Benefits Processing System (BPS). From our review we noted that the first
database which was implemented at NSSA had several irregularities. These range
from fields with missing information such as contact details, social security numbers
and national identification fumbers. As a result, the integrity of the database was
highly compromised,

The new database, Benefirs Processing System {"BPS"} is operating wel, however,
there are still some challenges relating to migration of some of the data from the
old system.
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DETAILED FINDINGS
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- 7  INVESTMENTS
7.1 Related party transactions

_ Definition of related party transactions
[AS 24 () - Related Parry Disclosures defines a related party transaction as follows:

"4 transfer of resources, services, or obligations between related parties, regardless
of whether a price is charged”

(a) A person or a close member of that person's family is related to a reporting entity
if that person:

&) Has control or joint control over the reporting entity;

b) Has significant infiuence gver the reporting entity; or

¢]Is a member of the key management personnel of the reperting entity or of a
parent of the reporting entity. .

) {b) An entity is retated to a reporting entity if any of the following
— conditions applies:

+ The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group {which
. means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
- others},
’ + One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate
or joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).
- + Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
- » One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an
: asscciate of the third entity,
= The entity is controlied or jointly controlied by a person identified in (a).
= A person identified in {a) has significant influence over the entity or is a
member of the ey management personnel of the entity {or of a parent of the

entity],
- Based on the above definition, the following related parties to NSSA were
identified; '
Africom Contineatal (Private) Limited 47.7%
.o . CBZ Holdings Limited 11.2%
- Dubury lnvestments 36.2%
FBC Holdings Limited 35%
Fidelity Life Assurance Limited 35%
' First Mutual Holdinas Limited . 68. 8% ——1—
‘ Natignal Building Society 100%
OK Zimbabwe Limited 20.8%
i : Rainbow Tourism Group 67.3%
—_ Star Africa Corporzation 31.5%
Turnatl Holdings Limitad 32.6%
2B Financial Holdings Limited 33%
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7.1.1

Key Management Personnel

e Board members
= Executive Directors/Managers

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibitity
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Authority directly or
indirectly. '

We identified and examined all the transactions entered into between NSSA and
the related parties. We detail below transactions with related parties where we
naoted exceptions;

Transactions with NBS

a) USS$78,827,500 ioan facility to NBS for various off take housing
projects

Background
On 4 October 2017, NSSA entered into a drawdown {oan facility with N85S to the tune
0f US578,827,500. The facility was for undertaking various off-take housing projects.

Requirement
= According to Section 8, Subsection 8.1.7 of the NSSA Investment Policy, all
investments in housing must be approved by the Board.

Findings
+ We established that the off-take housing projects earmarked for the facility are
as detailed in the tabie below;

Dzivarasekwa. Harare 600 11,100,000 | N-Frasys

Chikanga Extension Mutare 1,000 18,500,000 | Globeny Construction
Shropshire Cweru 1,000 18,500,000 | Globeay Construction
Lot 834 & 835 Zvishavane 715 13,227,500 | N-Frasys

Elmswood Marondera 1,000 17,500,000 | Tarcon

Total 4,315 78,827,500

« Todate, US528,6 million of the facility has been utilised. We have only examinad
transactions between NSSA and NBS. We have not examined the detailed -
transactions between the developer companies and NBS since this is nat within
our mandate per the terms of reference.
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» 0On 14 September 2617, the BIPC appraved the loan facility?, However, there is
ne evidence that the main Board approved the project as required,

* The loan facility agreement was signed on 4 October 20177, The signatory for
NSSA was Mr Mungwariri and witnessed by Ms Mugwira and Mr Chihota white mr
Lameck Danga represented NBs.

¢ We enquired from Mr tungwariri about this issue who told us that in 2012, the
Board authorised or delegated the BIPC to approve investments on its behalf.

= We inspected the said minutes and established that the Board still required to

ratify the BIFC decisionst Accordingly, the NBS facility was not properly
autherised,

b) Development of NSSA [and in Chinhoyi by NBS

Background
T e On12 May 2017, an agreement was entered inte between NSSA and N8S where
NBS was to develap the NSSA land bank in Chinhoyi into residential houses,

s N35A agreed to fund the praject through a loan facility to N8S.

Findings

Increase in project costs withaut justification.

= On .10 _August. 2016—NBS-management came up with a proposal o
construct 500 units at a cost of 57,552, 4105 which transtates €o a full cost
per unit of 515,105, The proposal was approved by NBS Board.

= On 17 October 2016, NBS Managing Director, Mr Chitando made a
presentation at the NBS Boargd Housing and Projects Committee. He
advised the meeting that the project was now for 723 housing units at a
cost of §15,523,000¢, The unit cost had increased by 42% to 521,470 1n a
space of three months,

= Total additional cost fgr the project was quantified and amounted to
54,601,895 (723 housing units x (521,470 - $15,105))

* On 23 Novermber 2074, the NSSA Board Investment and Procurement
Committee approved the project based aon the revised figures’. On
enquiry, Mr Nziradzemhuka, gave us a Copy of a feasibility study done by
an cutsourced company showing that cerrain important cost etements
were omitted from the initial proposal,

? Exhibit 2:N55a NBS USS78 million loan facility for off take hausing project.

“ Exhibit 3- Minutes of NSSA Soard dated 27 Sepiember 2012 (Paragraph 13.23).

5 Exhibit 4- NBS Resolution dated 18 August 2076 passed by Round Rebin Resolution.
6 Exhibit S-Minites of the NBS Housing Projects Committee meeting held on 17 October 2016,
? Exhibit &- NS5A BIPC Buard minutes dated 23 November 2015 (Paragraph 3}.
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* The abave is evidence that the project appraisal had not been properly
, done.

Payment made before formal approval of the project

o The Autherity made a payment of $1,413,767.47 on 31 March 2017 to NBS

) before a formal agreement had been signed with NBSY, The payment was

_ recommended by Mr Fusire and approved by Mr Hungwe on 30 March
- 2017°,

. * The payment was made pased on a Funding Term Sheet signed on 8
- : February 2017, .

* The loan agreement was signed on 12 May 2017 where NSSA was
fepresented by Ms Chitiga and NBS was represented by Mr Lameck
- Danga'®,

* Mr tungwariri confirmed that the payment was based on the Funding
Term Sheet before formal approval of the project!,

. . 8 Exhibit 7- NBS drawdown and proof of transfer for U591,413,767.47 made on 31 march 2017,
: - ¥ Exhibit 8- Capy of Chinhoyi Project toan deat neta,
1% Exhibit 9- Chinhoyi tand lgan agreement for USS15,523 million.
" Exhibit @3 - Questionnaire far At Mungwariri page 3
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7.1.2 Transactions with Africam

Background

Africom (Private) Limited had a loan with Afreximbank, where it was failine to
meat its repayment oblizations.

The capital amount outstanding was USS15.8 mitlion, with interest aceruing at
6.5% per annum. The lender then demanded that shareholders should give
guarantees on the outstanding balance.

Requirement

A Board resolutipn passed 14 October 2013 authorised management to issue a3
guarantee to the extent of jts 4.5% shareholding in Africom'?,

Findings

We noted that on 12 December 2013, NSSA, having a shareholding of 4,5% in

. Africom, became the sale guarantor to the loan. This action was contrary to

the Board resolution,

We also noted that Fernhaven Investments which had 51% shareholding in Africom
indemnified NSSA and provided its property, Longcheng Shopping Mall as

securigy™,

The approval for NS5A te become a guarantor was signed by the former Public
Service, Labour and Social Welfare, Minister {Nicholas Goche) on 4 Decernber
201315,

“The Authority failed to comply with t?;ekavéér& approval, as it became the sole
guarantor of the full debt of US$15,8 million when it onty had a shareholding of

4,5%.

Financial prejudice resulting from the guarantee

in September 2015 after Africom had persistently defaulted gn servicing the
debt, payment was demanded from the Quarantor {NSSA).

As per the indemni ty agreement, NSSA should have foreclosed on the Fernhaven
pledged Longchen praperty in order to raise the money (o settle the debt,

e were not availed with evidence of the Authority making efforts to forecigse
on the pledged property. lInstead, N5Sa approached Zimbabwe Asset
Management Company {ZAMCO} to take over the debt.

A Beard reso{ution dated 26 September 2017 gave instruction to pay ZAMCO z
transaction cost of 5600,000 provided that managemeant engaged the Ministry
of Defence with the hope of gétting them tg pay part'of the amounts, Ministry
of Defence is the parent company far Fernhaven,

I3

'* Exhibit 10- B

oard resolution for NSSA to become guaranter on Africom loan

D Exhibit 11. Indemnity agreement with Fernhaven
¥ Exhibit 11- tndemnity agreement with Farnhaven {Paragraph 2,3}

. ' Appraval for N$5A to be Buaranter could not be produced.

'* £xhihit 12- Board resolution to pay ZAMCO
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*  ZAMCO subsequently taok over th
@ transaction cost of 5606,2797.

e debt on 16 January 2018 after NS3A had pald

* The Ministry of Defence is repaying 50% of the transaction cost (5303,140) over
an agreed period. This means the financial loss to NSSA on the transaction has

been reduced ta §303,140.

" Exhibit 13- Bank transter to ZAMCO of USS606,278. 85
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7.1.3 Organisations which got favourabte treatment

Background

We have also identified other entities which do not meet the requirement of 1AS 24
{Retated party disclosures) but received favourable treatment during the period
under investigation. These have baen identified as follows;

Entity/person Nature of transactions

Metbank Treasury bills, investment properties and loan |
facilities

Metro  Reality {Private} | Off-take housing projects

Limited :

HCZ Off-take housing project ]

Drawcard Off-take housing project ]

Stanton Chase Human resources consultants and recruitment |

a) Transactions with Metbank

Favaurable treatment given to Metbank is evidenced by the following;

o Minister of Public Service, Labour and Social Welfare, Honourable P,
Mupfumira, instructed NSSA to help Metbank with funding so that it could get
out of its liquidity crists.

« NSSA continued granting toans to Metbank whilst the bank had been ranked in
the high-risk category and had a 2ero-counterparty trading limit,

= HMetbank executives would Put undue pressure on NSSA officials to get their
transactions approved.

e We summarise in the table below transactions between NSSA and Metbank
relating to T8s and other loan facitities;

2970672016 Lean facility 6,000,000 4,440,500 1,559,500

7/11/2016  Use of NSSA TBs by the bank | 20,000,000 - | 20,600,000
{0 secure {oans

871172016 Fertilizer Loan faciliy - 20,000,000 { * 16,905,704 3,094,296

4/09/2017 Treasury bills released for 62,250,000 | 24,900,000 37,350,000
safe custody ‘

Total 108,250,000 | 46,246,204 62,003,796
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.

On 8 January 2014, N554 entered into a debt swap arrangement with Metbank,
it was agreed that the bank’s debt of US$23,336,141 be set off against the bank's
investment properties which were pledged as security against the debt.

On 15 September 2013, NSSA purchased Metbank properties for $4,908,750. This
was after Minister Mupfumira had directed that the NSSA Board should assist

© Metbank so that that it could come out of its liquidity crisis.

Findings

Findings on Metbank transactions have been adequately covered and reported
separately under Investments section xxxx of the report.

k) Transactions with Metro Realty (Private) Limited

Background

Metro Reality got favourable treatment from NSSA because of its links with
Metbank. The company is owned by Mr Bvuie and Mr Ndebele who are the
executive directors of Metbank. Mr Ozias Bvute is the Group Chief Executive
Officer of Metbank while Mr Belmont Ndebele is the Managing Director of the
Bank.

Favourable treatment given to Metro Reality is evidenced by the following;

o Metro Reality was awarded two off-take housing agreements same day
without going to tender.

o According to Mr Chihbta, the award of the two contracts was made at
& meeting held at the Mr Yela's offices in the presence of the Minister
and Metbank officials.

¢ This was despite the fact that Metro Réality did not submit project
proposals for consideration. in addition, the company did not have a
track record of executing projects of a similar nature.

Transactions

NS5A awarded two off-take housing contracts to Metro Realty without going to
tender, The projects are Si-lves and Stateland both in Chinhoyi, The St-lves
contract was signed on 24 July 2017 while the Stateland was signed in August
2017.

fn Statetand contract, the developér was supposed to construct 695 houses. The
units would be developed as foliows;

o 133 units on 300 square metres and
< 362 units on 200 square metres

On the St-lves contract the developer was supposed to deliver 809 houses.
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Findings

Findings on Metro Reality {Private) Limited transactions have been adequatety
covered and reported separately under Securitisation of NSSA funds of aff-take
housing agreerments item 8.8.3 in this report.

<} Transactions with Housing Corporation Zimbabwe (Private) Limited
{HCz)

Background
HCZ got favourable treatment from NSSA after it was introduced to NSSA by the

then Board Chairperson, Mr Vela, Mr.Vela put pressure on NSSA officials to fast
track the awarding of the contract, The favourable treatment to HCY is evidenced

by the following;
» The company was awarded a contract of US5304 million without going to tender
when it was a week old [i.e. from date of incorporation).

* The contract was awarded without following NSSA due process. No due
diligence or investment appraisal was done.

+ HCZ had no track record of executing projects of the same magnitude.

= HCZ was given the contract despite not having title 1o the tand,

Transactions

» NSSA entered into an off-take housing agreement with HCZ. HCZ intended to’
acquire 3 pieces of land for the purpose of constructing 8,000 {eight thousand)
housing units, The housing units.were tg be constructed in phases of 2,000 (two
thousand) aver a Space of 30 months. The contract had a cost of USS304 mitlion
which translates to US$38,000 per housing unit.

»  NS55A paid a deposit of US$16 miilion tawards the project,

Findings

Findings on HC? tramsactions have been adequately covered and reported separately
under Securitisation of NSSA funds of off-take housing agreements item 8.8.2 of this
report.
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d) Transactions with Drawcard Enterprises (Private) Limited

.Background

Drawcard got favourable treatment from NSSA because of its relationship with
Metbank and Metro Reality (Private) Limited,

The favourable treatment to Drawcard is evidenced by the following;

« Drawcard was awarded an off-take housing contract without going to tender.
» The contract was awarded without following NS5A due process. No due
diligence or investmeat appraisal was done,

Transactions

° NSSA entered into an agreement with Drawcard Enterprises (Private) Limited.
The agreement was for the construction of 1,000 units in Muzenya, Gweru which
were (o be delivered in four batches. The agreement provided that the houses

were going o be constructed on land owned by Drawcard and was signed on 3
August 2017.

* NSSA paid a deposit of $3,5 miltion and the deposit was fully secured by a
performance bond issued by Export Credit Guarantee Corporation (Private)
Limited in favour of NaSA,

Findings
Findings on Drawcard transactions have been adequately covered and reported

separately under Securitisation of N53A funds of off-take housing agreements item
8.84 of this report,
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7.2 Investments with Metbank Limited

- Background

® National Secial Security Authority {“HSSA”) has money market investments with
Metbank (“the bank"} dating back to 2011.
- ) » For maney market investments, NSSA deals directly with the bank. The money
market investments include treasury bills custodial agreements, treasury bills
lending and loan advances.

7.2.1 Minister Mupfumira's involvement in transactions between NSSA and
- Metbank

.

. = The then Minister of Public Service Labour and Social Welfare, Honcurable P,
am ’ Mupfumira, was involved in some investment transactions between NSSA and
Metbank. The Minister held joint and separate meetings with Metbark and NSSA

execytives,

- - = In one instance, she directed that NSSA Board should assist Metbank despite
the bank having a defauit history and averdue loans with the Authority.

. ¢ We detail below relevant extracts from minutes of the meetings showing the
- extent of the Minister's involvement in Metbank transactions with NSSA;

o Meeting 1: 17 December 2014 at the Minister 's Office

. A meeting held on 17 December 2014 at the Ministar’s Office at 1700
- hours'®, :

‘ Present: Hon P Mupfumira {Chairperson), Mr N Masoka (Permanent Secretary

- MPSLSW) Mr J Matiza (GM-NSSA), Mr R Fusire {Acting Director- Investments

™ ' N3SA), Mr . Isaki (NSSA), Mr O Bvute (Metbank), Mr 8 Ndebele and a third
official from Metbank,

- The summary of salient matters emerging from the meeting were;

* Mr E. Kamushinda from Metbank had made his presentation to the
Minister and a solution to Metbank liquidity crisis was to be found.

- = The Minister had heard both parties’ arguments and had decided to
dialogue with them to find a workable solution considering the need
to promote indigenisation under ZIMASSET. )

- . ' s+ Both parties were given an opportun‘ity to make their presentations.

» The Minister requested NSSA to treat the matter as urgent and have
recommendations submitted by the 29 of December 2014,

18 Exhibit 14. Minutes of Megting with Rongurable Minister Mupfurnira held on 17 December 2014 at ministers
Office,
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7.2 lnvestments with Metbank Limited

Background

a MNational Social Security Authority (“NSSA") has money (narket investments with

metbank (“the bank”) dating back to 2011.
a For money market invesiments, NSSA deals directly with the bank. The money
market investments include treasury bills custodial agreements, treasury bills

lending and loan advances.

7.2.4 Minister Mupfumira’s involvemnent in transactions between NSSA and
Metbank

. The then Minister of Public Service tabour and Social Welfare, Honourable P.
Mupfumira, was involved in some investment transactions bstween NSSA and
Metbank. The Minister held joint and separate meetings with Metbank and NSSA

execytives.

_u In one instance, she directed that NSSA Board should assist Metbank despite
the bank having a defautt history and overdue loans with the Autherity.

« We detait below relevant extracts from minutes of the meetings shawing the
extent of the Minister's invelvement in Metbank transactions with NSSA;

o Meeting 1: 17 December 2014 at the Minister 's Office

A meeting held on 17 December 2034 at the Minister's Office at 1700
hours'?, :

Present: Hon P Mupfumira [Chairparsan}, M N Masoka (Permanent Secretary
MPSLSW) Mr J Matiza {GM-NSSA), Mr R Fusire {Acting Director- investments
NSSA], Mr [, [saki (NSSA}, Mr O Bvute (Metbank), Mr B Ndebele and a third
official fram Metbank.

The summary of salient matters emerging from the meeting were,

« Mr £. Kamushinda from Metbank had made his presentation to the
Minister and a solution to Metbank liquidity crisis was to be found.

o The Minister had heard both parties’ arguments and had decided to
dialogue with thern to find 2 workable solution considering the need
to promote indigenisation under ZIMASSET,

= Both parties were given an opportur{ity to make their preseﬁtations.

s The Minister requested NSSA to treat the matter as urgent and have
recommendations submitted by the 1%* of December 2014,

& gxhibit 14- Mi H + fos .
ot inutes cf seeting with Hongurabie Mizister Mupfuinira held on 17 December 2014 at Ministers
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Meeting 2: 24 December 2014: NSSA Board Roam
The second meeting was held on 24 December 2014: NSSA Board Room

at 1000 hours'?,

Present: Mr N Masoka (Permanent Secretary MPSLSW-Chairperson), Ms M
Mukondomi (Director Finance-MPSLSW), Mr J Matiza (GM-NSSA}, Mr R
Fusire (Acting Director- Investments M3SA) and M7 H Chikova (Benefits
Director-NSSA).,

The summary of matters in the meeting were;

= Metbank had revised its request up to US$20 millior from USS15
miliion,

= The Board recommended an outright purchase of Metbank
properties worth US36.7 million. The USS$6.7 million was going to
be split into USS5 million for payment of small creditors and US$1.7
million towards settlement of capital gains tax for properties
bought from Metbank by NSSA.

* The Board, considering NSSA's cashflow position, would have to
stop some of its prejects and fund the purchase of the properties,

Meeting 3: 29 December 2014: Kinister s Office
A meeting was held on 29 December 2014 at the Minister's Office at
1030 hours®

Present; Hon P Mupfumira (Chairperson), Mr N Masoka (Permanent
Secretary MPSLSW), Mrs. Mukondomi (Director Finance MPSLSW) and Mr
Vera (Directer Investments-NSSA}.

The meeting was a follow up to the meeting held on 77 December 2014 in
which it was agreed that NSSA and Metbank should work out a sofution to
assist Metbank and promote indigenisation under ZIMASSET?,

The surarnary of key matters in the meeting were;

e NS5SA had na appetite to purchase the Bank's assets and had no option
suitable to assist Metbank given its previous record of faiture to honour
NSSA maturities. Since the Bank had a non-performing loan, it was
difficutt for NSSA to issue another loan.

+ Mr Vera presented the NSS5A proposzl where the Board had agreed to
do a revaluation of the Bank's properties which were held as security
and purchase them up to a maximum of US$6.7 million.

+ Honourable Minister Mupfumira gave a directive to NSSA through the
Office of the Permanent Secretary to mest Metbank officials to convey
the way forward.

I¥ Exhibit 15+ Minutes of NSSA Board Meeting held on 24 Decembear 2014 at NSS5A Board Raom
% Exhibit 16- Minutes of Meeting with Henourable Minister Muplumica held on 29 December 2014,
I Minutes reported it was 2 follow up to meeting neld on 19 December 2017 when the meeling was held on 17

December 2014.
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7.2.2 Potential financial prejudice
According to the confirmation we obtained from Metbank, through their lawyers,

PTG Attorneys, on 15 August 2018, the Authority was owed US557,350,000 worth of
treasury bills by the bank®, In addition, there were other loan facilizies outstanding
which were not included on the confirmation. Details of exposure for both the TBs
and loan facilities are shown below;

Treasury Bills -First Tranche 37,350,000

-Second Tranche 20,000,000
Sub-Total 57,350,000
QOther Loan_facilir.ie_s ‘ 4.,653,79_55
“Total exposire’ H '62'50:0 796,

a} First Tranche of TBs (US$37,350,000)
Origins of the transaction

° Inan extract of the 8IPC meeting minutes indicated as feld on 17 March 2017,
it was agreed that management should put up a structure to support fertiliser
companies using treasury bills as security. The total facility raised under the
structure would be for a maximum of US$30,000,000%, The extract was dated
20 June 2017 and sigred by Mr Vela and Mr Takawira,

= On 28 April 2017, Metbank wrote to NSSA requesting it to participate in the
fundraising of U5530,000,000 towards the importation of fertiliser and fertiliser
raw materiats. In this letter, they wanted NSSA to perform a dual role of
providing security in the form of TBs to the syndicate of funders ang
underwriting the entire US$30,000,000%.

= The initial structure was meant 1o be financed by BancABC and Ecobank® who
had expressed interest in the structure and NSS5A was coming in to provide the
T8s as security, Metbank was the broker of the facility and the borrowers were
Sable Chemical Industries Limited {“Sable Chemical”) and Omnia Fertiliser
Zimbabwe (Private) Limited ("Omnia Fertiliser”}.

2 Exnibit 17- Confirmation of TBs balances with Mezbank by Gapara Myaundi Legal Practitioners,
M Exhibit 18- Certilied extract of the BIC meeting on the support for fertiliser production.

24 Exhibit 19- Letter from Metbank to NSSA on the fundraising propasal.

5 Exhibit 20A- Letter from BancARC Lo Metbank expressing interest in the fertitiser deal.

* Exhibit 20B- Letter from Ecobank to Metbank expressing interest in the fertiliser deal,
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Conditions frem Metbank for the fertiliser transaction to succeed

¢ Methank wanted the deal to0 be awarded & prescribed asset status with IPEC, In
2 letter dated 28 June 2017 addressed to the Ministry of Finance and Economic
Development copied to Metbank, IPEC did not recommend a canferment of
prescribed asset status as it considered Metbank as financially unsound. It also
indicated that the bank was under close maonitoring by the Reserve Bank of
Zimbabwe?’, '

= On the same day, Metbank through Mr Kundishora, wrate a letter to Ms
Mukondomi (Director of Finance in the Ministry of Public Service, Labour and
Social Welfare and NSSA Board member) updating her of the status of the
transactions. He indicated that they failed to obtain the Prescribed Asset Status
and were hoping to use the office of the Director to obtain this status as this
credit enhancement feature was specifically requested by the financiers®,

«  ©On 30 June 2017, Metbank wrote another letter to the Ministry of Finance and
Economic Development addressed 1o Mr Manungo challenging the position taken
by IPECY,

= On 25 August 2017, IPEC wrote to Metbank where they granted the Prescribed
Asset Status to the deal,

«  The deal failed to take off as Metbank failed to secure a deed of guarantee from
the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe which was a prerequisite from Ecobank to legally
enter into agreement with Metbank,

* AU this point, NS5A had not tendered any TBs to Metbank for safe keeping
through the custogiat arrangement which was already in place.

Representation by Metbark on the status of the transaction and the transfer of
treasury bills

* On30.June 2017, Metbank wrote to NSSA‘advising them that the bank was ready
to receive security of TBs with a total face value of USSAZ,250,000 against a
double cover exposure of US3$31,125,000 including transaction cost, The letter
was stamped 4 July 2017 by the office of Chief Investments Officer®, The reason
behind the US362, 250,000 was that the financiers wanted double cover for the
US5531,125,000.

* AL this point, NSSA did not have a board resolution to retease the TBs of this
amount o support the transaction into the custody of Metbank,

¥ Exhibit 21 Letter from iPEC dated 28 June 2017 ta the ministry of Finance and Economic Devetopment, citing
grounds for denial of the Prescribeg Asser Status.

¥Exhiblt 22- Letter from Metbank te the Ministry of Labour and Social Welfare on the update of the Prescribed
Asset Status,

¥ Exhibit 23- Letter from Matbank to the Ministry of Finaace and Economic Development challenging the
grounds for rejection by IPEC,

R Exhibit 24- Letter from IPEC to Metbank advising them on the swarding of the Frescribed Asset Status of the
deal.

M Exhibit 25- Fila copy of the letter dated 30 June 2017 from Metbank to NSSA for the request for transfer of
TBs to he used as security,
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: . °  On 30 August 2017, Metbank wrote to NS5A tcare of Mr Hungwe and copying Mr

- Chiuta} informing them that they had secured US521 million in foreign currency

R for the transaction. They also requested NS5A to tender TBs worth
US562,250,000 but under a custodial arrangement3?,

= 0n 31 August 2017, Mr Hungwe [of NSSA) responded to Metbank indicating that
in order to seek board approval, NSSA needed to know who the horrawers were,
: information on subscribers, source of the foreign currency and any signed
= agreements between various parties to the deal, Once this information was
provided, Mr Hungwe would make a recommendation to the board to consider

the release of the said TBs®.

- = On the same day, Metbank responded to the letter from Mr Hungwe copying Ms
Chitiga and Mr Vela insisting that NSSA should tender the TBs to Metbank under
the-custodiatarrangement, Metsank committed to use the 185 for the purposes
of the fertiliser transaction ang alsa the release of the TBs would be after NSSA
- . granted formal approval for the use),

. * Despite Mr Hungwe's letter of 31 August 2017 setting conditions before the TBS

could be released, on 4 September 2017, mr Mungwariri authorised the release

- of TBs with a face value of US$62,250,000 as requested by Metbank, He

nowever, directed that the TRs should only be used for the said transaction and

: . that there shoutd be a farmal approval to release the TBs from NSSA first®, No

- . Board approval to release the TBs was sought and Mr Mungwariri is insisting that
' at this level it was just for custodial arrangement,

: s MrMungwariri exposed the Autharity by his actions because based on Metbank
- letter of 31 August 2017, it shows that Metbank was desperate to use the TBs
and he himself was also aware of the nature of the transaction,

. = Mr. Mungwariri stated that the release of the TBs was dane in consultation with
— ‘ the former Board Chairman, Mr. Vela, who was also Chairman of the BIPCY,

- ' Notification by Metbank to use the treasury bills and the responses by NSSA's
executives

« On 22 September 207, Metbank wrate ta Ms Chitiga of NSSA notifying her that
- RBZ had signed a deed of guarantes in favour of the providers of the nostro
' dollars. They now wanted to use TBs of 120% of the amount to be raised as

security, that is, US$37.35 miltion?®.

* On 26 September 2017, Mr Hungwe wrota an email to Ms Chitiga copying Mr
Mungwariri, Mr Chiuta and Mr Nziradzemhuka all fram NSSA pointing out that

- . * Exhibit 26- Letter dated 30 August 2017 from Mr Kundishora to Mr Hungwe notlfying him of the securing of
- $21,000,00G in fareign currency and the requesz of the treasury bills,
' B Exhibit 27- Response letter from Mr Hungwe to Mr Kundishora notifying him of the information requested in
order for him to make a recommendation to the Board.
M Exhibft 28- Letter rom Mr Kundishora Lo #r Hungwe citing the request of the TBs and how they will be used.
¥ Exhibit 29- Letter fram Ats Mungwarirl to Methank natifying them on the release of TBs worth 562,250,000.
3 Exhibit (33 Questionnaire for Mr. Mungwarirf page 6,
T Exhibit Q3 + Questionnaire for Mr. Mungwarir page & (6b),
* Exhibit 30- Letter from Mr Chawoneka (Executive Director at Metbank) to ms Chitiga notifying of the
intended use of T8s with a face vatue of 537,125,000,
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NSSA currently did not have the board approval for the use of the TBs held by
Metbank for the said transaction. He indicated that he had enquired on who the
funders were and the underlying conditions, but this information was not
received from mMetbank?®,

¢ After almost three weeks without action on Metbank’s letter of 22 September
2017, Mr Hungwe wrote another email te Mr Munawariri copying Mr Chiuta citing
that there was z need to respond to Metbank's letter. He drafted the letter to
be sent to Metbank in-order to obtain sufficient information underiying the
transaction??,

*  On20Qctober 2017, Mr Mugwariri In the capacity of the Acting General Manager
wrote a letter to the Managing Director of Metbank, Mr Ndebele responding to
e 22 September 2017 letter. He reiterated that in order for NSSA to seek
board approval for the release of the TBs, NS5A needed information on who the
proposed borrowers were and other information regarding the other parties to
the transaction. He pointed out that there should be a prior formal approvat
from NSSA for the release of the TBs*'. This shows that it took NSSA a full manth

to respond to the issue of its TBs in the hands of Metbank,

° On 25 October 2017, Metbank, through Mr Ndebele, respanded to the 20
October 2017 letter fram NSSA. |t was addressed to Mr Mungwariri pointing out
that the T8s were already used as there was a written authority from NSSA
which was also attached to the response®. We obtained this letter in the files
availed to us by Mr Hungwe which he indicated hag been given to him by
Metbank. The letter was stamped received from the office of the Chief Social
Security Officer an 27 October 201 7. On enquiry with the secretary of the Chief
Social Security Officer, she could not find where the letter had been bogked as
it was comman practice to book ali letters received from thirg parties.

*  Mr Mungwarir told us that he was not aware of this letter. He also indicated
that the attachment avthorising Metbank to use NSSA TBs only came to light
during internal investigations an the issue of the TBs. We were therefore not
availed the original copy of the letter,

= Metbank pointed out that it had already used T8s worth US5537,350,000 as jt had
been granted written approvat for use of the TBs, They attached a letter dated
3 October 2017 from NSSA emanating from the General Manager's office but
signed by Mr Chiuta on behalf of the General Manager®, Again, Mr Mungwariri
and fr Hungwe insisted that they only became aware of the explicit authority
given to Metbank by NS$SA in 2018 and not in October 2017 as indicated in the
25% October 2017 (etter from Metbanks,

* Exhibit 31+ E-mall from ar Hungwe to Ms Chitiga in reaction to the letter dated 22 September 2017 from
Metbank on the intended use of Ths,

O Exhiblt 32+ Follow up e-mail from Mr Hungwe 1o Mr Mungwariri on the issve of TBs,

U Exhibit 33- Letter from fr Mungwariri to Metbank responding to the tetter dated 22 September 2017 from
Metbank,

L Exhibit 34- Letter from Mr Ndebels (MD for Metbank) Lo Mr Mungwariri dated 25 October 2017,

9 Exhibit 35 Letter from NSSa signed by Mr Chiuta Lo Metbank giving them authority to use TBs worth
$37,350,000.

M Exhibir Q3 - Questionnaire for amr. Mungwariri page 7 (93,
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*  On 30 Qctober 2017, Mr Ndebele responded agzin to the 20 October 2017 letter
from NSSA assuring NSSA that the bank was committed to see the transaction
go through and there was no intention to deviate. As for the information that
had been requested by NSSA, he pointed out that most information was already
in the custady of NSSA. However, he committed that he would provide the same
information not tater than 17 November 2017, In this communication, there
was no indication on whether Metbank had utilised the TBs or not.

*  Mr Hungwe wrote an email to Mr Mungwariri on the same day (30 October 2017}
stating that what Metbank was going was not acceptable and the TBs should be
returned. He suggested that Mr Mungwariri should write a very strongly worded
letter insisting on the return of the TRs*,

Subseguent events from the use of treasury bills by Metbank

+ Despite the disagreement between NSSA and Metbank regarding the issue of
TBs, the Board went on to extend a US520,000,000 loan facility of TBs for
another &6 months which had been granted in November 2016,

¢ There was no evidence to suggest that the NSSA board was aware of the on-
goings regarding the TBs tendered for the fertiliser transaction. This is
evidenced by their non-action in recatling the TBs from Metbank and 2018 when
the new Minister, Honourable Petronetla Kagonye wanted to know the state of
affairs of all transactions between NSSA and Metbank, ’

*  On 19 January 2018, Mr Ndebele wrote to Ms Chitiga confirming that they had
received TBs with a face value of US562,250,000 from NSSA under a custodial
arrangement. He reiterated that on 3 October 2017, NSSA agreed to commit
TBs with 2 face value of up to U5537,350,000 towards securing funding

obilised by Metbank. He confirmed that the structure was yet to be finalised
as they were currently waiting for a Deed of Guarantee from the Reserve Bank
of Zimbabwe?.

»  From our enquiry from the executives at NSSA, they all insisted that they had
not seen the letter giving Metbank express authority to use NSSA T8s by 19
January 2018,

= There wasa-meeting between NSSA and Metbank on 26 fanuary 2078 to discuss
the issues around the treasury Dills, In attendance from NSSA were Mr
Mungwariri, Mr Chiuta and Mr Mangoma and from Metbank, there was Mr
Kundishora, in the meeting, it was argued that NSSA had given autharity to
commit a portion of the TBs, On enquiry with Mr Mungwariri, he said still at this
point he had not seen the ietter dated 3 October 2017 from NSSA to Metbank.
In the same meeting, Mr Mungwariri proposed that Metbank should return TBs
with a face value of US524,500,000 being the remainder from Us$e62,250,500
and Metbank should apply for them if they wanted to use them*2,

o On 29 January 2018, Mr Mungwariri wrete a letter to Mr Ndebele in which he
was responding to the 19 January 2018 letter and the megting held between

** Exhibit 36- Latter dated 20 October 2047 fram Mr Ndebele ta Mr Mungwariri in response to the letter dated
20 October 2017 from NSSA.

*4 Exhibit 37- E-mail dated 10 October 2017 From Mr Hungwe to Mr Mungwarirl suagesting a response to the 30
October 2017 letter from Metbank

*7 Exhibit 38 Letter dated 19 January 2018 from s Ndebele ta ms Chitiga

2 Exhibit 39 Minutes of the meeting betwsaen NSSA and Methank on 26 January 2018.
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) : both parties on 26 January 2018, He wanted Mr Ndebele to provide the 3
b g October 2017 letter in which NSSA had glven Metbank authority to use the TBs.
Also, -he wanted information about the borrowers, financiers, source of nostro
funding, copies of agreements and the Deed of Guarantee from RBZ, He also
wanted Methank to transfer back TBs warth UsS$24,900,000%,

o Onthe same day (29 January 2018}, Metbank transferred a parcel of TBs with a
face value of LS$24,900,000 to NS5A's C50 account held at FBC bank. This was
- acknowledged by Mr Mungwariri in a letter to Metbank.

Establishment of the approval letter from NSSA to use the treasury bills

* According to the questionnaire from Mr. Mungwariri, he stated that on 22 March
2018, Ms. Chitiga told him that she had found the letter, signed on her behalf
by James Chiuta, in her office authorising Metbank to use the TBs%,

= MrChiuta gave a formal statement addressed to the Acting General Managers',
He detailed what had transpired to the point of signing the letter. He indicated
that he had received a Whatsapp message on 2 October 2017 from Mr Vela®k

= The contents of the conversaticn were that Mr Vela indicated that Metbank had
secured funding and wanted NSSA to release the TBs and same representatives
of the bank would visit him the following day. In his response, Mr Chiuta
confirmed to have spoken to Mr Kundishora and that he promised that he would
see to it that the T8s are released by end of the week,

°  Mr Chiuta confirmed that on the morning of 3 October 2017, Mr Bvute, Mr

' Ndebele and Mr Kundishora all from setbank visited him requesting for a letter

that woutd authorise them to use NSSA TBs which were already in their custody.

] . He confessed that he errenecusly did not keep a file copy and that because of
— how busy he had been, he forgot that he had signed such a letter.

= On 9 May 2018, Mr Chiuta was served with a suspension letter for acting without
authority in authorising Metbank to use NSSA TBs in their safe custodyss,

o According to Mr. Vela, he told us that he canaot recall the said whatsapp
message by Mr. James Chiuta hence could not comment on the same®,
Status of the fertiliser transaction in 2018

e As at 28 March 2018, Metbank had not obtained a Deed of Guarantee from the
RB8Z as confirmed by their fallow up letter to the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe
dated 28 March 2018%,

% Exhibit 40- Letter dated 29 January 2G18 from #r Mungwariri to Mr Ndebate,

5¢ Exhibit Q3 - Questionnaira for Mr. Mungwariri page 9 (123,

5t £xhibit 41- Memorandum dateq 25 April “rom Mr Chiuta to Mr Mungwariri in the capacity of Acting GiM.
52 Exhibit 42- Image of WhatsApp message from Mr Vela to Mr Chiuta dates 2 October 2017,

33 Exhibit 43+ Suspension letier of Mr Chiuta dated 9 May 2018.

3¢ Exhibit Q12 - Questionnaire for #s. Yela page 4 (6a).

55 Exhibit 44- Letter dated 28 March 201 8 from Metbank to RBZ following up on the Deed of Guarantee.
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o NS5A through the office of the Acting General Manager, Mr Mungwariri wrote to
Metbank on several occasions demanding the balance of TBs worth

T UUS$37,350,000 without success.

= Metbank suggested thet an escrow agreement be signed between the parties
with Metbank being the custodian of the account, NSSA was not in agreement
with this and sought recovery through their lawyers Mawere and Sibanda.

o Metbhank in their response through their lawyers, Gapare Nyaundi Legal
Practitioners, detailed ali the transactions it had with NSSA and accused NSSA
of wanting to breach agreements. As such, Metbank put all transactions with
MSSA on held including other transactions not involving the TBs. ¢

s From the review of the 2018 main 2oard and the BIPC minutes availed to us,
there were no discussions on the issue of the recovery of the T8Bs and other
loans fram Metbank.

» The NSSA investment procedure manual section 8.4, gives guidelines on the
quality of security and how this shoutd be apptied on banks wanting to deal with
the Authority. All the T8s and loans granted to Metbank should have been

- adequately secured. Management proceeded to approve loans and release TBs
to Metbank vwithout complying with the NSSA investment policy guidelines hence
exposing the Authority to potential financial prejudice.

- . ' = According to Mr. Murgwaniri, he was guided by the terms and conditions of the
Custodial agreement with Metbank¥,

b) Second Tranche of TBs {US520,000,000)

- - Establishment of the custodial agreement

: +  On 18 October 2016, Mr Vela sent a WhatsApp message to Mr Hungwe reguesting
: - for infarmation on the issue of treasury bills to Metbank. The message suggested
- _ that there was some pressure on Mr Vela for the deal to happen as he
highlighted that he was being put in a difficult position due to_the delays. He
indicated that this would only be 2 custodial arrangement and there would be
no risk Lo NSSA%,

» There was a resolution availed to us making reference to a 8IPC meeting held
i ©on 25 October 2016 in which the BIC members voted for the creation of the
. custodial account with Metbank. The members signed the resclution on 15
November 20165
= However, when we inspected the minutes of the BIPC for the meeting held on
— 25 October 2016, there was nothing referring to the creation of custodial
account with Metbank®®,
e ; i % Exhibit 45- Letter dated 7 June Z018 from Legal representation of Metbank Lo NSSA,
i 7 Exhibit Q3 - Questionnaire for Mr. Mungwarici page 6 (6a).
* Exhibit 46+ Extract of the WhatsApp message from Mr Vela to Mr Hungwe dated 18 October 2017,
5% £xhibit 47- Extract of the resolution to the BIC meeting held on 25 October 2014.
—_ # Exhibit 48 Full minutes of the BiC meeting heid on 25 Octobar 2016.
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= A custodial aereerﬁent solely for safe keeping of the treasury bills was signed
on 26 Cctober 20164, The agreement required Board apprevai for any deviation
from custodial arrangement,

= According to Mr Vela on 7 November 2016, NS5A had not yet reteased TBs to the
bank for safe keeping. This prompted Mr Vela to write an email to Ms Chitiga,

Mr Hungwe and Mr Munewariri, He cited that the BIPC had directed that TBs

. amounting to at least USS20m held by CBZ be maoved to Metbank. This was
supposed to have happened before 31 October 2016, He wanted to know why
there was a delay and who had caused the delay?. This suggests that Mr Vela
was involved in the transaction, yet the arrangement was just for safe custody.

= However, this contradicts the information that we obtained from the Treasury
back office which showed that TBs worth US511,883,382.48 from CBZ Bank had
been transferred on the 27% of October 20168, which was a day after the
agreement had been signed. A parcel of US$9,000,000 worth of TBs was also
transferred from FBC bank oh 8 Navember 2016% bringing the total to
US520,883, 382.43.

Request by Metbank to use treasury bllis held in custody

> Onthe 7 of November 2016, Metbank wrote to Ms Chitiga requesting ta borrow
treasury bills in the sum of U5520,000,000 to secure short-term market deposits
and RBZ accommodation, The tenar was for 1 year, This was in line with the
initial custadial agreement contract signed between the parties in which an
approval was to be sought befare the use of the TBs by the bank. Mr Mungwarin
authorised on behalf of Ms Chitiga for NSSA®S, The letter was stamped 9
Mavember 2016 by NSSA as date of receipt. Mr Mungwariri acted in
contravention of the NSSA investment policy by investing the Authority’s TBs
without Board approval.

o In return, NSSA earned a flat fee of 0.75% of the borrowed amounts. This was
the first time such a transaction had happened.

= From a copy of the resolution availed to us which was drafted by Mr Hungwe
and sent to Mr Yela on the 14% of November 2016, all the other members of the
BIPC voted for the release of the TBs. However, Mr Ruwende, the Board
appointed investment expert had his reservations that he rajsed. This resolution
was by round robin where members of the BiPC were 10 vote either for or
against. the resolution®. This shows that management released TBs to the bank
on 7 Navember 2616 for use before the BIPC approved the transaction on 14
Nevember 2046, :

.* We also noted that the above BIPC round robin resolution was not ratified by
the main Board at its next meeting as required by the NSSA Act.

4! Exhibit 49- Memarandum of Agresment between NSSA and Metbank on the custodial agreement.
*2 Exhibit 50- Email from Mr Vala on the issue of delays in TB movements to Metbank,
83 Exhibit §1- Instruction from NSSA to CBYZ Bank 10 transfer TBs werth $1 1,883,382.48 dated 27 October 2016.

A Exhibit 52- Instruction fram NS5A ta FBC Bank to transfer TBs warth §9,000,000 dated 8 Movember 2016,

5 Exhibit 53- Request from Metbank to borrow treasury bills worth $20,000,000 from NSSA and the approval
thereof,
% Exhibit 54- Extract of the resolution to 2pprove the borrowing of $20,000,000 by Metbank in retrospect.
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* According to the questionnaire from Mr. Mungwariri, he is insisting that the
release of the TBs was approved by the BIPC on 26 October 2016, This is
contrary to the fact that the request for the TBs by Metbank was only made
on 7 November 2016. In addition, the minutes of 25 October 2014 do not
contain anything relating to release of TBs to Metbank.

»  Thera was no security for the release of the TBs which resulted in an unsecured
loan to Metbank.

Request for extension by Metbank on the borrawed treasury bills

*» Near the maturity of the 1-year tenor which was 7 November 2017, NSS5A wrote
10 Metbank notifying them to prepare for the return of the borrowed T8s on 31
October 2017%. Metbank responded the following day requesting for an
extension of an additional 6 months?®,

» [n a resolution of the BIPC dated 15 December 2017 signed by Mr Vela and Ms
Mugwira, the approval was granted™. In this resolution, it was agreed that
Metbank was to pay a fee of 1% of the borrowed amount payable upfront,
However, Metbank paid an upfront fee of 0.75% resulting in financial prejudice
of U5550,000,

e Despite the lost revenue, on 18 December 2017, & contract was signed between
N35A and the bank for the extension™ up to 18 June 2018. Mr Mungwariri signed
far NSSA,

*  According to Mr. Mungwariri, the approved rate was 1% per anaum and the rate
was negotiated upwards to 1,5% per annum. This translates to 0,75% for 6
months™. However, the board minutes only talk of a tenor of 6 months at an
upfrant flat fee of 1%,

= On maturity, Metbank did not return the TBs arguing that NSSA had not givena
2 weeks prior notice as stipulated in the agreement and thus had rolled forward
for 2nother 6 months™. According to Mr. Mungwariri, NS$A had no intention to
rollover the TBs and therefore section 7 of the Funding Term Sheet did not apply
which require giving of notice™, ’

*  On review of BIPC minutes of a meeting held on 13 March 2018, we noted that
one unnamed member of the committee commented that the resolution on
Metbank was that there would be no further investment in the bank after a
request had been made for the extension. The decision to rescind had not been
made at the BIPC and therefore it was a puzzie as to how the extension was
granted. This contradicts the BIPC resolution of 15 December 2017 signed by Mr
Vela and Ms Mugwira,

57 Exhibit Q3 - Questionnaire for Mr. Mungvarici page 9 {13),

*% Exhibit 55- Letler from NSSA to Methank natifying the expity of the Loan Agreement betwaen the parties,

&9 Exhibit 56- Initial letter from tetbank requesting extension an the loan agreement dated 1 Navember 2017,
f" Exhibit 57- Extract of the reselution 2pproving the extension of the T8s for further & months.

1 Exhiblt 58- Agreement between NSSA and Metbank Lo extend the borrawing of the TBs with & manths.

2 gxhibit Q3 - Questicnnaire for Mr. | ungweriri page 10 (14),

™ Exhibit 59- Letter from metbank citing the reasons of not return the T8s upen maturity of the & month facility.
M Exhibit Q3 - Questionnaire for M. Mungwariri page 10 {15b).




s NSSA T8s worth US520,000,000 are held by Metbank without security, These T8s

are part of the investments held back by mMetbank pending the gutcome of the
court case. NSSA is exposed to financial prejudice to the tune of U5520,000,000

plus interest.

c) Other loan facilities to the bank - US§4,653,756

i

US$20,000,000 loan facility

Request for a loan facility by Methank

NSSA entared into a US520,000,000 loan facility agreement with Metbank on the
8™ of November 2016, This loan had 2 sub borrowers ZFC Limited and Windmill
{Private) Limited who were going to draw down from the facility equally from
Metbank?s,

The loans were secured by a notarial deed of cessation in favour of NSSA from
Metbank™ and notarial special covering bonds from Windmill (Private) Limited
and ZFC Limited”, The sub-borrowers pledged their cutput and debtors as
security. This kind of security was first of its kind for NSSA and not documented

anywhere in the investrment operations manual.

On the 6 of October 2016, Mr Vela sent an email to Mr Hungwe with a term
sheetl attached for the US5520,600,000 funding for review. The term sheet was
atready signed by Mr Chawoneka for and on behalf of Methank Limited and
stamped 5 October 20167, an indication that Metbank had already discussed the -
issue of funding with Mr vela.

I his response on the same dafe, Mr Hungwe indicated that he did not have
much experience in trade finance. But he indicated that the structure in his
opinion was nat in the best interest of NSSA™.

Analysis performed by Mr Hungwe to the loan proposal

On 1 Movember 2016, Mr Hungwe sent an analysis he had done to alter the
structure brought forward by Mr Vela®. In the same email, he indicated that he
had sent the same analysis to the Management Investment Committee {"MIC")
and the majority of the members were in agreement with this analysis compared
to what was initially put forward by Mr Vela. ‘

In his response to the email on the same date copied to Ms Chitiga, Mr Mutiswa
and Mr Ruwende (board appeinied investment expert), Mr Vela indicated that
the deal could gc on as re-struciured by Mr Hungwe though he indicated that he
was not approving the deal, He stated that his reasons for disapproving were
menticned to Mr Hungwe telephonically and on several other cccasions.

7S Exhibit 60- Loan agresmant between N$S4 and Metbank for $20,000,000,

16 Exhibit 61- Notarial Deed of Cassation in favour of NSSA from Matbank.

7 Exhibit 62A- Notarial special rovering bond in favour of NS5A from Wincmill (Private} Limited and
Exhibit 28- Notarial special covaring bend in favour of NSSA from ZFC Limited.

18 Exhihit 63- E-mall to Mr Hungwe from Mr Vela with a term sheet for the $28,000,0C0 attached.

9 Refer to Exhibit £3: Response e-mail {rom Mr Hungwe to Mr Vela dated & October 2017,

0 Exhibit 64- Analysis done by Mr Honawe and recommendations made to the $20,000,000 facility.
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e In his closing remarks in the same email, Mr Vela said the following:

“We will then execute on the basis of the same and indeed evoluate management
on the success or failure of their suggestion. | would like it expli citly understood
that this is management’s determined direction™®,

*  Mr Hungwe did not pursue the route he had recomrmended as he concluded that
the board chairman did not support the whole arrangement as structured by

him.
Approval of the loan facility to Metbank

« Adraft resotution from a BIPC meeting held on the 25t of October 2016 was sent
to Mr Vela on the 14" of November 2016, where all members voted for the
resolution by round robin on the 15'% of November 2016%2,

« Contracts with sub-borrowers were signed between 8 and 10 November 2016%,
Documents provided from treasury back office department, showed that the loan
was disbursed to the bank in 4 instalments with the first disbursement on the 25*
of November 2016 and the last dishursement on the 21% of December 2016%4,

e On the 2™ of March 2017, ZFC Limited, one of the sub-borrowers to the facility
wrote a letter to N5SA with reasons why they had not drawn on the facitity. They
indicated that they wanted to make foreign payments using the proceeds of the
facility, but the bank had faited to avail foreign funding®. This was in
contradiction with-the-communication in a-Wha tsApp message-sent-to-vrHorwe
by Mr Vela on 4 November 2016 which said once the amount was transferred to
Metbank, the sub-borrowers would access it all at once®®.

¢ Note that this loan facitity was being serviced properly and on time. However,
due to the issue of the T8s that triggered a legal route to recover the balance of
US$37,350,000 from Metbank, &ll transactions were put on hold pending the
autcome of the case. The outstanding balance on this toan including interest was
U533,094,296 at the tima. This is the potential financial prejudice on this {oan
facility,

ii. US$6,000,000 loan facility
> !n & board meeting held an 29 June 2016, it was resclved that tetbank had to

be supported since it was one of the remaining indigenous banks left in
Zimbabwe?®?,

8! Exhibit 64- E-mail from Mr Vela to Me Hungwe on the issue of the 520,000,000 loan facility.
82 gefer To The Bic Meeting of 25/10/16 and the Resplution done 15/11/16
* Exhiblit 854- Signed contract with IFC Limited a sub-borrower ta the loan facility,
Exhibit 668+ Signed contract, with Windmili Limited a sub-borrower to the loan facility.
3 Exhibit 66- Schedute of disbursements dene to Methank under the $20,00G,000 loan facility,
% Exhibit 67 - Letter from ZFC Limited ta fr Hungwe dated 2 March 2017 notifying the status of the loan,
® Exhibit 68- Image of the WhatsApp massage from Mr Yela Lo Mr Hungwe dated 4 November 2014,
' Exhibit 69- Minutes of 2 Board Meeting held on 29 June 2016,
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= [t was agreed that the bank be allocated 2 facitity of US$6 millien which would
g0 towards low cost housing mortgage loan and/or self-liguldating structured
loanst®,

¢ The loan was o be secured by TBs and properties which were supposed to be
valued by NSSA appointed valuers. On 3 October 2016, N8BS carried out a
valuation of the properties put forward by Metbank. These praoperties were once
martgaged in favour of NSSA by Metbank in 2011. In January 2016, NSSA had

- . written to Metbank to cancel the mortgage bonds but this had not been
- effected. Therefore, the same mortgage bonds registered in 2011 were still

valid and were also used in this regard®? %,

- ' o Orithe 4" of October 2014, a loan agreement granting US56,000,000 to the bank
was signed?),

¢ Due to the issue of the T8Bs, loan repayment is an hold. The outstanding batance
to the loan including interest is US$1,559,500 which is the potential financial
prejudice to date.

Total potentiai financial exposure to NSSA from other lean facilities amounted to
Uss4,653,756 (3,094,296 +1,559,500} :

= : 7.2.3 Metbank debt swap

o = The bank had outstanding maturities from funds advanced by NSSA from 2013
- going backwards. The total outstanding amount as at 31 December 2013 was
- . 15525,336,161. '

L v N5SA agreed to 3 debt swap arrangement with the bank to clear the outstanding

. amount. Metbank offered five properties as settlement. An agreement was

: . reached in January 2014. However, no property valuations were done near the

i date of settlement. Three properties had last been valued by 2 Metbank

w : appeinted valuer in 2011 and one in 2012. NSSA had valued the fifth property

- in 2013. This was in contradiction to the fnvestment operations manuat which
stiputates that valuations are to be done by & NSS4 apgointed valuer.

°  Agreements of sale for the properties were signed on 8 January 2014%,

: . = In & letter referenced SY/rf/18/12713 written to Mr Masoka by Mr Matengera
: | (Acting GM at this time) dated 18 December 2013, it was agreed to use the

average between the market sale value and the forced sale value. Mr Masoka
- i agreed to this recommendation®. This however cantradicted the investment
operations manual which stipulated that the forced sale value shoutd be used
when dealing with debt swaps. The fellowing properties were acquired:

2 Exhibit 70 Extract of minutes of the main board meeting held on 29 June 2015,
YExhibit 71- Letter dated 24 June 2016 from Mr Ndebele to Dr Chikova notifying him of the title deeds and
: © registration of mortgage bands,
— : ) 0 Exhibit 72 Mortgage bonds for propertiss registered in favour of NS5A by Mathank.
' ¥ Exhibit 73- Loan agreement between NSSA and Methank on the $6,500,000 advance.
2 Exhiblt 74- Agreements of sale on properties acquired through a debt swas.
* Exhibit 75- Letter from mr Matongera to Mr Masaka dated 18 December 2011,




Tabie 1: List of properties acquired through a debt Swap arrangement;

12,782,000
Borrowdale Properties
Estate
80 stands Lot J, CBRE 07/12/20%2 6,500,000 9,580,000 8,040,000
Borrowdale
Estate
Sub division A of | CBRE 20/12/20%1% 3,060,000 3,840,000 3,420,000
Qaklands
Sub division Aof | CBRF 31/0872011 180,000 200,000 190,000
stand & Lot C of
Borrowdale
Sub division B of | CRRF 2127201 3,000,000 3,840,000 3,420,000
Qaklands
Total ' 23,680,000 ; 32,024,000 27,852,000

= Using the average vaiue resulted jn NSSA paying an extra US54,172,000.

= On subsequent valuations carried out by NSSA, the Authority has suffered a
potential financial prejudice to the tune of U$522,257,529 through impairment
for the three years from 2015 to 2017. The financial prejudice suffered is shown

in the table below per property;

PrOpary deichAtio
83I$“ta';ﬁds Lot J Borrowdale Estafe 11,451,012
B8O stands Lot J Borrowdale Estate 6,363,092
Subdivision A of Oaklands . 2,220,000
Subdivision A of stand & Lot € of B/Dale Fstate -
Subdivision B of Oaklands 2,223,425
N R R e e 270257,599;

« There was gross neglizence on the part of management as it failed to
independently value the properties taken over from Metbank at the time of debt
swap and this led to a significant potential financial prejudice to the Authority.

7.2.4 Loss on outright purchase of Metbank properties

* In October 2014, Metbank approached NSSA requesting funding of US$15,000,000.
The issue was tabled in the MIC and a memorandum was written to the interim
board chaired by Mr Masoka ori 29 December 1014%, Honourabie Mupfumira was

al30 in copy.

% Exhibit 76- Memorandum dated 29 Dacember 2014 from Ms Mukondomi to Mr Masoka.
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@ In the same communication, a recommendation was made to out rightly acquire
properties worth US$5,000,000 from the bank as the bank had indieated that this

ameunt would turn around its performance.

« The recommendations were approved by both Mr Masoka and Minister
Mupfumira?®,

« Valuations for the properties were done by Bard Real Estate. Bard produced its
valuation report on 29 June 2015 as indicated below:

Table 2: List of properties acquired per the valuation report produced by Bard
Real Estate’

ST

b c={a+b)/2
Lot 1 of stand 1659 805,000 603,750 704,375 1,076,250
Salisbury township:
Celban Court

Lot 1 of stand 1720 1,260,000 908,000 | 1,050,000 | 1,303,750 403,750
Salisbury township: .

Banbury Court

Lot 1 of stand 1598 1,000,000 750,000 875,000 1,443,750 693,750
Salisbury township:
Connaught House
Lot Z of stand 806,000 600,000 700,000 1,685,000 485,000
13124 5alisbury
township: icombe
Court

TOTAL 3,805,000 { 2 853,750 3,329,375 | 4,908 750! 2,055,000

* If NSSA had used the forced sate values, as guided by its investment policy, the
Authority would have paid US$2,853,75C which ig USS2,055,000 tower than what
was actually paid,

¢ The agreement of sale for the properties was signed on 15 September 2015%,
Departure from the Bard Real Estate valuations could not be explained. we
requested for an explanation from Properties and we are still waiting for
response.

* Refer to Exhibit 76 Memorandum dated 29 December 2017,
* Exfibit 77- Valuation report done by Bard dated 29 June 2015.
 Exhibit 79-agreement of Sale for four Metbank properties bought by NSSA
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7.3

Advise on way forward regarding Capital Bank autstanding issues and
recommend best way to resclve agreements

Background

N5SA had treasury dealings with Renaissance Merchant Bank {RMB) (A wholly owned
subsidiary of Renaissance Financial Holdings Limited (RFHL)) which the bank failed to
settle on maturity. The bank subsequently changed its trading name to Capital Bank
after acquisition by NSSA. The bank was placed under curatarship under Mr Saruchera
of Grant Thorrton Chartered Accountants by the RBZ to manage its operations. At the
time of the bank being placed under curatorship on 2 June 2011, it had outstanding
amounts of USS8,471,033 owed to NSSA. Other amounts owed to or from other parties
which are relevant were:

*  U5513.3 million owed by RFHL ta RMB.

= U3$5.7 million awed by RFHL to Ecenet, for which Econet asserted that Mr Timba
had pledged the RFHI's sharehotding in FMHL asg security,

RFHL through its subsidiaries had 33% sharehalding in First Mutual Holdings Limited

(FMHL), formerly known as AFRE. RFL had a bilateral egreement with Econet Wireless

which owned 19% of FMHL. This gave the two parties pre-emptive rights over each

other’s shares in FMHL and effectively made RFHL the controlling sharehoider,

In mid-June 2011, RFHL together with its subsidiaries entered into a deed of cession
with the curator wherein they agreed to cede their sharehoiding in FMHL to RMB if the
US313.3 million owed was nat paid by end of June. This was contested by Econet as
the sarme shares had been pledged to Econet as security through a court order. At
around the same time, the bilateral agreement between Econet and RFHL was

-terminated which termination is stil being challenged by RFHL,

7.3.1 Composite waiver and settlement agreements

In trying to settle the dispute between Econet and RFHL, the curator brought all the
parties together and advocated for a composite waiver and settterment agreement
signed on 19 December 2011 with an expiration date of 31 January 2012. The parties
to the composite agreement were as follows:

»  The curator of RMB

= RFHL e

* Renaissance Investment Banking Corp Limited in its capacity as a subsidiary of
RFHL and a holder of FMHL shares

° Renaissance Securities Nominees in its capacity as a subsidiary of RFHL and a
holder of FMHL shares

= Econet Wireless Private Limited

+ EW Capital Holdings Private Limited in its capacity as a shareholder in EMHL

s NSS4

*  RMB (under curatorship}

The signing of this agreement gave effect to the following transactions:

e Shares in FMHL held by RFHL and its subsidiaries were transferred to RMB as
settlement for the US$13.3 ritlion debt owed by RFHL to RMB

= NSSA took over and agreed to repay the US$5.9 million debt owed by RFHL to
Econet including interest
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- . 7.2

7.3.3

e Econet agreed to sell its 15% shareholding in FMHL to N5SA

a  NSSA would effectively inject approximately US$24 million into RMB {being
US55.9 million paid ta Econet including interest, US$8.47 million of deposits
already held at RMB and USS9.8 million of fresh capital), This would result in
NSSA holding B4% in RMB, with RFHL being diluted down to 165 shareholding.

subsequent to the sisning of the agreement, AFHL held an Extraordinary General
Meeting (EGM) at which those REHL directors who signed the compaosite agreement
on behalf of RFHL were summarily dismissed. The curator chaltenged this dismissal
but a High Court Judgement upheld the dismissal of the directors, An appeat has
since been lodged against the judgment,

On 1 Mach 2012, a re-instatement and amendment agreement was signed with an
expiration date of 31 March 2012. Another agreement termed the {mplementation
agreement was signed on 2 March 2012 with no expiration date,

The curatorship was tifted in March 2012 and the bank was rebranded to Capital
Bank. An additional USS6 miltion was injected by NSSA in early 2013 and NSSA also
supported the Bank th rough placement of money market deposits.

Winding up of the bank and cases filed against Capitai Bank

In Gctober 2013, NSSA took a decision to wind up the bank and surrender the trading
licence ta the RBZ. As such, the board of Capital Bank wrote ta the Registrar of Banks
in January 2014 requesting cancellation of the bank's ticense. The directors resigned
on 3 June 2014 and the licence was cancelled by the'RBZ on 4 June 2014. An
application for the liquidation of the bank was filed on 18 June 2014. The foreclosure
of the bank was challenged by the employees of Capital bank and RFHL. According
to them, they did not believe that the bank could not trade as a going concern and
there were other remedies that could be implemented. The case is still before the
courts, The keys to the banks building were surrendered to the R87 who currently
have them in their custody.

There was no liquidator appointed by R8Z as is the norm. Instead, the application
for liguidation had to go before the courts. As such, this has created challenges for
NSSA as there has been no Board to act on behalf of Capital Bank, This has resulted
in various parties including Mr Timba issuing summaons against Capital Bark and have
obtained default judgments as there was nobody to act on behalf of the bank.

In June 2014, Mr Timba again filed a claim against the bank for RFHL to take transfar
of half of the shares in FMHL held by the bank. 4 default judgement was passed in
his favour. NS5A challenged this and 2 judgment has been reserved.

RFHL claimed US$10.9 million from the bank arising from re-capitatisation funds
deposited with the bank from September 2009 to March 2010, A default judgment in
favour of RFHL was delivered,

Subsequent events and new Board appointments :
NSSA appointed a five-member board to Capital Bank in duly 2017 made up of the
Current N33A executive management. Mr Timba was invited but dectined to attend
an EGM in Qctober 2017 to confirm the appointment of the directors.
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7.3.4 Investment in FMHL by NSSA

NS5A made a total investment of USS16 million in FML through the acquisition of
Econet's shareholdings and subsequent rights issue exercise. This resulted in NSSA
holding 51% of the shares effectively becoming 2 majority shareholder.

7.3.5 summary of investments made by NSSA

7.3.6

7.3.7

The following is a summary of investments mada by MSSA in both Capital bank and
FMHL:

Capital Bank (Formerly RMB)

° N35A entered intg a debt to equity arrangement for the USS8.47 miltion
unpaid maturities,

* N35A paid the debt owed to Econet of USSS5.9 million including interest,

= N55A made direct cash injection of U5S9.8 million as part of the acquisition
€ost.

* NSS5A injected a further USSb_miilion through a rights issue which it followed
alone. '

* N35A had investment ptacements of US$59.4 miilion secured by property
cessations and 26 million FMHL shares pledged as top security,

s« The bank utilised USS3 miltion intended for the financing of a plant upgrade
for Star Africa Corporation to settie the bank's depositors balances. The
amount was net recovered but was later secured by the 26 mitlion FMHL
shares. ’

s NSSA settied an amount of LS51.97 million to NORSAD Finance Limited on
behalf of Capital bank in 2015. .

= NSSA paid USS8 million to Econet for the 19% sharehelding.
»  NSSA paid USS1.8 million in a'rights issue exercise.
» N53A paid an additional U5$6.3 million as part of a rights issue.

Claims by Mr Timba against NSSA and Others

Mr Timba is claiming that he has suffered losses on RMB {currently known as Capital
Bank) and AFRE (currently known as FMHL) having been caused by z waiver and
settlement agreement signed on 19 December 201 1.

The loss was calculated to be U55526.6 miilion for the period from 2 March 2017 to
date. The amount was arrived at afrer taking into consideration what Mr Timba is
asserting tc be signed deals that were in place but could not be implemented due to
the changes that took place. He argues that the agreement was signed by former
directors of RFHL who acted without authority and in violation of the provisions of
the Companies Act and RFHL's Articles of Association,

Way forward
Before NSSA can decide on the position to take, we recommend the following:

Challenging ali defaul; judgments handed against Capital Bank

Capital Bark through their appointed Board should challenge all default judgements
delivered against it. All cases should be awarded a fair trial and representation.

Analyse and evaluate ail cases with the assistance of 2 legal expert
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NSSA should engage the services of a legal expert who can evaluate all the existing
legal cases relating to Capltal Bank. This will help the Authority to build its case
before going for arbitration and know whether it wilt be acting from a point of
strength or weakness.

Follow the arbitration route

There should be arbitration between all parties involved for a win-win outcome. This
should come after all cases have been assessed by NSSA and try to seek 3 bargaining
position.

Pursue the legal route

If the arbitration fails, NSSA should continue pursuing the legal route, This may
however, take time to get judgrnent which may increase legal costs.
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7.4.2 Properties with title not under NSSA's name

The Authority has twenty-seven properties which ft controls but the title is
not registered in its name. The list of such properties is detajted below:

R B eﬁt;f AOR Y LT L
Ndeda Street, . . The Worker's
Bindura Stand 576 Bindura Bindura Compensation Fund
2. | Ndada Street, - . The Worker's
Bindura >tand 576 Bindura Bmd‘ura Compensation Fund
3 The Minister of Public
Compensation Service, Labour and
House égﬁgg;;}g Bulawayo Bulawayo | Social Welfare as trustee
Bulawayo of the Workers
Compensation Fund
4. { Rehabilitation The Minister of Public
Centre Service, Labour and
{WCRC), Vera ;figi T/ h:;’DZ!A Bulawayo | Social Welfare as trustee
Rd, ayo 1/smp of the Warker
Barbourfields Compensation Fund
5. . The Minister of Public
Compensation . Service, Labour and
?Ec:.use , stands 58 - 59 Sinoia Chinhoyi | Social Welfare as trustee
inhoyi, T/ship 3
Masonic Lane of the Workers
Compensation Fund
6. The Minister of Public
Stand 361 . . Service, Labour and
Chinhoyi £/s49 %;a\ﬂndsh?m Chinhoyi Chinhoyt | social Welfare as trustee
High Street P of the Workers
Compensation Fund
7. The Minister of Public —[
Stand 1561 . Service, Labour and
Tshavani ?.:;::S;?m Tshovani Chiredzi | Sccial Welfare as trustee
Chiredzi e of the Worker
Campensation Fund
8. The Minister of Public
Stand 1562 . Service, Labour and
Tshovani ‘?.Ejaﬁ:s;?& Tshovani Chiredzi | Social Welfare as trustee
Chiredzi P of the Worker
- Cornpensation Fund
9, Stand 1173 [ Stand 1175 Tshovani Chiredzi The Worker's
Tshovani Township Compensation Fund
10. | Stand 1176 | Stand 1176 Tshovani Chiredzi The Worker's
Tshovani Township Compensation Fund
1.1 Stand 1175 Stand 1175 Tshovani Chiredzi | e Worker's
Tshovani Township Compensation Fund
12. | Stand 1176 | Stand 1176 Tshavani Chiredzi The Warker's
Tshovani Township Compensation Fund
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N 13, The Minister of Public
. . Service, Labour and
- ﬁgﬁzegi?;oun .Sr‘/“sﬁp 242 Gweru Gweru Social Welfare as trustee
of the Worker
- Compensation Fund
14, ‘ The Minister of Public
Service, Labour and
- i&t;;tfa GW:EUSS %?L’gsh?pws Mkoba Gweru Social Welfare as trustee
of the Worker
Compensation Fund
15. The Minister of Public
et Service, Labour and
étand B34 Stand 854 Senka Gweru Social Welfare as trustee
enka ;
of the Worker
e Compensation Fund
16, The Minister of Pubtic
Service, Labour and
SStand 856 Stand 866 Senka Gweru Social Welfare as trustee
s enia
of the Worker
Compensation Fund
17. The Minister of Public
- 22 Wentwaorth Service, Labour and
Rd, it/as?f 3069 Gweru Gwery Social Welfare as trustee
Southdowns P of the Worker
. - Compensation Fund
- - _ 18. |, The Minister of Public
Service, Labour and
g?:ggrties Park R/E/Glaudina A Harare Social Welfare as trustee
- of the Worker
Compensation Fund
: 19, The Minister of Public
' . Service, Labour and
- Compensation Sta_md 3374 Harare Social V;/elfare as trustee
House-Harare Salisbury T/ship of the Worker
Compensation Fund
- 20,1 ST Tropez | Stand 13301 Harare The Worker's
Apartments Salisbury T/ship Cornpensation Fund
21.] ST Tropez i Stang 13301 Harare The Worker's
Apartments Salisbury T/ship Compensation Fund
= 22,1593 Stand 593 Hwange H The Worker's
Empumalanga | T/S wange Compensation Fund
: 23.1593 Stand 593 Hwange The Workers
- Empumalanga | T/5 : fwange | Compensation Fund -
24, | 595 Stand 595 Hwange H The Worker's
Empumalanga | T/S wange Compensation Fund
25,1597 Stand 597 Hwange H o The Worker's
- ¢ Empumalanga | T/§ wange Compensation Fund )
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26. { Compensation The Worker's
House 3???;”;42 144 Fort Masvingo | Compensation Fund
Masvingo

27, | 7457 The Worker's
Tsvoritsvoto 1S“tand 7%57 Mucheke Masvingo | Compensation Fund
Rd. ownship

BT 7 i e e —_

Tsvoritsvoto stand 7?'58 Mucheke Masvingo | Compensation Fund
Rd. Township

» The properties are in the name of the fund or the parent Ministry, This
may create challenges in future should the responsible ministry claim

ownership of the properties.

To avoid these potential awnership challenges, it is advisable to have the

title in the name of NSSA.

7.4.3 Property written off from NSSA’s books

e

Land valued at US53,419,000 was written off in the 2016 financial
statements.

This is Chegutu Hintovilte land sold by Gabroc Investments to NSSA.
Title deeds had not yet been obtained due to legal disagreements
between Chegutu Municipality and Gabroc Investments.

Initially, there were reports that the land could not be located.
However, management reported to the Ministry that the land had been
located.

On further enguiry we were provided minutes of the Municipality of
Chegutu Council meeting hetd on 3 Novernber 2017%. At the meeting,
the Council resclved that Gabroc Investments be allocated 526
hectares of land subject to them paying rates and service charges from
the date of purchase.

NSS5A is following up with Gabroc Investments so that they can get title
to the tand.

¥ Exhibit 80- Municipality of Chegutu Minvies of 2 Meeting heid on 3 November 2017,
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7.5 Securitisation of NSSA funds of off-take housing agreements
7.5.1 Requirements

Investment Policy-dated 22 Septembar 2014

* Section 8.1.2 requires all investments in properties to be approved by the
Board.

Procurement regulations - Statutery Instrument Ho 18 of 2015

+ Formal tenders for goods and services start at US5500,000 while thase for
construction werks have a higher threshold of U552 millien.

« In 2018, the threshold for construction works was revised upwards to US$5
milliors.

Off-take agreement

*  Prior to commencement of works, the developer shall secure titte, develepment
rights and deliver the title deeds or copy of development rights to NSSA
nominated conveyancers or held in safe custody {or the duration of the project
OR prove that title is held securely by a reputable conveyancer, bank or other
institution,

NSSA Act

= Section 16 requires members to declare direct or indirect interest in companies
intending to do business with the Autharity.

7.5.2 Off-take housing agreements

This is an arrangement where someane with title to land and the capacity to develop
houses approaches NSSA and makes a proposal. The proposal would be to develop
houses and then sell them to NSSA at pre-agreed prices. NSSA pays the contracted
party a deposit which would be secyred by the land and where the value of the land
is not enough, the developer should take out an advance payment guarantee with a
reputable financial institution,
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.During the period under investigation, NSSA entered Into the fotlowing off-take
housing contracts: -

oi€ :
ARACH A TN v avyar E Y 3B ot SE "
Caledonia Housing Corporation 14 July 2017 | USS304m UsSiem Suspended
Zimbabwe [Private} Limited
Stateland- | metro Realty {Private) August 2017 | US516,955,125 | USS1,71m Suspended
Chinhoyi Limited
Se-lves- Metro Realty (Private) 24 july 2017 | (i) & {if) U556,145m | Suspended
Chinhoyi Limited
Muzenya- Drawcard {Private} Limited |3 Auvgust {ii} Us853,5m Not yet
Gwery 2017 started

ii.

It is pertinent to note the following;

ifi.

The contract does not state the mix of the houses to be delivered. See item
8.8.2 of this report. .
The contract does not state the price to be paid by NSSA for each house.

There was no competitive bidding which was done before awarding the contracts
thereby exposing NSS4 to avercharging.

None of the projects has progressed as per the time frames which are in the
contracts,

All the contracted developers have been identified elsewhere in this report as
related parties exposing the Authority to conflict of interest. There is no
evidence that NSSA invited other developers 1o submit proposals for similar
projects. This could have been done by placing an advert in one of the lacal
newspapers.

Save for Drawcard, none of the developers has a track record of executing
projects of the same magnitude.

The contracts were awarded without following NSSA due process. No due

diligence or investment appraisal was done.
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7.5.3 Housing Carporation Zimbabwe (Private) Limited - Caledonia Project

Harare

Background

= MSSA signed an off-take housing contract with Housing Corporation Zimbabjﬁe
(Private) Limited (HCZ) on 14 July 2017. The contract was for the construction
of 8,000 houses in Caledonia, darare” at a unit cost of U5$38,000 which
translates ta US$304 milion for the whole project. Ms Chitiga signed the contract
on behalf of NS5a, while Mr Stephen Duggan signed for HCZ.

« The agreement provided that the houses were going to be constructed on land
which HCZ had secured title.

Findings

a) Awarding of contract to Housing Corporation Zimbabwe (Private)
_Limited {"HCZ") or Housing Africa Corporation (“HAC™)

HCZ/HAC was introduced to NSSA by the then Board Chairperson, Mr Vela. HAC is
a South African company which was about & year old before peing awarded the
contract. The initial negotiations were between NSSA and HAC. However, a week
nefore the contract was.signed, HCZ, a 7imbabwean entity, was formed and
replaced HAC in the contract papers. The peopte behind HAC and HCZ are the
same and these are Mr Adam Molai, Mr Alec Nyatanga and Mr Stephen Duggan'®.

It is pertinent to note that a contract of USS304 million was awarded to a company
that was a week old despite the foltowing'®:-

. Local established developers were not invited (0 express an interest in
detivering a similar project.

« HCZ was given the contract despite not having title to the fand, the land is
owned by Caledonia Enterprises (Private} Limited. It is also pertinent to note
that there are other parties who claimed ownership of the same land from
Caledonia Enterprises. However, the ather parties lost the case.

. Wa did searches with the Registrar of Companigs. According to our search, we

established that there was no company calied Caledania Enterprises (Private)
Limited.

b) Involvement of Mr. Veta in awarding the contract

« According to Mr Chihota, NSSA officials came to know about HAC through Me
Vela. Mr Vela put pressure ‘on NSSA officials to fast track the awarding of the
contract to HAC/HCZ'™@, This is evidenced by the following e-mail
communications:-

# gxhibit 81- MCZ Caleconia off-take contract,

109 Exhibit 824-HCZ CR14

8% Exnibit 828- Certificate of Incorporation for HCZ

w2 Eeniblt OF - Questionnaire for Mr. Chihota page 6 {58).
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o in an e-mail dated 15 June 2017, Mr Vela wrote to Mr Chihota indicating
that he wanted the HCZ housing off-take agreement to be approve@t at the
next BIPC meeting’®. He went further to state that there was no time and

would want 10,000 units as soon as possible.

An e-mail dated 23 June 2017, Mr Chihota wrote to Nr Vela and stated that
he had met with the HCZ Technical Consultant and they hed agreed to
commence the project. #r Chihota also mentioned that he was trying to
negotiate the unit price down to the (5525,0001% proposed by NB5.

o In an e-mail dated 3 July 2017, Mr Vela stated that he wanted the three
ofi-take agresments, including HCZ, to be signed within that waek without

fail'o,

s  According to Mr. Yela, he admitted that he passed on the HCZ/HAC proposal to
NSSA. However, he indicated that the first propasal from Mr. Molai of HCZ was
received in February 2017 and the one in June 2017 was a second submission'®,

e As a resuit of the pressure from Mr Yela, the following procedures werg not

done:-
o Conducting a due diligence on HAC/HCZ.

o Appraising the proposal. According to Mr Chihota, NBS had indicated that
fouses which were being proposed by HCZ should not cost mare than
US525,000 per unit®®.  This was based on the costs incurred on the
Dzivarasekwa NSSA project where the building society delivered 4 roomed
houses at a price of $25,000 per unit. This based on Based on the contract
unit price of USS38,000, this exposed NSSA 1o a potential financial prejudice
of US$104 million on this project.

o Had it not been for the undue pressure from the Board Chairperson, the
proposed cost would have been properly interrogated resulting in a fair price
being agreed on.

o Also because of the pressure o award the contract, the propesal went
straight to the main board without being evaluated by the MIC and BIPC.

= We recommend that NSSA shoutd engage a quantity surveyor 1o carry cut a cost
appraisal on the Caledonia off-take housing project. This will confirm the exact
extent to which NSSA was financially prejudiced. in addition, the Surveyor's
repart can be used in court in the event of litigation.

¢) Securitisation

s On4 August 2017, NSSA paid an Off-take deposit of 1SS14 million to HCZ.

193 Exhibit 83- Email dated 16 June 2017, from Mr Vela to Mr Chihota.
104 Exhibit 84- E-mall dated 23 June 2017, from #r Chihota to Mr Vela.
195 Exhibit 85- Email by Mr Yela ta Mr Chihota.

0 Eehibit Q12 - Questionnaire for Mr, Vela page 9 (14a).

167 Exhibit Q¥ - Quastionnaire for Mr. Chihota page 8 (12a).

73



= The US516 million deposit was secured by an advance payment guaranteg {ssued
by Zimnat Lion Assurance Company Limited (Zimnat) dated 29 July 2017,

d) Performance by HCZ

« According to the contract, from date of payment of the deposit, HCZ should
have delivered 250 houses within 180 days. The deadline for the detivery of
the first batch of houses was during the second week of February 2018,

o The audit team visited the construction site on 16 August 2018 and noted that
there was no activity taking place,

= We noted that HCZ had completed 53 houses with 57 at various stages of
completion. This is contrary to the requirement of the contract.

o According to Mr Chihota, when HCZ failed ta deliver the houses as per the
contract, NS3A tried to recover the deposit it had paid by liquidating the USS16
mitlion advance payment guarantee at Zimnat'®. However, HCZ got an interdict
from the court to stop the payment to NSSA,

7.5.4 Metro Realty {Private) Limited - Chinhoyi Housing Projects

Background

° NS53A entered into an agreement with Metro Realty (Private) Limited. Metro
Realty was awarded two off-take housing contracts on 24 July 2017, The projects
are Stateland and St-lves projects in Chinheyt.

s InStateland contract, the developer was contracted to construct £95 houses. The
units would be developead as follows"™

o 133 units on 300 square metres stands and
o 362 units on 200 square metres stands

= On the St-lvas centract, the contractor was supposed ta construct 809 houses!?,

» For both contracts Ms Chitiga signed on behalf of NSSA and witnessed by Ms
Mugwira, the Group tegal Advisor & Board Secretarial Services. Mr Reuben
Muchete signed on behalf of Metro Realty and witnessed by Ms Zawanda, Metbank
Group Corporate Secretary and Head Legsl.

14 Exhibit 85-Zimnat Advance Paymant Guarantee dated 29 duly 2017,

"B Exhibit 87- Letter dated 25 July to Zimnat demanding the advance paymenz of U5S$16 million,
' Exhibit 88- Stateland project contract.

1 Exhibit 89- St ves project concract,
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Findings

a) Board Approval

= The Authority did not prov

projects were approved by the fpard before signing as required.

o However, we established that on 27
investments Division was circulated to ¢

Procurement Committee and the members for approval'?,

= The project was approved by the BIPC me
Gundane and Ms Tomana. Ms Chitiga was the on
Memorandum. We requested explanations from Mr C
head of investment properties, he did not sign

ide evigence that the stateland and St-lves

July 2017 a memorandum by the
he Chairperson of the lnvestment and

mbers, MrVela, Ms Mukondomi, Mr
ly exacutive who signed the
hihota on why, as the
the memorandum, Mr Chihota

told us that he did net sign because he did not believe that Metro Reatity had

the capacity to deliver the two projects given his
its sister company'™™,

« Further to this, we did not see evidence of the Boa
8 of the NS5A Act, asthe proposal was supposed
meeting of the Board.

b) identification of the developer

is knowledge of Metbank and

rd complying with Section
to be ratified at the next

. We nozad that Metro Realty is an Estate Agent company incorporated on § July
2045 trading under company number 50447201514, The company was formed six

months after the executive directors of Metbank and NS5A

had a series of

meetings in Minister Mupfumira’s office where she insisted that NS5A shoutd help

Metbank to sotve its tiquidity crisis in support of ZIMASSET.

«  Metrg Realty directors and owners r Qzias Bvute and Mr Be
senior exacutives at Metbank''3.

tment Ndebele are

e Mr Ozias Bvute is the Group Chief Executive Dfficer of Metbank while Mr Belmont

Ndebele is the Managing Director of the Bank.

»  From correspondences between NSSA and fetbank, Metro Realty is considered to
be a subsidiary of Metbank. As a result, ali business transactions entered with

Metro Realty were assumed to have been entered with Metbank,

« Meiro Realty’s operations are closely associzted to Metbank operations. For
instance, Ms Zawanda who is the Group Corporate Secretary and Head Legal for

Meibank witnessed the signing of Metro Reaity off-take agreements.

117 g xhitit 90-Mmemorandum fram fnvestments Division dated 27 Juty 2017 to the Chaieperson investment and

procurament Commitiee ang LS committess’ members,

113 £xhibit QY - Questionnaire for dv. Kura Chikola page 11 118)

114 £gnibit 914 Certificate of incarporation {or Metro Realty (Private) Limited
1S Exhibit 918- CR 14 for Metro Realty [Private) Limited

Exhibit 91C- Articles of Association for Matro Realty (Private) Limited showing the two shareholders
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s Metro Reality was awarded the two off-take housing agreements CORLracts
without going through tender procass as required.

+ We enquired from Mr Chihota the basis which was used to award the wo
contracts 1o Metro Reality. Mr Chihota totd us that the decision was made at 2
meeting Retd at Mr vela's offnces at Anesu Housé in Harare At thismeeting T NSSa—
was directed by tha Minister to sign the two off-take housing agreements within
48 hours"'®. The people who were present at that meeting were Honourable
Minister, P. Mupfumira, Mr Vela (NSSA), Mr Bvute (Metbank), Mr Ndebele
(Metbank), Mr Kundishora {Metbank), Mr Chihota (NSSA) and Mr Hungwe (NSSA).
However, he told us that there were na minutes taken on this meeting.

s According to Mr. Vela, he admitted that the abave meeting indeed took place at
his offices with the Honourable Minister . Mupfumira and Metbank officials in
attendance?’.

c) Involvement of the Minister in awarding the contracts
As a result of the undue pressure from the Minister, the following were not done.

« Due diligence on Metro Realty. This exposes NSSA to awarding contracts to
developers who have ne capacity to deliver.

= Investment apprafsal and competitive bidding - This exposes MSSA to financial
prejudice by being overcharged as the proposed price would not have been
interrogated.

d} Off-take price

« The off-take price for Stateland project houses exclusive of VAT is summarised
below:

g ’ : 200 5013 153005007
Two roomed USS20,348 5523,723
Three roomed 1S522,665 U$526,040
Four roomed U5523,750 Us527,125

» The St-lves project had ne stipulated price and the mix of the houses to be
constructed. This exposes the Authority to financial prejudice in the event of
future disputes.

&) Conditions Precedent

We examined all the conditions precedent to the project contracts to verify if they
were complied with. We detail below the conditions precedent where we noted
exceptions;

‘e Exh;bit Q9 - Questionnaire for M¢. Kura Chihota page 10 {15}
" Exhibit Q12 - Questionnaire for Mr, Vela page 12 {15)
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Stateland

3.4.1 | Approvat of the project by the No No evidence availed
Board of Directors of the
Devyeloper
377.2 | approval of the project by the No No Board appraval.
Board of Directors of NSSA
St-lves

1o NSSA att reguiatory and
municipal approvals to
implement the project
inciuding but not timited

to Physical Planning,
Environmental  Agency
Approval and City

Building permission

Sl e e Ly o g it i P e S Ay

3.1.1 | Approval of the praject No Payment to the developer was made
by the Board of Birectors pefore the condition was met. The
of the Developer Authority was furnished with the

document on 22 May 2018'"%.

3.1, | The developer furnishing No Payment to the develaper was made
NS5A with an sefore the condition was met, The
unconditional and Authority,  was_ furnished  with the
irrevocable performance document on 22 May 2018, B
bond of USS6, 145 million
issued by an insurance
company or a bank in the
form acceptable to NSSA
and valid for the duration
of the project.

3.1.4 | The developer submitting No Payment to the developer was made

before the condition was met, The
Authority was issued with the document
an 22 May 2018'%.

'8 Exhibit 92-Letter dated 2@ say 2018 from Mr duchete Director Metro Realty with atlached documents.

1 £xhibit 92-Letter dated 2

Ly Exhib May 2078 from Mr Muchete Birec
1 Exhibit 972-Letter dated 22 May 2018 from Mr Muchete Diractor Me

tar Metro Realty with attached documents.

tro Realty with attached documents.
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f) Securitisation

Stateland project

At first the project was secured by Metbank perfarmance bonds on behalf of NSSA
hrokent dewn as shown in the table below:

ST

587, 323.35

ad 33 S ass
Being total U554,
consideration of 84
hectares {and in
Chinhoyi

3 august 2017 MET/BG/1702'%, Ta cover servicing USS3,172,676.65
costs of the land.

24 July 2017 MET/BG/1701180

« According to NSSA records, Metbank was facing liquidity crisis. At first this
resulted in NSSA refusing to accept the guarantee issued by Metbank.

= On 4 September 2017, Metro Realty was paid a deposit of US514,710,000 of the
(S85,100,000 deposit required leaving a balance of US$3.4 million™*.

s The deposit paid is secured by an Agreement of Cession over the land entered
into between Metro Realty and NS5A in August 2017. Metro Realty signed the
cession agreement after Millytake Enterprises {Private) Limited, the seller of
the land, had given Metro Realty authority to cede the land to NSSA™,

St-lves project

« N53A paid an off-take deposit of US38,145 million. The deposit was paid in
two instalments of USS3 mitlion and US3,145 miliion on 4 August 2017 and 6
September 2017 respectively'ss,

« The project was secured by a performance bond of USS3,145,000.00 from
Clarion insurance Company, referenced as BO/2017/9/000278%,

= The bond covered the period from 24 July 2017 to 25 July 2018 and was for
the construction of 200 units.

= The Us53 million for the land was secured by a cessionary agreement in favour
of NS5ATT,

121 Exhibit 93A-Advance Payment Guaraniee Stateland by Metbank dated 24 Juty 2017

122 £vhibit 938-Advance Payment Guarantes Stateland by Metbank dated 03 August 2017

"3 Exhibit 94- Payment of US51,740 mitlion deposit for the Stateland project.

YHMExhibit 95- Letter dated 8 August 2017 Lo Metro Realty authorising cading of land to third parties.
125E xhibit 96- Payments of USS3 millicn and USS53,145 millien to Metro Realty.

12 Exhibit 97- Performance Bond by Clarion Insurance Company for §t-lves,

7 Exhinit 98- Agreement of Cession batween Metro Realty and NSSA for St lvas land. Please note the
agreement is not dated,
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g) Delivery

Stateland project

The project had not yet commenced as at the date we yisited the site on 13 August
2018. The reason given is that Melro Realty stopped work on all NSSA projects
following the dispute on NSSA TBs with Metbank.

St-lves project

By the date we visited the site on 15 August 2018, a total of 202 houses had
been completed.

We inspected one house (other houses were locked hence could not be
inspected) and it had developed cracks on the floor before occupancy. This
raises questions on the quality of work done and exposes the Authority to
sotentizl financial losses.

Image: Cracked Floor of a I roomed hause inspectes which has not been occupied.

h) Gispute between NSSA and Methank affecting the project

There is a dispute over TBs between NSSA and metbank which has spilled into
the courts.

The dispute resulted in Methbank advising NSSA that due 1o the cOwrt Drocess
tney were putting all transactions with NS3A on hold.

This court process has stalied the off-teke housing projects.

As_a result of the dispute, NSSA is now exposed to the tune of US35,1 rnitlion,
being the deposit secured by a guarantee from Metbank.
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7.5.5 Drawcard Enterprises (Private) Limited-Gweru Housing Scheme

- Backeround

« NSBA entered into an agreement with Drawcard Enterprises (Private) Limited.

. The agreement was for the construction of 1,000 units in Muzenya, Gwerl which

- were to be delivered in four batches. The agreement provided that the houses

‘were going to be constructed on land owned by Drawcacd and was signed on 3
August 2017.

= The contract was signed by Mr Barnabas Matongera who was the Acting Generat
- Manager and witnessed by Ms Mugwira, the Group Legal Advisor & Board
Secretariat Services on behalf of NSSA™S, . R

°  Mr Muzenya signed the contract on behalf of Drawcard and witnessed by Ms
- Zawanda the Group Corporate Secratary and Head Legal for Metbank.

Findings
a) Board Approval

= There was no evidence that the Drawcard project was approved by the Board,
) : = The above is in contravention of the provisions of Paragraph 8, Subparagraph
8.1.2 of the N5$A Investment Palicy,

b) ldentification of the developer and investment agpraisal

= There was no evidence that the selection of Drawcard went through a tender
process as required.

= There is evidence that Drawcard was awarded this contract because of its
relationship with Metbank as evidenceg by the foilowing;

. o ina letter dated 3 August 2017, Ms Mugwira forwarded copies of the off.
_ { take agreements between NSSA and Drawcard to Ms Zawanda the Group
: Corporate Secretary and Head Legal for Metbank'®,

\ : o On signing of the Drawcard agreement, Ms 2awanda witnessed on behalf of
. : Orawcard. She also witnessed Metro Realty off take housing agreements for
: Stateland and St-ives.

, o We ncted correspondences dated 10 November 2017 and 15 May 2018,
- k written by Mr Muchete a Director at Metro Realty addressed to Mr Chihota
communicating Drawcard project issues!it

; = Mote that Metro Reality (Private) Limited was also awarded two off-take housing
— f projects on 24 July 2017 as reported in item 8.8.1 of this report,

—- 12 She stated that she was not invelved in tne drafting of the contrace, she only withessed,
125 Exhitit 59- Letter dated 3 August 3017 from Ms Mugwira to Ms Zawanda,
130 Exhibit 100+ Brawcard contract dated 3 August 2017.
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c) Off-take price .
. The agreement did not provide the price at which N55A was aoing to buy the
houses. By the nature of the project, price is a key element of the contract.
This exposed the Authority to financial prejudice in the event of future
disputes,
« We have noted that the project has not yet commenced due to disagreements
relating to the purchase price of the houses.

. We interviewed Ms Mugwira and she told us that the MNSSA legal department was
ot involved in drafting the contract, She reveaied that the Authority engaged
Dube Manikai and Hwacha Legal Practitioners to do the contract, However, we
noted that she witnessed the signing of the contract.

d) Conditions precedent

We examined ali the conditions precedent to the project contract to verify if they
were complied with. We detail below the conditions precedent where we noted
exceptions; ’

3.1.1 | Approval of the project by A.depaslt\;(aé pﬁld to the developer before

the Board of Diractors of the conditiamrwasmet. Payment was made
the Developer on 29 September 2017 and the Drawcard
Board approval was forwarded to N554 on 15
May 20181,
3.1.2 | approvel of the project by | Ne There was ne Beard approval as required by
the Board of Directors of the Investrnent Folicy.
NSSA
3.1.3 | The developer furnishing Ne Payment to the developer was made on 29
NSSA with an uncanditional September 2017, this was hefore the band
and irrevocable was registered. The Authority received the
performance bond of USS3 proof of the bond dated ¢ November 27 as
million issued by an evidenced by Mr Muchete's letter dated 15

insurance | may 2018'%,
i company or & bank in the 3
form acceptable to N3SA
and valid for the duration
of the project.
3.1.4 | The devsioper submitting Ne The Environmental Management Agency and
| to HSSA all regulatery and | City buiiding approval were not in place.
municipal approvais o E However, EMA application was done on 12
imptement the project : February 2018 as indicated on fee note
including but not Hmited to E 200545019,
!
i
i

Fhysical Flanning,
Environmental Agency
Approval and City Building
permission

‘:: Exhibit t0t- Letter dated 13 May 207% from Mr Muchete, a Director Metro Realty with attached documents.
:u Exhib!t 101- Letzer dated 15 May 2018 from mr Muchete, a Director Metro Realty with attached documents.
Exhibit 101- Letter dated 15 May 2018 from Mr Muchete, a Director with Metro Realty
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e,

e) Securitization

Servicing of land

+ Servicing of the land at a cost of US53,5 million was secured by @ Mortgage Bond
against the land under bond number 0001928/ 3017 in favour of N5SA. The

hond was registered on 22 September 2017.

Performance guarantee

o Performance was secured by a performance bond of US53 million issued by the
Export Credit Guarantee Corporation of Zimbabwe {Pvt) Limited (ECGC)Y'™*. The

bond was issued on 9 November 2017, under Guarantee

MNumber:

BND/2017/000161. It covered the period from 9 Mgvernber 2017 to 8 November

2020,

. Confirmation received from ECGC showed that outstanding premiums of
1U5545,000 had not been paid by Drawcard™®. This exposes the Authority to

potential financial prejudice.
f) Depesit

« The total deposit stipulated in the contract was US56,5 million.

o Despite non-availability of Board approval, we noted that en 28 September 2017,
Mr Chihota wrate a Memorandum to the Chief Finance and Operations Officer,
wherein he was requesting reiease of funds 0 Drawcard. Approval was granted

by Mr Matongera.

. On 29 September 2017, NSSA paid a deposit of LiS$3,5 miilion for servicing o

leaving a batance of USS3 million for performance'™.

fland

« Mr. Matongera stated that he approved the payment based on the
recommendation made by Mr. Chihota that the developer had fulfilled conditions
to have the mortgage band in place', On the other hand, Mr Chihota stated that
he was requested by the Strategic Assistant, Mr. James Chiuta te make the
requisition of the US$3,5 million while the performance guarantee was being
processed'”. Both Mr. Matongera and Mr. Chihota did not consider the fact that

the project was not approved by the Board before approving the payment.

g) Delivery

The project has not cammenced due 1o the dispute over the purchase price of the

houses.

M Exhibit 102- Deed of Surety in favour of N3SA,

135 Exhibit 103- Export Credit Guarantee Carporatien perforinance bond in favour of Orawcard.

25 Exhibit 104- Conflrmation of bond by Expart Credit Guarantee Corporatinn
27 Exnibit 105- Payment of US53.5 miltion to Drawcard.

D& Exhipit Q2 - Questionnaire for Mr. Matongera page 4 (5b}

29 Exnibit (39 - Questionnaira for Mr. Chihota page 15 {17b}
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8 Human Resources

8.1 Establish whether executive' management recruited from 2015 - 2017 had
been recruited in terms of NSSA pelicy and labour laws

8.1.1 Requireménts on recruitment

= MNSSA Act

=]

Appointment of the General Manager is provided by Section 25(1){a} of the
Act which requires approval by the Minister,

Appointment of other employees is guided by Paragraph 9 of the Schedule
to Section 22 of the Act which states that approval rests with the
Authaority.

= The NSSA Human Resources Management Guidelines {“The Guidelines")

o Paragraph 1.1 (2)- provides that if a vacancy occurs, existing employees

must first be considered for the position. Reasons why an internal
candidate was not suitable must be written down and kept.

Paragraph 1.2- provides that candidates who qualify for the vacancy shail
be shortlisted and these candidates will be the ones to be interviewed.

Paragraph 1.3 (c)- provides that an offer shail be made in writing and if
an offer is not accepted within ten working days, it shalt be deemed to
have been rejected. The next suitable candidate may then be given the
offer, or the post may be re-advertised. ;

Section C -Recrujtment Sources- the Authority should make use of the
following recruitment sources; press adverts, unsolicited applications,
circulation of vacancies, Universities, Ministry of Public Service Labour and
Social Welfare and employment agencies.

Paragraph 2.3- states that "It is Authority's policy that promotion from
within should occur whenever possible. Internal candidates must be

accorded the courtesy of an intarview depending on whether they meet
the prerequisites.
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Finding;s
8.1.2 Schedufe of Executive Managers recruited from 2015-2017

We show below the list of executives recruited from 2015 to 2017:

LA il 124 et AT LD T DR
Elizabeth Chitiga General Manager E1
Emerson Mugwariri Director Finance & Operations £2 1 July 2016
David Makwara Investments Director E2 10 January 2018
Kurauwone Chihota Chief Properties Investments £3 1 July 2016

Officer

Herbert Hungwe Chief investrments Officer E3 1 August 2016
Chikuni Mutiswa Chief Strategic Assets Officer E3 1 July 2016

Promoted from senior managers to Executive roles in November 2017

Chakanyuka Chief Strategic Assets Officer £ 1 September 2012

Nziradzemhuka'® i

Vimbat Farisai Dirorimwe Finance & Cost Management E3 1 April 2017
Executive .

Cynthia Tendai Mugwira Group Legal Advisor & Board E3 1 July 2017 :
Secretarial Services Executive

James Tirvavi €hiuta Strategic Assistant to the General [— E3 1 April 2017
Manager

Takura Pwiti Human  Capital &  Talent E3 1 April 2077
Management Executive

Tambudzai Perpetua ICT & Digital Strateay Executive | E3 18 September

Chimeura 2017

Recruitment process

8.1.3 Appointment of the Generai Manager

¢ We established that the Authority outscurced the services of identification and
shertlisting of candidates to Standton Chase',

» The interviews for the position were held by Board Members Ms Mukwehwa, Mr
Phiri and Ms Mukondomi on 7 Aprit 2016,

""" Mr tjlz‘iradzemhuka is 2 NSSA employee who was promoted to this vacanz position.
* Exhl_tnt 10§- Stantan Chase - Comprehensive profiles of potential candidates for the position of: Chisf
Executive Officer NSSA.
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Stanton Ghase shorslisted five candidates who are Ms Mothands Neubg, M3 Rachel
Kupara, Ms Tanya Chikanza, Mr Michael Nyamazana and Mr Henry Chikova a N53A

Employee'2,

The interview panel compiled an interview score sheet which we analysed, and
the outcome is shown below'3,

iE el Melnterview scorgiPareentate:

Rachel Pfungwa Kupara 90%

Tanya Chikanza 85%

Elizabeth Chitisa 83%

Rita Likukuma 50%

Nothande Ndebele Absent Absent

Mr Chikova an internal candidate who was on the shortlist was not interviewed,
The guidetine requires consideration of employees first. We did not see evidence
supporting why he was not considered as required,

Our investigation revealed that Ms Elizabeth Chitiga and Ms Rita Likukuma were
interviewed when they had not been shorttisted. This was a contravention of
paragraph 1.2 of the Guidelines.

The document used by the interview pane! had two additional candidates Ms
Chitiga and Ms Likukuma and dropped Mr Nyamazana and Mr Chikova'™,

The job was offered te Ms Elizabeth Chitiga who came third in the interviews.
Ms Mukwehwa advised us that she forwarded the results of the interviews ta Mr
Veta and she does not know what further considerations were made to
recommend the third best candidate to the parent Ministry'*.

According to Mr. Yela, the names of the tep candidates received from the HR
Cammittee were passed to the parent Ministry for approval and vetting process.
The Ministry approved the candidate to be appointed™, Hawever, there is no
written evidence te show Ministerial approvat,

Ms Chitiga’s appointment was approved by the Minister on 27 July 2016 with the
effective date of employment being 1 July 2018™7.

"2 Mr Chikova was the Director Benefits in NSSA.

" Exhibit 107-Interview score sheet far the pasition of General Manager,

"4 Exhibit 108- List of shortlisted candidates used for the interview of the General Manager
3‘5 Exhibit Q16 - Questionnaire for Ms. Mukwehwa page 5 {5¢)

& Exhibit Q12 - Questionnaire for Mr. Vela page 6 {9},

Y7 Exhibit 109+ Ms Chitigz appointrment letter,

85




) 8.1.4 Appointment of Other Executives

a)

Chief Finance and Operations Officer

The interviews far this position were conducied by Mr Phiri, Ms Mukwehwa and
Ms Mukondomi on 4 April 2016,

‘The Authority outsourced the services of identifying and shortlisting of
candidates to Proserve Executive Appointments Consulting Group (Proserve)'®,

Proserve shortlisted seventeen external candidates and five internal candidates,

Five external candidates and one employee Mr Stanley Kuodza were interviewed
for the jab.

An anzlysis of interview scere sheets and the outcome is as shown below!?,

iName Fintervieirscore: JRanking

Michet Gotore 45 15t
Emersan Mungwariri 44 2ne
Farai Manyemba 43 3
Heritage Nhende 42 4th
Clemence Muzondo 23 5in
Stanley Kuodza 14 6t

The post was filled by Mr Emersen Mungwariri who came second in the interviews.

We were not availed with a copy of job offer to Mr Michel Gotore who came first
in the interviews. This is contrary to the Guidelines.

We noted that the Authordty recruited external candidates without first assessing
or considering internal employees cantrary to the Guidelines.

Ms Mukwehwa told us she forwarded the interview results to Mr Vela and she does
not know what further considerations were made to appoint the second-best
candidate’™®,

According to Mr, Yela, the names of the top candidates received from the HR
Committae were passed to the Ministry for approval and vetting process. The
Ministry approvec the candidate to be appointed!® . However, there is no written
evidence to show Ministerial approval also according to the NSSA Act, the
position is not designated hence did not require approval by the Minister,

¥e can confirm that the provisions of Paragraph 1.3 (¢) on offer of emgployment
was not complisd with,

1t Exhibit 110- Proserve Consulting Geoup - Initial Shortlist Candidates Sumimary: March 2016 for position af
: Chial Finance and Gperatiens Officer.
— M9 Exhibit 113 Consolicated nterview Rating Summary for pesition of Chief Finance and Operations Officer,
150 Exhibit Q16 - Guestionnaire lor Ms Mukwehwa page & (6.
13 Exhibit Q12 - Questionnaire for Mr, Veta page 6 {104,
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b} Director investments

. The interviews for the position of the Directar investments were hetld en 14
December 2017. The interview panel consisted of Ms Mukwehwa, Ms Tomana, Mr
Phiri, Ms Muikondomi and Ms Chitiga was the executive manager on the panel.

o We notad that the Autherity .outsourced the carvices of identifying and
shortlisting of candidates to Proserve Consulting Group (Proserve)’sz.

. There were no documents provided to prove that internal candidates were
considered first for this position as required. This could have disenfranchised
internal candidates whe would have wanted to apply.

» Proserve submitted Curricutum Vitaes for six candidates who Were alk
interviewed.

. Tabulated below is the summary of interview resutts! and the Human Resources
Expert Report analysi

515«1_

Mathias Ndlovu a85%

David Makwara B0% 20 High Risk
Robert Chihota 70% 3¢ High Risk
Zvenyika Zvenyika 70% 3 Low Risk
Phoebe Lynn Garemusaadu 60% 4 -
Regereral Taniwa John Mapiye 55% 5ih -

« The job was offered ta Mr David Makwara who came second in the interviews and
was a High-Risk candidate according to the Human Resources Expert Report.

= Mr Ndiovu, whe came first was not offered the job. There was no svidence of a
job offer and decline by Mr Ndlovu,

s Ms Mukwehwa said that she forwarded tha interview results Lo Ms Chitiga and she
do=s not know why the secend-best candigate was given the job'®,

a  Ms Chitiga was not available to commens on the matier.

¢) Chief Property investments Officer

»  The interviews for the position of the Chief Property investments Officer were
neld by Board rmembers Mr £ Phirl, N Mukwehwa and M Mukondomi on 8 April
2018,

151 Exhibit 112 Prosarve sdvert for the position of Diregtar ipvestments.

153 Exhinit 113-Interview Score Sheet for the bosition of Director Investments dated 14 December 2017,
154 Exhibit 114- Part of the Report by Memory Nguwi Human Resources Expert

155 Fyhinit Q16 - Quastionnaire for Ms Mukwehwa page 7 (7a). '
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« The authority outsourced the services of identifying and shortiisting of

candidates to Stanton Chase™®,

ove that internal candidates were considered first

¢ There was no evidence to pr
| candidates

for this position as required. Thiscould have disenfranchised interna
who would have wanted to apply.

On 24 March 2016, Stanton Chase shortlisted four candidates to be interyiewed.

s  Ali the candidates were interviewad,

An analysis of interview scare sheets and the outcome is as shown below.

“Narme '_ fi't'éﬁﬁ'éﬁzl's‘é’cifé’l?ér.éieht-a'gé?."5‘!'-"2:

Kurauwone Chihcta 90%

Boni Muvevi 88% 2
Justin Dowa #0% 3
Alan Khatso 55% 4tk

« The job was offered to Mr Kurauwone Chihota.

d) Chief Investments Officer

» The interviews for the position of the Chief Investments Officer were hetd by
Board Members Me E. Phiri, N Mukwehwa, Mr Biyam and Ms Mukondomi on 8 April

2016.

« The Authority outsourced the services of identifying and shortlisting of
candidates to Standton Chase'™.

« The Autherity did not provide evidence that internal candidates were considered
first for this position s requlred. This could have disenfranchised internal
candidates who would have wanted to apply. ‘

« 0On 24 March 2018, Stanton Chase shortlisted five candidates tc be interviewed,

o An analysis of interview score sheets and outcome is as shown below!',

Namey b g e FInterview. scoré.Percentages: Ranking
Herbert Hungwe 50% *
Chikuni Mutiswa 90% 1%
Tawanda Munaiwa 28% 2ne

| Ritesh Anad 65% e
Tapjwa Maswera 55% 4t

::: Exhihit 18- Stanton Chase - faitial Snortlist Candidates for Chief Property investments Officer: April 2016
Exhibit 116- Stanton Chase - Comprenensive prafites of potential candidates for the position af: Chiat

Invesiments Officer NS84
158 Exhibit 117- Interview Scoresheet position of Chief investments Officer
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The post was fitled by Herbert Hungwe. Mr Hungwe had the same score with Mr
Chikuni Mutiswa, As a result the Board Chairperson wrote to the Minister on 11
June 2016 seeking authority to appoint Mr Mutiswa to a new role of Chief
Strategic Asset Officer. This was duly approved by the parent Minister.

8.1.5 Managers promoted ta the executive role

There are 6 managers who were promoted to executive levels during the period
under investigation. They are as follows:

=

Chakanyuka Chief Strategic Assets | 1 Sep 2012 31 Oct 7 months
Nziradzemhuka' Officer 2017
Vimbai Farisal Finance & Cost | 1 Apr 2017 1 Dec 8 months
Dirorimwe Management Executive 2017
Cynthia Tendai Group Legal Advisor & | 1 Jul 2017 1 Dec 5 manths
fugwira Board Secretarial 27
Services Exacutive
James Tirivavi Strategic Assistant to the | 1 Apr 2017 1 Dec & months
Chiuta General Manager 2017
Takura Pwiti Human Capitat & Talent | 1 Apr 2017 1 Dec 8 months
Management Exscutive 2017

L

Tambudzai Perpetua | (€T & Digital Strategy { 18 Sep 2017 1 Dec
Chimeura Executive 2017

8.1.6 Significant change of grades

a

NSSA has grades for its staff and managers, which are Grade 7 to Grade 18,
with Grade 18 being senior managers. It also has grades for executives, which
are £1, €2 and £3, with £1 being the General Manager.

When the zbove manzgers were promoted to executive roles, we noted
instance where ane of thern moved from grade 14 to £3. The analysis for all
managers prometed on 1 December 2017 is as fotlows:

" far Nriradzemhuia is a M3SA employee whe was promated 1o this vacant position,
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be
V5 AT

i B EE e A promot ;

Chakanyuka Chief  Strategic  Assels 15 £3 4

Nziradzemhuka Officer

Vimbai Farisai Finance & Cost 16 E3 3

Dirprimwe Management Executive

Cynthia Tendai Mugwira Group Legal -Advisor & 18 E3 1
Goard Secretarial Services

- | Executive

James Tirivavi Chiuta Strategic Assistant to the 14 E3 5
General Manager

Takura Pwiti Human Capitat & Talent 15 . .E3 -4
Management Executive

Tambudzai Perpetua iCT & Digital Strategy 16 E3 3

Chimeura Executive

= Moving more than one grade at a time is unusual and there weutd have ta be
justification as to why. In this instance, no performance appraisals were done.
Except for Mr Nziraazemhuka ail ather managers had been in their roles for less

than a year.

= Ms Chitiga who made the recommendations for promotions ta the Board was not
available to comment.

8.1.7 Initial appointment of Ms Mugwira

8.1.8

Four of the five managers who were appointed by the Robin Vela lad board came
first in their interviews except for Ms Mugwira. Ms sugwira came second and Ms
Mukwehwa who chaired the interview panet did not have an explanaticn as to how
she got the jobr ahead of the best candidate. Ms Mukwehwa referred us Lo Ms
Chitiga who was not availabie to comment, '

Promotion of James Chiuta

Mr Chiuta jurnped four grades from Grade 14 to Grade E3. This is unusual
considering that no formal performance appraisal was done tc motivate the fact
that he was an exceptionatly good performer. Me Chiuta was promoted despite the
fact that he had acted without authority by writing a letter to Metbank authorising
them to use U5537,350,000 NSSA treasury bills which were in their custody. The
act exposed NSSA to & potential financial loss of USS37,350 million and the TBs
have not been récovered ta date. Mr Chiuta wrote the latter in question on 7
October 2017 and he was promoted on 1 Decamber 2017, He is currently on
suspension because of the #Metbank letter {ssue.

It is also pertinent to note that whan Mr Chiuta was recruited, he was awarded an
average score of 100% by five panellists. This is very unusual. On enguiry from Ms
Mukwehwa who was Chairperson of the panel, she confirmed that Mr. James Chiuta's
performance at the interview was outstanding™®, We are yet to receive Ms Chitiga’s
comment in regard to the promotica of Mr, Chiuta,

116 Exhibit Q16 - Questionnaire tar Ms, Nester Mukwehwa page 15 [15).
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8.2 Establish if current remuneration framework had been approved by the
Board and parent Ministry

B.2.1 Requirements

NSSA Act

« Paragraphs 9 and 10 of the Schedule ta Section 22 of the Act gives the Autharity
powers to;

o Employ and set terms 2ad conditions to persons as may be necessary for
conducting its affairs ang

¢ Topay remuneration and allowances and grant such leave of absence with the
approval of the Minister,

NSSA Human Resources Managzement Guidelines {*The Guidelines")

» Paragraph 3.4 (a) requires the Authority to classify posts by grade and title which
are approved by the Board upon recommendations from management.

o Paragraph 3.4 (b} provides that employees are appeinted at the first step of the
salary scale of that grade.

Findings

8.2.2 Remuneration framewark from July 2015 ta March 2016

e The existing board took office in July 2015. Upon taking office, the Board adopted
& remuneration framework that was in place’s?.

8.2.3 Remuneration framework fram Aprit 2016 to June 2016

= Wenoted that on 29 March 2016, the Authority forwarded a Memorandum to the
Minister seeking approval of the remuneration framework.

 The Minister approved the proposed remuneration framework on § Aprif 2016,

* The rernuneration framoework approved was {or eight executives and details of
the positions and remuneration are shown betow;

'8t Exhibit 118- Letter dated 76 May 2016 with the approved Remuneration Framework. (Refer tu page with
the Current Structure)
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8,2.4 Remuneration Framework fram July 2074 to November 2017

8.2.5

In 3 Mernorandum dated 11 June 2017, Mr Vela wrote to the Minister seeking
approval of a proposed management team ™2,

The proposed management comprised of seven managers as detailed in the
table below.

“Name Jotrtitie el

Elizabeth Chitiga General Manager

Emerson Mugwariri Chief Finance and Operations Officer

Herbert Hungwe Chief Investments Officer

Chikuni Mutiswa Chief Strategic Assets Officer

Kurauwane Chihota Chief Property Investments Officer

Henry Chikova Chief Social Security Officer

Barnabas fiatongera Chief Contributions and Compliance Qfficer

Betty Myereyegona Chief Occupational Health and Safety Cfficer
Andrew Nyazkonda Chief Audit Executive'® |

[

The Memorandum hightighted the issue of the recently approved remuneration
framework where he proposed to give the team monthly salaries capped as
foliows;

Chief Executive Officer  US$17,230
- All gther executives Lis515,080

The effect of the Memorandum changed tne structure and remuneration
framewcrk approved on 5 April 2016, [t scuzht to align the new appointments
to the remuneration framework,

Spectal mention of Henry Chikova {Chief Social Security Officer) and Barnabas

Matongera (Chief Contributions and Compliance Officer} was rmade and they
were geiting USS16,587 and US$16,403 respectively. An atternpt was going to
be made to align their salariss with the other Executives.

The Minister approved the new proposed management team and the
remunerzation framework on 28 June 2016.

Existing remuneration framework from December 7017 to date

.a)

Approval of the Remuneration framework without evidence of
Minister invalvement

‘:‘ Exhibit 119 Memorandom dated 24 June 2016, seetung approval with the management tezm
) We have inciuded andrew Nyakonda, the Chief internal Auditor was not included in the Hemorandum.
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We noted that on 12 September 2017, the Human Resources, Remuneration
and Nominations Committee held a meeting. At that maeeting a resolution was
passed to review management remuneration framework?®:,

The minutes did not detail the managers, grades and remuneration levels to
be affected.

Cn 17 November 2017, Mr Vela wrote to Mr Masoka, Permanent Secretary in
the Ministry, seeking appraval of a new executive management structure and
review of the remuneration structure,

We noted that the approval was granted by Mr Masoka. According to the NSSA

‘Act approval was supposed 1o be from the Minister.

NS5A effected changes to the remuneration frameweork based on this approval
with effect from December 2017.

As 2 result of the Permanent Secretary’s approval of the remuneration
framework Lo executive management, payroll costs increased.

Quantification of satary increase

We quantified the.salary increase resulting from the Permanent Secretary's
approval for ten months from December 2017 to September 2018,

Quantification is shown in the table below.

% 7o il
Elizabeth General £1
Chitina Manager 17,470 18,939 1,469 4
Director
Barnabas Contributions £2
Matongera & Compliance - 15,210 16,453 1,243 10 12,436
Director
e
Vacant Director
Benefits £ 15,210 16,453 1,23 ©
Emerson U 10
M . £2 -
ugwariri Onerations 15,210 16,433 1,243 12,430
David Investments £2
Makwraraes Director 16,4513 16,453 3 49,159

184 Exhibit 120- Minutes of the Special Human Resources, Aemuneration and Neminations Committee

Meeting of 12

September 2017,

‘% This is a new positien created after the Permanent Secretary's approval
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Chief  Audit 10

A Nyakonda Executive 8 12,650 12,650 -
Chief 0

Herbert Hungwe lc;\é?csetTents £3 15,210 15,210 | . i .
Chief OHS & 0

8. Nyereyegons S?Piigi“tamn E3 15,210 15,210 3 .
Chief

Kurauwone Properties £ 10

Chihota Investments 15,21¢ 15,210 - .
Officer
Chief Sociai 0
Security E3 15,216 15,210 .

c Chief 0

. Strategic E3 . B 1

Nziradzamhuka Assets Officer 15,210 15,210
Finange a

Vimbai Farisai | Cost £3 10

Darorimwe fanagement 9,189 12,630 3,461 34,610
Lxecutive
Growg Legal
Advisar &

Cynihia Tendai | Boarc £3 10

Mugwira Secrearial 3,415 12,850 3,235 32,350
Services
Executive
Human
Capitat & _

Takura Pwiti Nomemene | 8,890 | 12,650 3760 | 19 37,600
Executive

Tambudzai - [ ICT & Digital

Ferpetua puraesy 3 9,415 12,650 1,235 10 32,350
Strategic

James Tirivavi | Assistant  to £1 10

Chiuta the General 5,291 15,210 8,919 89,190
Manager

[ Total 195,000 | 235,261 | 44,261 291,089

* Additionat cost fo NSSA resulting from the Permanent Secretary's approval
amounted o U55291,089 as shown {n the above table,

B.2.6 Approvalof bonuses

a) Financial year 2015

in 2015, the Authority paid a 13 cheque ar ane-month basic salary as bonus to ail
non-managerial employees. Managers and executives were paid 30% of their
monthly basic salaries as bonus1%s,

1 Exhibit 121- Memorandum on sayment of 2015 bonus.
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There was no evidence that the Minister approved the bonuses as required by the
NSSA Act.

by Financial year 2016
No bonus was paid to employees. This is supported by a Memor.andum dated 5
December 2016 from the General Manager, addressed to all staff*’.

¢) Financial year 2017
* According to the resolution dated 16 February 2018 signed by Mr Vela:

o Non-manageriat employees were paid a 13% cheque and the total cost to
the Autherity was USS$800,099. .

o Managerial and executive employees were paid 60% of their anaual basic
salary in accordance with the performance reward framework, The total
payment was U351,029,939.

o The tatal bonuses amounted to US$1,830,019'8,

The following irregularities were noted:

o Mr Vela sought approval for payment of the bonuses from Mr. Masoka
on 17 November 2017 before board approval on 30 November 2017, Mr
Vela misrepresented in his letter that the Board had already approved
the bonuses™?,

o Appraval of bonuses were granted by the Permanent Secretary instead
of the Minister as required by the NS54 Act.

¢ The performance bonus was based cn a Performance Reward Proposal
document for which we did not see evidence of its approval by the
parent Ministar'™,

« Relating to the Permanent Secretary aparaval, Mr. Vela told us that his
understanding is that it is the Parent Ministry and not the Minister that
gives the approval, He explained that the approval was granted by the
Permanent Secretary when there was a Ministerial vacancy on 17
November 2017. He stated that in the absence of an appointed Minister,
the Permanent Secretary is the authority for approval'?,

17 Exhibit 122- Memorzndum on nen-payment of 2006 bonuses by the General Manager,

"'; Exh!'b!t 124- Letter dated 17 November 2017 addressed 1o the Permanent Secratary mi Masoka,
1% Exhibit 124- Letter dated 17 Novamber 2017 addressed to the Permanent Secretary Mr Masoka.
70 Exhibic 126- Performance Raward Proposat for 2017.
71 Exhinit Q12 - Questicnnaire for mr, Vala page 7 (112).
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8.3 Establish whether the existing organisational structure and job grading
had been approved by the Board and parent Ministry

8.3.1 Requirements

NSSA Act

o Appointment conditions for the General Manager are provided for under
Sectian 25{1){a) of the Act and must be approved by the Minister.

o Appointment of other employees is guided by Paragraph % of the Schedui.e
to Section 22 of the Act which gives the Authority power to employ people it
may consider fit for conduciing its affairs.

Findings
8.3.2 Organizational Structure from July 2015 to March 2016
= We noted that the Board last aparoved the structure on 15 November 2011
and there was no evidence of Minisiry approval!’2,

= The structure and Grades as’ per approved November 2011 organogram are
shown in the table below,

Position. " is LB e s e DGrade.st o L
General Manager £1
Director Benefits £2
Diractor National Health Uneraded
Director Contributions and Compliance £2
Director Investments £2
Director Finance E2
Girector Corporate Services £2
Director OSH E2

ICT Executive E3
00QChief internal Audit £3

+  The new boaro adopted the existing structure when it took office in July 2015,

8.3.3 Organisationa! Structure from Aprit 2016 to June 2016

= The Authority revised the adopted structure. In the revised structure, the
position of Director National Health was dropped.

« AL the time the Authority sought approval of the new remuneration
framework from the Minister on 29 March 2016, the management structure
was a5 {cllows;

" Exhibit 117- Novernber 2011 Organogram
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General Manager £l
Director Benefits £2
Director Finance EZ
Director Contributions and Compliance E2
Director lnvestments E2
Director Finance E2
Director Corporate Services E2Z
{CT Executive E3
Chief Internal Audit E3

8.3.4 Organisational Structure from July 2016 to November 2017

= The Human Resources, Remuneration & Nomination Committee held a
meeting on 15 June 2616 and passed the following resolutions'??;

c Management functions of NSSA be restructured, with a new organisational
structure of an eight-member management executive team,

o The Board Chairman was going to sign the employment contracts on behalf
of the Board.

= On 11 June 2016, Mr Vela wrote a Memorandum to the Minister seeking
approval of the management team’™,

«  On 24 June 2016, Ms Mukondomi forwarded Mr Vela's Memorandum to the
Minister for approval.

= Attached to the same request was the Board Chairman's Memorandum dated
Saturday 11 June 2016 addressed to the Minister, The Memorandum was
seeking approval of an additional position of the Chief Strategic Assets
Officer.

« ltis avident from the above events, that Mr Vela sought Ministerial approval
before the restructuring was approved by the Human Resources,
Remungration & Nomination Committee. His tetter was of 11 June 2016, yet
the Commitlee approved restructuring on 15 June 2016.

« The Minister approved the new proposed management team on 28 June 2016.

*  The Board sat and approved the management team on 29 June 201675, |t
can also be seen thet the Minister approved the team before the Board
approval,

73 Exhibit 129- Minutes of the Human Respurces, Remuneration & Nomination Commitize of 15 june 2014
{Paragraph 4.1% on page 8.

‘7: Exh?b!‘t 119- Memorandum Seeking approval of the management team addressed to the Minister.
7% Exhibit 70- Minutes of the 8oard held on 29 Juna 2016 {Paragraph 2.1 on page 2),
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Shawn in the tabte below are the approved positions and grades.

-General Manager El

Chief Finance and Operations £

Benefits Direcior E2

Chief investments Officer E3

Chief Strategic Assets Officer £3

Chief Property Investment Officer £3

Chigf Tontributions, Collecticns and Compliance £2 Yes
Officer

ﬂief OHS & Rehabilitation Officer £3 Yes
Chief Sacial Security Officer £3 Yes
Chief Audit Executive E3 Yes

We aiso observed that the request for approval of the management team was
made after the Autherity or the Board had already conducted interviews for
the new employess.

according to the advertisement for the position of General Manager, Chief
Finance and Qperations Officer, Chief Investment Qfficer ang Chief Property
Investment Officer, the last date of accepting applications was on 4 March
2016.

8.3.5 Existing management structure and job grading from December 2017

to date

we noted that on 17 November 2017, Mr Vela wrote @ letter Lo Mr Masoka
requesting for the approval of 2 management structure and job grading. This
also covered review of the remuneration structure'’,

The approval was granted by Mr Masoka. According to the NSSA Act, the
approval was supposed to be granted by the Minister.

The Permanent Secretary's approval had the effect of changing both the
structure and remuneration {ramework {or management. The implication on
the remuneration framawark was gealt with separately on Section 8.6.6.4.10f
this report.

176 Fxhibit 130- Letter with the new executive structure addresses to the Permanent Secretary dated 17
November 2017.
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we have shown in the table below the existing management structure as

approved by the Fermanent Secretary;

General Manager Yacant Et
Director Finance and Operations Ermersen Mungwariri E2
Directar investments David Makwara E2
Director Benefiis Yacant E2
Director Contributions, Collections and Barnabas Matongera £2
Compliance
! Chief Properties investments Officer Kurauwone Chihota £3
; Chief Investments Officer Herbert Hungwe £3
i gg;:; gao:ctgbut}ons, Collections and Shepard Muperi (Acting) E2
Finance & Cost Management Exaecutive Yimbai Dirorimwe E3
Group Legal Advisar & Board Secretariat Cyntnia Mugwira £3
Services Executive
Strategic Assistant to the General Manager James Chiuta E3
Human Capital & Talent Management Takura Pwiti
Exscutive ' £3
iICT & Digital Strategy Executive Perpetual Chimeura £3
Chief audit Executive Andrew Nyakonda E3
CPRiaE G ; ; Chakanyuka
Chief Strategic Assets Officer Nziradzbémhuka £3
Chief OSHRF and WOF Officer Betty Nyereyegona £3
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8.4 Board and committee meetings compliance with best practice of good
corparate gavernance, Government directives and NSSA Act

8.4.1 Reguirements

Section 12 (2} of the NSSA Act provides that the Board should hold its meetings
at least once every thres months which translates to four meetings per
annum.’

Section 12 (3) of the Act provides that the chairman at the request in writing
of not fewer than 2 members, canvene special meeting of the beard.

Section 13 (1) of the Act allows the Board to establish one or more comimitiees
with the consent o/ the Minister.

Findings

8.4.2 Board and Committee meetings held

The number of meetings held during the pericd under review are shown below;

2015

: 2 g 5 4 3 3 =5
: 306 4 5 8 3 3 7 ; y
2017 3 5 2 5 : 7 5 B

The Board was appointed in July 2015, Within six months of that year, the
Board held five meetings compared to a minimum of two meetings as
recommended.

8.4.3 Ministerial approval of committees set by the Board

We established that as shown in the above table, the Board set up seven
committees to assist it.

We noted that when the Board came in there were six committees, in 2018,
the Lega and Litigation Commilttee was created,

We did not see the Minister's consent approving the above committee set by
the Board as required. Enquiries were made with Mr Takawira and ke stated
that he had no record of the Minister's consent on setting up of the
commitiees,
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8.4.4 Corparate governance issues~ Mr Vela's interferance with executive
management's issues

We noted that in a number of instances, Mr Vela interfered with executive
managemeant decislons as evidenced by the following;

a)

Metbank transactions involvement

Custodial arrangement and release of TBs

o

3]

GOn 18 October 2016, Mr Vela sent a WhatsApp message o Mr Hungwe
requesting for information on the issue of treasury bills to Metbank. The
message suggested that there was some pressure an Mr Vela for the deal to
happen as he highlighted that he was being put in a difficult position due to
the delays. He indicated that this would only be a custodian arrangement and
there would be no risk to NSSA17?,

On 7 November 2016, Mr Yela wrote an email ta Ms Chitiga, Mr Hungwe and Mr
Mungwariri, He pointed cut that the BIC had directed that TBs amounting to
at least 520 million held by CBZ be moved to Metbank. He emphasised that
this was supposed to have happened before 31 October 2016 and wanted to
know why there was a delay and who had caused the detay'™.

The above is evidence of Mr VYela's pressure on management to set up a
custodial arrangement and release NSSA treasury bills to Metbank. This was
despite the fact that Metbank was assessed as high risk by NSSA risk
department and had nil counterparty trading timit.

After it was established that Mr Chiuta, the Executive Assistant in the office
of the General Manager, was the one who had authored and signed the letter
without authority that gave Metbank green light to use NSSA TBs worth
$37,350,000, Mr Chiuta gave a formal statement addressed o the Acting
Ceneral Manager. He detalied what had transpired to the point of signing the
letter, He indicated that he had received a WhatsApp message on 2 October
2017 from Mr vela'™,

The contents of the conversation were that Mr Vela indicated that Methank
had secured funding and wantsd NSSA 1o release the TB8s and some
representatives of the bank would visit him the following day. Mr Chiuta
confirmed that on the morning of 3 October 2017, Mr Bvute, Mr Ndebele and
Mr Kundishora all from Methank visited him requesting for a letter that would
authorise them to use NSSA TBs which were slready in their custody.

Fertiliser loan facility

[»]

On the £th of October 2016, Wr Vela sent an 2mail to #r Hungwe with a term

sheet attachec for the $20,000,000 fertitizer funding for review. The term
sheet was aiready signed by Mr Chawoneka for and on behalf of Metbank

1 Exhibit 46+ Image of the WhatsApn message from Mr Vela to Mr Hungwe,
i Exh:b!t 50- Email fram Mr Yela on the issue of detays in TE movements to Metbank,
7 Exhiltrit 42 - Copy of WhatsApp massage to Mr Chivta from Mr Vela.

102




Limited date stamped 5 October 2016. This showed that Metbank had already
discussed the issue of funding with Mr Vela.

On 1 November 2016, Mr Hungwe sent an analysis he had dong to alter the

~ structure brought forward by Mr Vela, In the same email, he indicated that he
had sent the same analysis 1o the Managerment lnvestment Committee (“MIC")
and the majority of the members were in agreement with this analysis as
compared to what was initially put forward by Mr Yela,

Q

o inhis response to the email on the same date copied to ms Chitiga, Mr Mutiswa
and Mr Ruwende (Board appointed investment expert}, Mr Yela indicated that
the deal could go on as re-structured by Mr Hungwe though he indicated that
he was not approving the deal. He stated that his reasons for disapproving
were menticned tc Mr Hungwe telephonicaily and on several other occasions.
In his closing remarks in the same email, Mr Vela said the fotlowing:

“We will then execute on the basis of the same and indeed evaluate management
on the success or faiture of their suggestion, ! would like it explicitly understood
that this is management's determined direction”,

o As z resull, Mr Hungwe withdrew what he had proposed for fear of

victimisation and the initial structure as brought By MéVela went through. ™

b} Engagement of Housing Cooperation of Zimbabwe (HCZ)

P

o The relationship between NSSA and HCZ was initiated by Mr vela. This was
after some communication between Mr Yela and Mr Chihota through an e-rnail
dated 16 June 2017, in which Mr Vela stated that he wanted HCZ housing off-
take agreement to be approved at the next BIC meeting'®,

o On 3 July 2017 Mr Robin Yela wrote to Kura Chihota and said that he wanted
to see all the 3 projects (Derbyshire, HCZ and NUST) signed off and initial
disbursements done in the same week without fail. He also instructed Kura
Chihota to get the guarantees for funds from the bank'®,

o The off-take housing agreement valued at $304 million was awarded to HCZ,
a company which was one week oid,

¢} Cther off-take housing develepments

©  Mr Robin Vela wrote an email on 8§ June 2017 suggesting to Kura Chihota some
devetqpers who had approached him. Mr Vela went further to say that he was
not going to wait for NBS to get through their management'®,

o On 9 July 2017 mr Vela wrote to Kura Chihota telling him that he was under
prassure on perfermance. As such he wantad quick implementation from the

e Exhibit 131- Email by Mr vela to e Chinota datec & June 2017.
:’; Exhibit 83 Email by sr Vela to jer Chinota dated 3 Juty 2017,
*2 Exhibit 131 - Emait by Mr Vela o Mr Chinota datzd 8 June 2017.
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properties officials, He also said that he wanted to know the reasoning for lack
of progress and persons responsible for failing':.

s Mr Kura Chihota wrote to Mr Veta to advise him that the proposed cost of
Metbank land of $6.15/5gm was too high. Mr Vela responded on 29 July 2017
and said that the off-take price was fixed and could not be altered™?,

d) Waiver of vehicle loan waiting period to Ms Mugwira

o Inan email dated 16 August 2017, Mr Vela sent an email to Mr Mungwariri,
copied to Ms Mugwira and Ms Chitiga authorising the waiver of Ms Mugwira's
waiting peried to get a vehicie loan'®,

e} Overriding management compttations of increase in Board fees
rates

o Mr Vele discarded computations dene by management on implementation of
a 50% increment on retainer fees which had been sanctioned by the
Permanent Secretary. Mr Vela refused to take rmanagement figures and dave
them his own computations. This resuited in implementation of wrong Board
fees rates where the increment was 94% for the Board Chairman and 100% for
the other Board members, ‘

According to Mr. Yela's ﬁuestionnaire, he disputed all the management interference
allegations saying the allegations are either false or the interference was necessary under
the circumstances',

8.5 Reasonableness of Board expenses incurred and guantification

8.5.1 Requirements
« Section 14 {a) of the Act states that the Soard or a member shail be paid such
remuneration with the approval of the Minister.

= Section 14 {b) of the Act states that the Board ar a member shall be paid such
atlowances with the approval of the minister responsible for finance.

Findings
8.5.2 Approval of Board fees by the Minister

= We noted that on 20 October 2015, the Minister approved Board fees and
atlowances as follows;

‘:1 Exh!bft 132 - Email by Mr Vela to Mr Chihotz dated 9 July 2017,
e Exh!but 133- Emails between Mr Chihota and s+ Vela dated 27 and 29 July 2017,
'S Exhibit 134- Emall from A Vela on vehicle loan waiting periag

% Exhibit Q12 - Questionnaire for Mr. Vela pages 14-17 (2-h)
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8.5.3 Quantification of Board fees X

' Chairman
Deputy chairpersen
Ordinary member

. From our analysis, the fees approved by the
ather Parastatats ang market trends. We cah o

reasonable.

. ‘We established that the approved Board fees rates were pra

applied for the years 2015 and 2816,

. The following table is a summary of NSSA Board ex
5 to 31 December 2017,

period from 10 July 201

Ministe
nficm that the rates were

penses for the period

r are comparable with

perly and correctly

penses incurred for the

e Sy {5 i
2015 37,682 28,550 39,120 2,500
2016 33,740 31,150 92,967 10,060 253,317
| 2017 | 58,030 34,910 106,000 10,000 295,394

. Other Board expenses 2i€ sroken down as follows;

12018

CACTivity

{8)

11,840

Roard interviews expenses

Nyanga Board Retreat

23,620

Boarc training and evgluztion

Mr Yela’s allowances on other NSSA
afficial business

Mr Vela’s Mauritius trip - 5,76%
(Total T 35és0 | 58,454

. Board interviews expenses relate 0 the sitting all
mambers when they werg conduting interviews for the appoia
new executive management L&am. Qther

note 5.2.4 below.

. We established that there were foard &

the Minister and relate 1o the jcllowing;

pwances paid to Board
tment of the

items are reporied separately on

xoenses which were not approved by
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¢ Increase in Board fees approved by the Permanent Secretary.
o lrregularity in implementing Permanent Secretary’s approval,
o Other Board events

8.5.4 Increase in Board fees due to approval by the Permanent secretary

e

The Board sat on 26 September 2017 and proposed changes to the Non-
Executive Directors remuneration framewark through the following

resolutions; '@

Subject to the Ministerial approval, the ratainer fees paid to Non-Executive
Directors every quarter be increased by 50% effective from the 4th guarter of
2017 and the sitting fees to ramain the same.

Board members carrying out official NSSA business during working hours and
having Lo travel be paid a fee equivalent to a sitting atlewance fee, daily per
dism and a travel allowance in line with NSSA's current policy for its staff from
1 Juty 2017,

Twa months later, on 20 Novernber 2017, Mr Vela sought approval of the above
resolutions from Mr Masoka, Mr Masoka approved the above resolutions on the
same day'®,

The above is in contravention of the requirements of the Act which requires
that the appraval shoutd be from the Minister, not the Permanent Secreiary.

According to Mr, Vela, he told us that his understanding is that it is the Parent
Ministry and not the Minister that gives the approval. He explained that the
approval was granted by the Permanent Secretary when there was a Ministerial
vacancy on £0 Nevemnber 2017, He stated that in the absence of an appointed
Minister, the Permanent Secretary is the authority for approval'®,

After the 50% increment, Board fees rates shoutd have been as follows;

i

I

hairman " 500 720

Deputy chairpersen . 780 560
Ordinary member 650 560

However, on implementation, we 'nelec hal management implemented
ciiferent rates from the above. The aciusl rates implemented had the

127 Ex?}ibi: 135+ Minutes of Non-Exrecutive Directors dated 26 September 2017. Refer to Parapraph 3.5. Nota
the Minutes are not signed.

:f: Ethb?t 136- Letler dated 20 November 2077, seeking spprovai of Soard lees by Permanent Secretary,

*? Exhibit Q12 - Questionnaire for Mr. Vela page 7 (i1a).
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Chairman's rate increased by 94% and other Board members by 100%. The
incorrect rates implemented were as follows;

“Chairman 6,450 1 90 720

Deputy chairperson 3,190 360
Ordinary member 4,290 560

On enquiry with Mr Mungwariri, we were told that management came up with
the correct computations as approved by the Permanent Secretary. He pointed
out that management computations were overridden by Mr Vela who provided
nis own figures wnich they implemented.,

According to Mr. Yela, he is insisting that what he gave to management for
implementation is what was appraved by the Permanent Secretary and is not
aware of any other figuras'”, This is despite the fact that the same fssue was
raised by a board member, Mr. Mutasa in December 2017. Mr. Mutasa wrole a
tetzer to Mr. Vela advising him of his refusal to accept a 100% increase in board
fees'™. Mr. Vela responded through email dated 20 December 2017 copied to
all board members and Mr. Mungwariri, where he insisted that he was not
awars that board fees were increasad by 100%™,

B.5.5 Quantification of Board fees overstated as a result of the 50%
increment and the irregular implementation

L]

As & resuit of the Permanent Secretary's actions, with effect from the 4w
guarter.of 2017, Boarc members were paid incorrect and unapproved Board
fees. We have treated all payments made as a result of Mr Masoka'’s approval
and the irreguiar imolementation as an overstatement,

1%0 Exhibit 137- Letter containing new Boacd fzes ratas signed by M Vela.

L

fees.

By €xh3’b§t Q12 - Questionnaire lor e, Vela page 7 {115).
Exhibit 138- Mr. Mutasa's email dated 201 December 2317 1o Mr, Vela rejecting a 100% increase in baard

11 Exhibit 138 - Mr. Yela‘'s emall to Mr, Mulasa on the issue of 100% increase in beard fees.
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a We quémif%ed the overstatement resutting from the 50% i

i (8%
a (b} {b)-(a)
R. Vela & 1,325 4,988 1,663 2 3,326
0. Tomana 3,325 4,988 1,663 2 3,316
D. Tomana 2,595 3,893 1,298 2 2,596
5. 7. Biyam 7,145 3,218 1,073 4 4,291
P, Q. Mutasa 2,145 3,218 1,073 4 4,291
N. Mukwehwa 7,145 3,218 1,073 4 4,29
J. Mateko 2,145 3,218 1,073 4 4,291
R. Gundane 2,145 3,218 1,073 4 4,291
M. Mukondami 2,145 3,218 1,073 4 4,291
E. Phiri 2,145 3,218 1,073 4 4,291
C. Mutist 2,145 3,218 1,073 4 4,291
Total 43,576

« We also quantified the overstatement resulting from the irregular
implementaticn as follows;

R. Yela 5,450 4,988 1,462 2 2,924
D. Tomana &,430 4,988 1,462 2 2,924
D. Tomana 5,190 3,893 1,297 2z 2,594
5.T. Biyam 4,230 3,218 1,072 4 4,288
P. G. Mutasa 4,290 3,218 1,072 4 4,288
M. Mukwenwa 4,290 3,218 1,072 4 . 4,288
J. Mateko 4,290 3,218 1,072 4 4,188
R. Gundane 4,290 3,218 1,072 4 4,188
M, Mukondomi 4,290 3,218 1,072 4 4,288
E. Phiri 4,250 3,218 1,072 4 4,288
C. Mutist 4,290 3,218 1,072 4 4,288
Total 42,746

s ?he total overstalement due to the 50% increment and the irregular
imptementation amounted to 386,322 as at end cf third quarter of 2018.

s LJP to October 2018, when the NSSA board wes dissolved, Mon-Executive
Directors were still being paid ratainer fees based on incorrect and averstated
rates provided by Mr. Vela. :
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_B.5.6 Other Board expenses where no evidence of Ministerial approval was
availed

a) Nyanga Board retreat

In 2017 the full Board held a strategic retreat in Nyanga for four days were the
Board Members were paid daily sitting atlowances equivalent to 5720 for the
Chairman and $560 for other members. Total sitting allowances far this seminar
amounted to $23,620 and there is no evidence that this Board event was
sanctioned by the Minister,

b) Board members’ training retreat and evaluation

in 2017, the Board held a three-day Board training retreat and a Board evaluation
at a total cost to NSSA of $18,990. Directors were paid an equivalent of the Board
sitting altowance ger day for the three days. There Is no evidence that this cost
was approved by the Minister.

c) Payments to Mr Vela

« 0On 4 December 2017, Mr Yeia was paid $14,785relating to carrying out other
official NSSA business backdated to 1 July 2017"™. This was over and above his
narmal retainer and sitting allowances. This paymeni was in line with the
approval sanctioned by the Permanant Secretary as mentioned on note
§.2.2.1, The payrment was not approved by the Minister.

o MrVelz was alsc paid $3,769' for a Mauritius trip. Minister’s approval for this
trip was not availea.

= According to Mr, Vela's questionnaire, he stated that the payments above were
based on the Permanent Secretary approval granted on 20 November 2017'%,
This was despite the fact that all foreign trips require Cabinet authority'®.

1% £xhibit 139- Supporting schedule for the payment of $14,785
1% Exhibit 140- Supperting document far the payment of $5,769
1t Exhibit Q12 - Questionnaire for Mr. Vela page 8 {12).

V7 £xhibit Q3 - Questionnaire fer Mr, Menpwariri page 14 {22).
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9 PENSIONER DATABASE

9.1 Integrity of database

o

We obtained backup pensioner database from the iT which was prepared using
QL Server 2016 software. The backup database was in “bak” format which is
not readable using the data analytics tools we use at 800, We restored the
database to be able to view its contents and import the information contained

ro our data analytics software.

The pensioner database nad 3 individual databases, that is, the first database
which was being used by NSSA pefore it migrated alt the daia to SAP system
{the database which supported SAP system) and the current database in use.
SAP systemn had several issues unresotved befare it was signad off. Because of
that, NSSA had to develop a new system 1o cater for pensioner database. We
reviewed the first gatabase and the current database in use at NSSA.

9,2 Appropriateness of 237 Century system

When we were appeinted to execute this Forensic Audit, NSSA had already
abandoned SAP system.

NSSA made visits to countries like Kenya, Zambia and Tanzania enqguiring
about the appropriateness of the SAP syster. Kenya was the anty country that
was ysing a minor portion of SAP system to perform social security related
business.

saveral issues were noted in management meetings including:
The system failed to produce a clean and complete payrolt during the
time it was being tested.

jii.  The system could allow capturing of duplicate records which would
then affect the integrity and accuracy of the database.

iii.  Payroil processing involved sanual intervention outside SAP system.
The manual intervention in Excel was prone to manipulation, therefore
it was condemned by the internal auditors,

tv. AL inception, Twenty Third Century Systems had assured that it was
going to address NSSA'S requirements. However, Twenty Third Century
Systerns developed a system which was not fit for NSSA’s purpose.

v. Inslean of campleting the project in 12 maonths, TTCS were over 35
monchs behind the agreed completion date.

We agree with NSSA management that SAP system is not appropriate for the
sacial security related business operation of the Authority hence support the
decision to abanden it.
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9.4,1 Records without contact details

o We noted that 371,000 record
s Telephone details are necessary w

communicate with pensioners.

s did not have con

tact phone numbers,
henever the Authority may want to

s A sample of records is as shown on the colored column below:
Fribloyee. | Employes. Lo o nin P e
Surname. - .| First-Name - “|D-Number . -Génder:
Dube Makhosi 73-026890073 M
Sibanda Tsubayi 79-1G1544Y79 F
Moyo Mkonzwa 73-037958J73 M
Chikukytu ~ Samuel 18-058005Q07 M-
Sibindi Siyangiso 79-101406N26 M
Ndiweni Njabulg 41-063970741 M
Ncube MNobuhle 08-752542G28 F
Kadzima Stanford wengai 34-081814234 M
Chari Walter taural £3-1126769G71 Mo
Derera Joet 44-066177544 M
Shumba Shewakalipa 03-114745R03 M
Rusvaya Golden 1.42-099133807 M

5,4.7 Employee records without monthly salaries

a

A total 989,000 database records did not have contributors’ monthly salaries.
Salaries are Lsed to calcuiate pension. Most of these pension contributors show
the default contact phone numbers &s 722822 as shown on sample below.

A sample of records is as shown on the colored column below:

‘surfiame Firsi Name = .i1D Number
Dube Sibonokuhle
Mayo Bongam 41-045845Y41
Dube Makhosi 73-0268%Q073
Mudzingwa Brian §
Mpofu Charity . 08-717258E08
MNcube Admire 08-011081R33
Ncube i Mduduzi 26-115061H23
Ndlovu ! Thobekiiz 53-039809033
Dube | Eslinah 1 73-26456%)73
Mmhlanga : Mthandaze | 08-700059K13
Neube v Thabant P 08-736703Q21
[Mudimoa _ iPerer . 06:029366H06

9.4.3 Employes reccrds with no employee numbears

s Atotal o

a prerequisite when applying for and claiming pensicn.

o Acampie of records is as shown on the colored column below:

f 880,000 database recorcs dic nol have employeg aumbers which is
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Wt

-

v

1
]

ST T R |
‘1_.5" curity’ Employee, e R
I Nurfiber . -] surname . Employee First-Name |
1 3152671C - Dube Sibonokuhle :
3152685 Moyo_ Bongani . ... ..oees !
1 39526965 23] Dube | Makhasi o
731527065 T Mudzingwa Brian i
13152710J Mpofu ChRanty o o]
31527242 Neube Admire

3152735C Neube Mduduzi

31527405 3 Ndlovu_ Thobekile ... !
31527440 1 Dube Eslinah !
31527474 ¥ Mhlanga Mthandazo :
[ 31527490 Nowbe o Thabani _—
3152754G Mudimba Peter |
| 3152756K SMOYO e Nigkozo i

9.4.4 Employee recol
o A totel of 79,08
sample of records are as shown on t

de with no Nationai identity numbers
0 database records did not have nationat identity numbers. A
he colored column DElOwW:

Social o ' :
Security | Employee Employee  First- | =
Number { Surname Hame | ip-Humber -
| 3152671C { Dube Sibanckuhle R
31527068 | Mudzingwa Brian
3152756K f Moyo Nrokozo
3152767F ! Nghlavu Simosabo
3152768R 1 Mgmane _iNdabezinhle
31337781 Nyoni Phathisani
31528336 i Mhlanga Nhlanhia
3157836% _ Lmpofu . Siconginkost
! 31529304 | Neuba ; Eohraim
31529827 i Mpofu ! Zakaria
31530417 P Ndievy i Fisalwami
13133138M Sanda { Amos
1940287K Lupania | Maxwell
2814683N Hute {Austin
2814934M Jack Celia
2815077 idelasi Tsungirired

9.4,5 Empioyee records with over 75 years of Service
a  More than 4,000 records had total service period which wias above 75 years.
o Service periog denctes the time frame 2 contributar was contributing {0 NSSA,
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By

- o We were expecting to 5@ service period of at rost 24-25 years. Thle 25 years
is the period almost aquivalent 10 commencement of NS3A contributions. NSSA
contributions commanced in 1994.
- e A sample of records is as shown an the colored column below:
. Exmployee” | 1 Erployes - R S P B
- ‘Sofmami | | First-Name, |Date.of Birth pate’
1690-07-18 1610-03-01
Jack Clive 00:00:00.0000000 00:00:00.0000000
- 1991-10-07 1921-02-04
| Katenhe i Lenarc 00:00:00.0000000 00-00:00.0000000
! 1978-05-08 1610-12-01
- macuranga | | Emma Eunice _OO:OG:OG.(}OODOOO 00:00:00.00000G0
1987-02-C5 1912-10-01
Tshuma Morris §0:00:00.0060000 00:00:00.0000000
1991-07-21 1%10-10-01
- Mapfumo Edson et 00:00.5000000 00:00;00.0000000
1986-08-26 1910-10-01 o
Muusha Tatenda | 00:00;00.00600C0 00:00:00.0000000 15
|| Sabeto 1986-01-19 1911-04-01
- : Sihanda mdingwa__ | 00:00:00,0000600 (0:00:£0.00000C0
1980-11-10 1910-09-01
tatanhire Costa 00:00:00.0080000 00:00:00.5000000
- ; 1985-08-08 1910-10-01
Mugande ! Khurnbulant (:0:00:00.00000C0 00:00:00.0000000
; 1582-01-08 1910-10-01
Siso Mxolisi 00:00:00.0C00C00 00:00:00.0000000
—~ ) 19900210 1910-10-01
Moyo Dumisile (0:00:00.0000000 00:00:00.0000000
19%1-03-26 1911-10-01
Dube Leonard 00:00:£0.0000G00 (G:00:00.00000G0 |
- 1980-02-26 1910-10-C1 3
Sibanda Thembelani | Q0:00:00.0000000 00:00:00.0000000 :
1987-04-05 1912-02-01
- Movo Lokukhanya 00:00:00.£000000 £0:00:00.0000000
. 1987-04-C5 1910-11-01
Moyo Gracious 00:00:00.0006002 | 00:00:00.0300000 |
1984-12-10 1911-0%-01 ’
- Neube Sizwile 00:GD:§0.0000000 | 00:00:00.00000C0 |
1987-07-2C 1611-05-01
Munemo Joha 00:00:00.000C000 00:00:00.0000000
. 1985-07-17 1911-05-01 ;
o Kachule Ronald 03:00:06.0200000 | 00:00:00,000C000 1
1667-01-16 1911-01-01 A
: Hlabangana i _ Admire 00:00:00.0000000 | £0:00:00,0000060
_ i ‘ 1 1974-09-01 1911-05-01 :
i Wyoni | Nomathemba | 00:00:00,0000G00 00:00:00.0000000 :
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2.4.% Employes records with negative years of service
There were 7 records with a negative total service period. The expectatton

was that, the total service would be a positive number.
The commencement field had invalid commencement dates.
A sample of recards are as shown on the colored column below:

o

Employes TS i Ll o0 Lo T Commencemem Sy Total

First-Name™ | [D-Nuibér | Daté'of Birth Date . n
19G1-01-01 5946-03- {}1

GXX 00:00:00.0000C00 | 00:00:00.0000000
1962-06-10 9994-10-01

BENJAMIN 08-255769L26 | 00:00;00.0000000 i £0:00:00.0060000
1961-04-04 2206-04-20

ENOCK SILAS | 58-086978726 | 00:00:00.0000000 | 00:00:00.0000000
1972.09-26 2216-05-09

PEDIAS 03-G47260N03 4§ 00:00:00.00600000 | £0:00:0G, 0000600
1979-06-03 3013-03-M

PATIENCE 43-064894R18 | 00:00:00,0000000 | 00:00:00.0000000
1940-01-12 9999-12-31

FANI GREEN 09:00:00.0000000 ¢ 40:00:00.0000000
1973-07-24 2201-07-01

MIDDIA 63-921897X38 | 00:00:00.0000060 | 00:00:00.0000000

9.4.7 Employee records with nc contributors’ date of birth
A total of 167 database records did not have contributor’s date of birth. Date
of birth was supposed to be used to calculate pension,
Some did not have correct employee surnames.

A sample of records is as shown on the colored column below:

&

Employee_;.v- B Employee Employee First- | . .~ . o
Nuriiber: . ) Name D Number’ Date of Birth
37999834 . . : Tafirei Ronaid
37999808 Mashiri Senety
Mupanga
1818706L KANCGWARE Jack
5021175W Javangwe Gift
50472572 54 Mabhodho Mathias
1 Saidi
Gandiwa Agays | Judith Tarisai

2679845Y Mashingaidze Pascal €
1126857C Chavarika Henry

. Maureen
1398490 Davison Rosemary
1406470K Musundire Gladys
24037378 | Mpama | Munyaradzi

-
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9.4.8 Employee racords with no contributors’ 5N
15,000 database records did not hava sacial security numMDErs. a sample of

records are as shown an the cotored column below:

-]

Ernployee, [ Employge Lt
L Sarname | FirstName | ID:Nurber
i pupanduki Theresa 63-756052F4% .
B4 Ngorima Gilbert 08-541311v04
i Neoro Elson 38-0125802M38
5 Neulube 1 Oriet 20-03371100
4 Noulube Richard 30-062812503
Ngulube 1 Thomas 08-0205705T128
1 MNewarat | James ___26-0115542&-123 ]
Newaru Isiah 14-094305'W14
Ngwenya Anele '19-543210Y19
Newenyz | Macebo T 08-0766285219
Newenya Rifi i 0B-0461825N39
o Mowenya Woths 56-0048292F%6

9 4.9 Contributor recorcs with monthiy salaries above $40,00C
s There were some contributors who were said to have monthly salary of more
tnan US540,000. An employee of St-Annes Goto Secondary Schoot was said L0
be getting $48,000 per month which in our knowtedge of teachers’ salarigs is
impractical,

» Note that the saiary has no implication 08 the cost of 2 beneiit since there is
a ceiling of $7CG.

= A sample of recoras is as shawn o0 the colored column below!

Employes Employee First-| ./ .° o B
Sitname | IName . | 1D Number - Data of Bifth
1988-01-01
Neama | Brian 67-107529003 00:00:00.000000C
] 198%-09-01
Chiutst Trever e 00:00:00,0000000
1978-01-21
Makuzha Agnes 63-1079342725 00:00:00.06C0080
Tinotenda 19920730
Mazambani Cyntia 05-120539C42 00:00:00.0000000
1957-07-20
Mukava . Jane {10;00:06.000C000

9.5 Irreguiarities in the current Benefits Processing System {BPS)
o National Railways of Zimbabwe is listed as “Nrz Historical Committee” as its
trade name and its main business activity as “Health Services” in the database.
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Furthermore, the database suggests that NRZ only has 121 employees
registered with NSSA which a highly unlikely number for an organization that

had 7,543 in the year 2008.

9.6 Establishing ghost pensioners

To perform an analysis to verify if there were ghost pensioners of not, we
grauped payments into separate groups by beneficiary type. Thus, we had all
payments made to principal beneficiaries in one group, and all payments
made to secondary heneficiaries in another group to make sure the payments
made o gne group were indg'pendent from the other,

We then matched all payments made tw principal beneficiaries with the
contributions tg check if all the principal beneficiaries paid had matching
records of contribution.

Using the contributor business partner number, we maiched all payments
made to secondary beneficiaries with contributions to check if all secondary

. beneficiaries paid were linked t0 a primary beneficiary with 2 matching record

of contribution.

Results

A total of 3.1 million records of payments made to principal beneficiaries
and 4.8 millien records of payments made to secondary beneficiaries.

i.

A total of 2,6 miliion records of payments were made to principat

beneficiaries without matching records of contribution,

« ideally, benefits are only supposed to be given o pension contributers.

= From the schedule of payments made to the primary beneficiaries, we
sorted them into regions. We then drew a sample from Harare region
and requested for benefits files for the individual.

«  Fromthe files, we checked whether the P§/10 forms (A claim form filled
by both the empioyee and employer upon leaving employment} were
duly completed and whether the person had attached the payslips to
show that they were contributing towards NSSA.

°  We ware satisfied that in all the files we selected, these were being
filed and respactive employers were certifying that the employment
contract had been terminated.

v We enguired on why these names of people could not be traced back to
the data base of cortributions and noted that these people were
appearing in the olg system and had not been migrated 10 the new
sysiem called the Business Processing System (BPS),

< We however could not view individual contributions made by an
employee as the system coes not allow for this. An employee is onty
linked to an employer (A company).

v« We traced the seiecied people paid to the employment database and
noted that they were indeed registered and linked to an employer.
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»  we therefore conclude that that there is a gap in the current system
due to data migration which has resuited in other information ta be

missing.

A total of 4.3 millien records of payments were made to
secondary beneficiaries with principal beneficiaries without
matching records of contribution.

= These secondary beneficiaries were able to access benefits without
records of contributions.

= From the schedule we obtained, we selected a sample of benefits files
for the payees.

»  On review of the files, we inspected whether the P9/10 forms were
completed and also whether the payses could be linked to the
contributor.

e From our sample, we linked the payees to the primary contributors and
then to the emplayer whom the contributor was registered under,

+ We therefore canclude that these were not ghost payees but a system
error. This is however compensated through the physical vetting done
when benefits are being paid.
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10 OTHER ISSUES
10.1 Investigate and report on any other issues that may arise

10.1.1 Financial prejudice due to poar investment appraisal and

overstatement of costs

The Board and Management through the Board Chairman's statement in the 2016
annual report acknowlédged that they had erred by allowing the Authority to
manage Beitbridge Hotel construction project without the relevant project
management skills. The Forensic Audit Report on the Hotel revealed that the
Authority spent US549 million instead of US53 million which was budgeted for.
Subsequent revaluations of this property resulted in a write-off of LiS542 million
due to impairment.

The report highlighted the following key issues and weaknesses on the project;

= The proposal from Rainbaw Tourism Group {RTG) did not have a bill of
quantities and basiz of the estimated costs.

*  There was no evidence of NSSA performing an investment appraisal for the
project,

* Mo action was taken on abnormat variance betwean tender amount and actual
cast,

< Abnormal consultancy fees which were not budgeted far were not queried,

There was evidence that the Boarc and tanagement faited 1o capitalise on
lessons learnt from Beitbridge project. Almost all the off-take housing projects
in progress as detailed in Section 7.8.6 anove have similar weaknesses and
challenges. These are likely to result in financial losses if corrective action s not
taken. Due to some of these weaknesses, the Autharity saded up writing-off
U5588 million of investment properties through fair value adjustment during the
period investigatad.

Based on our review, other NSSA forensic and internal audit reports, we noted
that of the S8 million, USS78,968,385 was established to be a result of
mismanagement, inafficiencies, absence of investment appraisal and inflated
costs. The properties and the respective losses are shown in the table below:

{ Beitbridge RTG Hotel . 42,611,852
Methank debt swap properties: T 23,072,231
Celestial Park 11,806,385
Gateway lnvestments 889,897
Ballantine Park 464,000
Nyanga Chatets 124,000

| Total 78,568,365
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a) Financial prejudice from properties taken over from Metbank

This item is reported separately an Section 7.2.3; Metbank debt swap,

b) Celestial Park

Celestial park was purchased for USS32 million basad on a second valuation report
which was done 20 months after the initial valuation report that had
recommended US525.6 million. A cumutative impairment loss of $1 1,806,385 was
suffered on this property alone from subsequent revaluations carried out in the

. three years under review. The Authority ordered a forensic audit to investigate
this irregularity and the forensic audit report is on record,

¢} GateWay nvastments properties

Cornerstone House, which is part of Gateway Investments properties, was
refurnished &t a cost of USS890 000 which is greater than its purchase price of
3650 00C0. it has not generated revenue since its refurbishmerit and continues to
incur aperating costs of USS4,062 per month as &t 1 February 2018.

Gateway [nvestments propertiés reccrded a net impairment loss of U55889,887
during the 3 years under audit.

d) Christmas Gift Gweru

Christmas Gift was purchased far U557,465,167 after a second valuation report’s
recommendation which was made 4 menths after the initial vatuation report that
had recommended a purchase price of US54.8 millicn. There was an increase in
price of 56% yet there were no improvements made on the stand.

e} Ballantyne Park

Baillantyne Park was purcnased for USS2,2 mitlion yet the valuation report
recommended a price ranging betweea USS: 405 000 and US51,300 ,000, The
property was eventualty impaired resutting in a net financial prejudice of U55464
000 based on subsequent revaluations carried out in the three years under review.

f) Nyanga Chalets

The Autharity underiook the Nyanga Chalets refurbishment at a toral cost of
US5221,333 without a board approvel and without a project appraisal to
ascertain its financial viability. Other quotations showed a price of US$155,305
resulting in 2 variance of USS66,028.

However, on subsequent revaluations carried out in the three years under
review, the oroperty was impaired by US$124 000, confirming that costs incurred
were likely overstataed.

120



10.1.2 Appointment of ICT Project Lead- Mr Bernard Machiha

»  The Authority engaged an ICT Expert, Mr Machiha to provide ICT Services as
an ICT Project Lead. in the selection process, we did not see evidence that
other candidates were invited to express interest in providing ICT services to
the Authority, :

« In addition, we did not see documentation initiating the recruitment of Mr
Machiha,

= There was no evidence of Board approvat for his appointment.

= M7 Machiha's appointment was communicated as a notificazion te the Human
Resources, Remuneration and Nominaticn Committes meeting held on 12
September 20171%,

¢ Mr Machiha was employed on a six-month fixed contract from 1 May to 3t
October 2017, s monthty salary was pegged at USS20,000 which translates
to US$120,600 for the period.

= The contract states that Mr Machina was appeinted according to Section 23 of
the NSSA Act, a section that covers the appointment of the General Manager.

= Mr Machiha's contract of emplayment was signed by the General Manager, Ms
Chitiga, witnessed by Ms Pwiti and Mr Mungwarin,

* It could not be determined how the salary awarded to Mr Machiha was arrived
at, The remuneration framework approved by the Minister at the time had the
highest salaries pegged at US$17,470 for the General Manager and US515,210
for cther directors.

¢ inresponse tc our enguiry, Mr Mungwariri stated that Mr Machiha's appointment
was approved by the Human Resources Committee?®, Howevar, Mrs Mukwehwa
disputed this and told us that Mr. Machiha was appointed by management without
the involvement of her Committee,

10.1.3 Salary advance to ICT Project Lead - Mr Bernard Machiha

° M Machiha was given a2 salary advance amounting to USS74,413 in Ausust
2018, We noted that at that time he had acerued USS6E,000 in unpaid

salaries.

+  $59,413 of the advances were approved by Mr Mungwariri while the balance
of US515,000 was aporoved by Mrs. Dirorimwe,

°  US56%,406 of the advances wes recovered through payroll deductions
resuiting in an under recovery of USS$5,007, as at 30 September 2018, The

18 £xhibrit 141- Extract of Minutss to the speciat Human Resources, Remuneration and Nomination
Cammittee meeting neld on 12 September 2017

'** Exhiblt 142 #r Bernard Machinz Contract of Employment,

M gxhibit Q1 - Questionnalre far Adr, Mungwariri page 12 (18],
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USS5,007 s still owed ta the Autherity. This is despite the fact that Mr
Machiha ieft the Authority on 31 October 2017.

We also noted that Mr Machiha was paid U5511,345 cash in lieu of leave in
November 2017 withouz recavering the amount he owed the Authority, There
is no evidence that action is being taken to recover the outstanding amount.

Mr Mungwariri admitted in his questionnaire that this was an oversight.

10.1.4 Housing ana vehicle loans

L2

a)

The Authority has a housing and vehicle loan policy for its employees.

According to Paragraph 5.3 (b} of the Human Rescurces Management
Guidelines, the housing loan benefit entitlement is capped at 3.5 times of
annual basic salary.

Based on employment contracts, the vehicle lean benefit entitlement is
equivalent to one's basic annual satary. ’

Housing loan to Daisy Madume

Ms Daisy Madume, a Personal Assistant to the General Manager, benefited
more than her entitlement based on her salary as at February 2018,

Based on her February 2018 monthly basic salary of USS3,500, her housing
benefit shouid have been capped at US$147,000 yet she was availed a loan
amounting to US$189,000%7,

She used the benefit to purchase a house costing US55151,291 and had a
balance of U$537,710 to spare®?,

The loan benefit was calculated at 4.5 times of the annual salary instead of
the approved 3.5.

The loan was recommended by the General Manager, Ms Chitiga and approved
by Mr B. Matongera®,

We enquired from Mr Matorgera and he told us that he approved the loan of
USS389,000 on the assumption that the Human Resources officials had afready
checked compliance with the policy. He stated that this was evidenced by the
Human Rescurces Manager's signature an the loan application forms,

3 gxhibit Q2- Question 19 of page 12 af Questionnaire complated by Mr Mungwariri,
®1 Eyhibit 143- Copy of Payslip for the month of February 2018 for Ms Daisy Madume
99 gxhibit 1444 Housing toan payment forens for Ms Daisy Madume

04 Exhibit 1448+ Housing Loan Application by Ms Datsy Madume

2% Exhibit Q2 - GQuestizanaire for Mr. Matongera page 5 {5).
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Dear Sirs

| respond fo your questionnaire, as requested. Please note my responses should be
read in conjunction with the foliowing documents, ali of which have been made
available fo you:

1. Rebutial Dossier dated: 11 May 2018 {*RD"); and
2. Housing Transactions supplement (“HTS”} and annexures (“HTSA”} dated: 16
July 2018.

Notwithstanding that your questionnaire seems to suggest you have discarded your
professional ethics and conduct code/ approach and alreadvy reached your
conclusions, withoutf an objective assessment of my responses and following a clearly
partisan delivery of information to you, | respond in detail with supporiing
documentation to the matters raised.

Robin Vela
15 November 2018

Questionnaire on National Social Security Authority (NSSA) Investigation

As part of the examination of certain transactions of National Social Security
Authority (NSSA}, for the period 01 January 2015 to 28 February 2018, we require
you to respond to questions contained in this questionnaire. You have been selected
as part of the respondents to the questionnaire due to matters that took place during
your tenure as chairman of NSSA.

NSSA management and the relevant authorities are informed and are aware that, as
part of the examination of the specific transactions, we require the relevant persons
including yourself complete this questionnaire. Should you need confirmation, kindly
contact relevant authorities.

May you please respond to the questions in the spaces provided in ink. You can also
attach any schedules or documents that support your representations or attach
written sheets of paper if the space provided is not enough. Kindly note that should
you need any explanations on any of them, kindly contact Mr. E. Shadaya at BDO
Zimbabwe Chartered Accountants on +263 242 703 876 or e-mail to
eshadaya@bdo.co.zw.

May you please initial every page of the questionnaire and append your signature
and date at the last page of the questionnaire. Please send your responses directly
to Mr. E. Shadaya at BDO Zimbabwe on +263 242 703 876 or e-mail to
eshadaya®bdo.co.zw.

1. Full Names Mr. Robin Vela
Phone Number +263 772 437 277 / +27 82 530 6115
Business Address 44 Steppes Road, Colne Valley, Harare

Position Non-Executive Chairman
Period from July 2015 to March 2018
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2, May you please provide details of your roles and responsibilities at NSSA as
Non-Executive Board Chairman.

My role was as provided in Part lll of the NSSA Act — inter alia: to provide leadership
and oversight, to co-ordinate the working of the Board through its various committee
as a member of the Board of Directors. My responsibility extended to being the link
between the Authority and the parent Ministry, in particular, the Minister.

It is pertinent to record at this junction that decisions of NSSA were not made by me as
an individual BUT by resolution of committee or Board for which the members take
collective responsibility.

Treasury bills

Establishment of the TBS custodial agreement with Metbank

3. We noted that on 18 October 2016, you sent a WhatsApp message to Mr
Hungwe requesting for information on the issue of treasury bills to Metbank.
The message suggested that there was some pressure on you for the deal to
happen as you highlighted that you were being put in a difficult position due
to the delays. You indicated that this would only be a custodial arrangement
and there would be no risk to NSSA.

1 do not recall the said message and so cannot comment on the same, it would have
been useful to have sight of the same. Management were never under any pressure to
take any action they did not support. Further, management have a fiduciary duty to
NSSA to act in the best interests of the Authority. Their implementation of any action
by signature is an explicit confirmation of their approval of the same, coupled with the
non-recordal of any objection in any Board or Committee minutes,

Following the above, you pressured executive management to enter into a
TBs custodial agreement with Metbank on 25 October 2016 before Board
approval. The Board members signed the resolution approving the custodial
agreement on 15 November 2016.

This is completely false. You make reference fo “pressure” stemming you’re your
interpretation of a whatsapp message, supposedly sent by me, that | do not have and
have not seen.

Management should know and ensure that they require the appropriate approvals
before execution of any transaction. That said, it is the Board Investment Commiittee
(“BIC”} approval that is relevant NOT the Board approval. This is because there is a
standing authority dated 29 November 2012 giving management to implement
resolutions of the BIC prior to Board Approval. (ANNEXURE -BDO1).

a. Who was giving you pressure and putting you in a difficult position for the
deal to happen as suggested in your message?
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I do not recall the said message and so cannot comment on the same. This question is
vague and embarrassing.

b. If the custodial arrangement was solely for safe keeping of NSSA TBS. Why
was there so much pressure according to your message to Mr. Hungwe?

i do not recall the said message and so cannot comment on the same. No pressure was
put on any manager to do anything.

c. Metbank had a history of failure to repay NSSA loans. Please explain what
had changed which gave NSSA the confidence to justify the setting up of
the custodial arrangement with the bank?

The matter of engaging MetBank was the subject of numerous BIC and Board
discussions with the premise being that NSSA needed to support local banks. You
should refer to the said numerous minutes for context. Further,the BIC requested that
Management obtain comfort from the RBZ, the supervisory body, to ensure the
standing of MetBank was good and sound. The letters confirming the same are included
in the RD pys 68-70.

d. Why did you pressure management to sign the custodial 'agreement
without Board approval?

| emphatically deny this unsupported assertion, | reiterate that no pressure was given
to management and that the appropriate approval that management needed o proceed
was that of the BIC not the Board.

4. We noted that on 7 November 2016, you wrote an email to Ms Chitiga, Mr
Hungwe and Mr. Mungwariri citing that the BIPC had directed that TBs
amounting to US520m held by CBZ be moved to Metbank. You stated that this
was supposed to have happened before 31 October 2016. You wanted to know
why there was a delay and who had caused the delay.

Can you please explain why you were so closely involved and monitoring this
transaction, yet the arrangement was meant to be just for safe custody of
NSSA TBs?

| was not closely invelved or monitoring the fransaction as you allege and surmise. |
would indeed get called by the Ministry complaining about the likely hindrance to
programmes such as the Command Agriculture efforts and would then seek
clarification as to progress being made. That is being a proactive Chairman, {rying to
manage perceived performance issues, rather than interference. Management are well
aware of the Ministry’s direct and personal criticism of them, and my standing by them
on occasion in face to face meetings.
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5. Due to your pressure and insistence, we noted that by 8 November 2016, TBs
with a face value of US$20,883,382 were with Metbank under custodial
agreement.

As Board Chairman, it was a known fact that Metbank was in the high-risk
category and had a zero-counter party trading limit according to the NSSA
risk assessment rating. May you please explain why you had the comfort to
release the US$20,883,382 worth of TBs to the hands of Metbank?

There is NO evidence of any pressure that is repeatedly insinuated by this
questionnaire and your firm. Infact the BIC directed that Management sought and got
confirmation of good standing and no supervisory issues from the RBZ, letters of which
are included in the RD page 68-70. That was sufficient confirmation for NSSA {o transact
with MetBank, as it would be for any other institution.

Use of US$37,350.000 TBs by Metbank without authority from NSSA

6. We established that Mr. Chiuta, the Executive Assistant in the office of the
General Manager acted without authority by writing a letter to Metbank
authorising them to use NSSA TBs with a face value of US$37,350,000.
However, Mr Chiuta gave a formal statement addressed to the Acting General
Manager. He detailed what had transpired to the point of signing the letter
authorising Metbank to use the TBS. He indicated that he had received a
Whatsapp message from you on 2 October 2017. The contents of the
conversation were that you indicated to him that Metbank had secured
funding and wanted NSSA to release the TBs and some representatives of the
bank would visit him the following day. In his response, Mr Chiuta confirmed
to have spoken to Mr Kundishora and promised that he would see to it that
the TBs were authorised for release by end of the week.

Mr Chiuta confirmed that on the morning of 3 October 2017, Mr Bvute, Mr
Ndebele and Mr Kundishora all from Metbank visited him requesting for a
letter that would authorise them to use NSSA TBs which were already in their
custody.

a. Can you please confirm having written a whatsapp message to Mr. Chiuta
on 2 October 2017 relating to the NSSA TBs at Metbank?

Mr Chiuta reported to the NSSA General Manager and not to me. | often had NSSA staff
(at all level) contact me looking for guidance and | always referred them back to their
line manager. | cannot recall and therefore cannot confirm having writien a Whatsapp
message to Mir Chiuta.

b. If yes, what were the contents of the whatsapp message?
I do not recall the said message and so cannot comment on the same, it would have

been useful to have sight of the same if such exits.
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¢. May you please explain what you wanted Mr. Chiuta to do according to the
whatsapp message?

I would always liaise with the General Manager, not her subordinate. If such a message
exists {and you have it) then it should be self-explanatory and not require me to explain
anything further.

d. The whatsapp message suggested that Mr. Chiuta should assist Metbank so
that they are able to use the NSSA TBs. Was a board approval in place
authorising the transaction?

Your quesfion in 6a and 6b above enquires as to whether a whatsapp exists, in this
question you suggest there was a whatsapp message. No | would not instruct for any
actions that was not BIC or Board Approved, further { would not instruct a subordinate
of the General Manager of NSSA (the “GM”) rather than speak to the GM herself
knowing, as we all did, thai the sighing authority for any NSSA agreement or contract
was the GM. Hence, as Chairman, | never signed any contract, agreement or other on
behalf of NSSA. You should look through the numerous minutes to establish authorities
in place.

7. We noted that several tranches of TBs with a face value of U5$83,133,382
were released to Metbank under custodial arrangement during the period.
NSSA is currently exposed to the tune of US$57,350,000 worth of TBs which
are held by Metbank.

Would you say this transaction or arrangement was done in the best interest
of NSSA?

Your question suggests you think otherwise? The decisions made which I respond to
are those which received the full consideration of both the BIC and Board. NSSA had a
policy of seeking to sweat its assets and to earn additional income where it could. |
stand by all decisions made during my tenure and believe they were indeed in the best
interests of NSSA as the Auditor General audifed results of NSSA for December 2016
and December 2017 independently demonstrate. The performance of NSSA has been
significant during my tenure and yes all transaciions carried out assisted this.

8. There are allegations that Metbank and its related entities were getting
favourable treatment, particularly from you and the parent Minister. This is
evidenced by a number of transactions which benefited Metbank and its
related entities whilst exposing NSSA. What is your comment to this
allegation?

The allegations are patently false and baseless. Further as NED Chairman, { had no
contracting ability. | will not dignify the allegations from faceless persons whose
maotives are probably ones of pay back for my efforts to realign NSSA to deliver for the
pensioners, not the workers. The RD describes the likely reasons for these false
ailegations.
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Recruitment of the General Manager

9. The General Manager job was offered to Ms Elizabeth Chitiga who came third
in the interviews. Ms. Mukwehwa advised us that she forwarded the results
of the interviews to you and she does not know what further considerations
you made to recommend the third best candidate to the parent Ministry. NSSA
Human Resources Guidelines require that job offers are done on merit.

a. Please explain what further considerations were made to settle for the
third best candidate at the expense of those who came first and second ?

The names of the top candidates from the HR Committee selection process, of which |
was not part of, were passed fo the Ministry as is for approval and the required vetting
process. The result of which was that Ms Chitiga was approved. The Board, following
recommendation from the HR Committee, makes the appointment NOT me as
Chairman. | was not involved in any interview process. The Board Minutes relating io
this will show the resolution taken, therefore demonstrating a collective decision and

responsibility, not a personal one.

Recruitment of the Chief Finance and Operations Officer

10.The post was filled by Mr Emerson Mungwariri who came second in the
interviews. We were not availed with a copy of job offer to Mr. Michel Gotore
who came first in the interviews. Ms. Mukwehwa told us she forwarded the
interview results to you and she does not know what further considerations
you made to appoint the second-best candidate.

The names of the top candidates from the HR Committee selection process, of which |
was not part of, were passed to the Ministry as is for approval and the required vetting
process. The result of which was that Mr Mungwariri was approved,

The Board, following recommendation from the HR Committee, makes the appointment
NOT me as Chairman. | was not involved in any interview process,

The Board Minutes relating to this will show_the resolution taken, therefore
demonstrating a collective decision and responsibilify, not a personal one.

a. Please explain what further considerations were made to settle for the
second-best candidate at the expense the one who came first?

The Board, following recommendation from the HR Committee, makes the appointment
NOT e as Chairman. | was not invelved in any interview process.

The Board Minutes relating to this will show the resolution iaken, therefore
demonstrating a collective decision and responsibility, not a personal one,

Board expenses

11.0n 20 November 2017, you sought and were granted approval for a 50%
increase in retainer fees and payment of sitting allowances to Board members
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for any other official NSSA business. The authority was granted by the
Permanent Secretary of the parent Ministry.

a. According to Section 14 of the NSSA Act, remuneration for Board members
should be approved by the parent Minister. What is your comment on the
approval which was granted by the Permanent Secretary?

NSSA had 3 Parent Ministers (Mupfumira, Zhuwao, and Kagonye) during my tenure, it
was during the period that there was a Ministerial Vacancy that approval was given,
though the matter had been broached with and approved by Minister Mupfumira before
here withdrawal on 9 October 2018. Indeed my understanding is that it is the Parent
Ministry and not Minister that gives the Approval. In the absence of an appointed
Minister, The Permanent Secretary is the authority for approval. That said if you feel he
had no authority the guestion as to him authorising should be directed at the
Permanent Secretary and not me.

It is instructive that implementation of all arrangements are done by Management and
not by the Board and certainly not by me as NED Chairman. To this extent, it was for
Management, to ensure they had obtained ali the necessary approvals in accordance
with all requirements of the NSSA Act and other — not for me as NED Chairman to do
s0. This rings frue for other areas of this guestionnaire where you seem to insinuate
that as NED Chairman | was not to rely on executive management but rather, myself,
ensure that all areas of legislation are compiled with. That is not what | did, 1 relied on
Management to do their job as | was entitled to.

b. On implementing the Permanent Secretary’s approval, the Board Chair
was awarded a 94% increase whilst other Board members got 100%
increase. According to Mr. Mungwariri, you disregarded the computations
that he had done, and you gave him your own figures. This resulted in the
board being paid an extra US542,746

Can you please explain why you implemented higher increases than the
one which had been approved?

The sums approved were what was paid so there can be no notion that there was an
excess amount paid. | have no recollection of an alternative figure being presented, and
if it was, what the basis of the same would be. The amounts put forward for approvai
and to be paid were arrived at as a result of a survey procured from an independent
remuneration consultancy and benchmarked against other entities. It was not a thumb-
suck or manufactured number. The Board Fee amounts had not changed since the
appointment of the Board 2 years earlier. The motivation document which was
subsequently approved is aftached as ANNEXURE BDRO 2.

Again, it is an important fundamental for BDO io understand that the Board Chairman
does not implement anything. Implementation (being signing of contracts or indeed
enabling funds to flow from NSSA accounts) is done by Management. Management
implemented what was approved by the Ministry.
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Other Board expenses payments

12.We noted that on 4 December 2017, you were paid $14,785 relating to
carrying out other official NSSA business backdated to 1 July 2017 . This was
over and above your normal retainer and sitting allowances.

You were also paid $5,769 for a Mauritius trip. We were not availed with the
Minister’s approval for the above payments.

a. Please explain why you did not seek the Minister’s approval as required by
the NSSA Act?

NSSA had 4 Parent Ministers during my tenure, it was during the period that there was
a Ministerial Vacancy that approval was given. Indeed my understanding is that it is the
Parent Ministry and not Minister that gives the Approval. in the absence of an appointed
Minister, The Permanent Secretary is the authority for approval. Such Approval was
indeed granted. The trip to Mauritius was a reimbursement of travel expenses incurred
in representing NSSA at a 3rd party event African Pension Fund event at which | was
“invited and represented NSSA as NSSA Board Chairman. Members of NSSA
management aiso attended this same event. Reimbursement of business expenses
incurred, as is the norm, was approved by the Ministry when approving the Board Fees.

You will also note that the cost to the Authority for 4 business days of my time was
infact only the reimbursement of the iravel and accommodation expenses incurred.

Off-take housing projects

13.In 2017, the Authority introduced off-take housing projects which were
awarded to Metro Realty (Private) Limited, Housing Corporation Zimbabwe
{Private) Limited and Drawcard (Private) Limited.

a. May you please justify the introduction of such projects within NSSA.

This is dealt with in detail in the HS. NSSA had a mandate to deliver affordable housing
to the Citizens of Zimbabwe. The ensurance of delivery on the same was a critical
success and performance factor for the authority.

b. We noted that the Authority introduced the off-take housing projects
despite the existence of National Building Society (NBS) which is
devoted and specialised in such projects.

May you please explain why NBS was not considered to undertake these
off-take projects?

The approach by NSSA was purposefully multi-pronged to ensure delivery. NBS was
only one channel and indeed was considered and received funding for its own projects.
NSSA also gave NBS access to its land banks, which NBS felt were too highly priced
and chose selectively. Of the land banks granted to NBS (Glaudina and Chinoyi) at the
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time of my departure from NSSA in March 2018, they had still not started work due to
the necessary processes, some 2 years plus later.

In the NBS Strategic Meeting (summary included in HFSA pg 4-7) it is recorded and
agreed that both NSSA and NBS were to delivery housing to the collective pool. In this
paper, for period to 31 December 2018, NBS was to deliver 6,000 units and NSSA 4,600
units.

HCZ off-take housing contract

14.0n 15 June 2017, you forwarded an HCZ/HAC proposal to Mr. Hungwe and Mr.
Nziradzemhuka. The proposal had been sent to you by Mr. Adam Molai.

a. Can you confirm if you are the one who introduced HCZ/HAC to NSSA
officials?

As Chairman of NSSA | received numerous proposal and enquires, all of which | simply
passed onto NSSA Management to evaluate and determine the way forward. Your
question suggests you are of the view that | introduced this transaction - Yes | did pass
on the HCZ/ HAC proposal to NSSA as | have indeed done with many other projects.
See HS pg 4-5.

It is false that the proposal was first seen by NSSA management on 15 June 2017. It
was first sent in February 2017 as articulated in the HS.

b. What is your relationship with HAC?
1 have no relationship with or interest in HAC.

c. Did you also recommend other reputable local construction companies to
be considered for the off-take housing projects?

| did not recommend any companies including HAC. You may refer to the BIC, Board
minufes and documents on this transaction, none of which talk about a
recommendation by the Chairman as insinuated by you.

As a matter of fact - | actually went further and made this explicit in an email to Kura
Chihota dated 9 August 2016 (HAS pg 44) - in which | am explicit that “Please note that !
will pass many items onto you but so doing is not my expressing any opinion on the merits or
demerits of the same. Please alwavs do your own work and come up with vour own independent

position”

d. NSSA signed an off-take housing confract with Housing Corporation
Zimbabwe (Private) Limited (HCZ) on 14 July 2017. The contract was for
the construction of 8,000 houses in Caledonia, Harare at a unit cost of
USS$38,000 which translates to US$304 million for the whole project.
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Can you explain why a project with a cost of US$304 million was not
subjected to tender?

This is clearly a question for Management (whose responsibility it is to comply with all
legislation prior to execution) and not the NED Chairman. That said, this was a housing
offtake arrangement to be done in tranches. The negotiations and the agreement were
signed by management with no input from myself or the Board.

Further, management have a fiduciary duty to NSSA to act in the best interests of the
Authority. Their implementation of any action by signature is an explicit confirmation
of their approval of the same and satisfaction that all necessary due-diligence,
commercial rationale, security perfection, regulatory and other requirements have been
complied with.

The approval given at BIC and Board was for management to enter into contract with
HCZ ensuring that NSSA held security for all funds advanced - a performance bond and
caveat over the land. At no stage was NSSA to be exposed and though the total units
would amount to 8,000 over a 4 year period, the initial phase for which HCZ had secured
land in Caledonia was for only 2,000 houses. The subsequent land procured by HCZ
was to be evaluated and approved by NSSA. At no stage was NSSA exposed to HCZ
without tangible security which amounted to multiples of any cash advance given.

There were numerous BIC and Board Meetings leading up to the engagement of
HCZ/HAC. If was not a sinqular meeting or event as is falsely said. Further, the BIC and
Board Minuies relating to this will show the resolution taken without dissent, therefore
demonstrating a collective decision and responsibility, not a personal one.

e. The thrust of the command housing was to deliver low cost houses. Mr.
Kura Chihota got an indication that similar houses had been constructed
by NBS at a cost of US$25,000/unit. He advised you that he was trying to
negotiate with HCZ/HAC so that they could reduce their price of
1US$38,000/unit. However, you told him via email communication that you
wanted the contract ‘“’signed off and initial disbursements done this
week’’. This meant the properties team had no time to negotiate with
HCZ and the contract was awarded at US$38,000/unit.

Based on the NBS price, not negotiating with HCZ resulted in NSSA being
overcharged by about US$$100 million. What is your response to this?

Management had the HCZ proposal since February 2017, it was for management to work
through the same. The offtake strategy was devised by management as arficulated in
the HS and supported by the email evidence contained in the HSFA pg 14-16.

The product offering of HCZ is not the same as that offered by NBS, and so to suggest
the price of $38k for HCZ houses was inflated above those of NBS is factual inaccurate
and simplistic. As a matter of fact: HCZ is offering 300m2 sfands versus the NBS 200m2
stands; HCZ houses are modular and made from concrete mix with a 2dmpa strength
some 3-4 times the strength of the NBS brick and mortar 6-8mpa houses; and HCZ
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houses offered a 45-50m2 2 bedroom modern look/ feel with superior finishes whereas
NBS houses are standard with 25-40m2 1 bedroom. Comparing the two products which
targeted different segments of the market is similar to comparing apples with bananas.
The sensationalist assertion that the price was inflated by $100m is also false. The HCZ
product had significant written offtake interest from teacher trade unions and that
interest remained until my departure and the controversy hegun. The RD incorporating
the HCZ proposal document from pg 104 to 137, describes this in detail. Did BDO not
see this or receive the same from NSSA Management? Or was BDO happy to rely on
the singular source of information presented to you in a favour that served that
quarter’s agenda. This will be tested in the fullness of time,

Management did the contract negotiation, evaluation and made the recommendations
on price and other. This is all evidenced in the HS and HSA. For the Avoidance of doubt,
| was not invelved in a single meeting with HCZ/HAC and NSSA at any time. My only
involvement was to refer a potential transaction to Management as | did with numerous
others, examples of which are inciuded in the RD and the HS should you care to
examine the same.

| also refer you to my founding email to Kura Chihota dated 9 August 2016 (HAS pg 44)
- in which { am explicit that “Please note that i will pass many items onto vou but so doing is
not my expressing any opinion on the merits or demerits of the same. Please always do vour
own work and come up with your own independent position”. 1would be interested to learn how
more explicit | could have been.

Metro Realty off-take housing Contracts

15.We established that in June and July 2017, meetings were held at Metbank
offices and at your offices, Anesu House. The meetings were held to discuss
various transactions between NSSA and Metbank including the issue of Metro
Realty off-take housing projects. Honourable Minister P. Mupfumira, yourself,
Metbank and Ministry representatives were among those who attended the
meetings. At one of the meetings which was held at your offices, it is also
alleged that NSSA was directed to enter into two off-take housing agreements
with Metro Realty.

The Meeting was called at short notice given the pressure the Ministry was under to
ensure the success of delivery of housing by NSSA. Simply because | had no
transport and was stuck in my office, did the Minister agree to come there. | only
recall one such meeting at which the then Minister was expressing her displeasure
at the slow progress being made. NSSA was not directed to enter into any
agreements, but rather to follow its processes and ensure delivery was expedited.
Management had this emphasised to them.

On 24 July 2017, NSSA signed two off-take housing agreements with Metro
Realty (Private) Limited, which are Stateland and St-lves without going
through a tender. We noted that these projects were not approved by the
board as required and payments were made to these projects before some
conditions precedent had been met.
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a. Please can you confirm if the meetings mentioned above actually took
place with the Minister and Metbank representatives in attendance?

A meeting indeed did take place at which NSSA Management were also in
attendance.

b. Give a brief description of what was discussed in regard to the two
Metro Realty off-take housing projects

There was nothing specific discussed except a re-emphasis of the need for
delivery of housing and an enquiry as fo what bottle necks arose and how these
could be progressed with Ministerial assistance.

¢. What is the relationship between Metbank and Metro Realty?

As was common practice, | was not involved in the transaction detail but
understood from Management that they are associated entities when the issue
of the requirement for a 3rd party performance bond was raised which was
subsequently done.

d. Before awarding Metro Realty the two projects, did it have a track
record of executing similar projects?

This is a question for management fo respond to. Management recommended
the transaction and were happy with the delivery capability and security they
received from Metro Realty. In the HAS you will see numerous emails in which
Management reaffirm their satisfaction with the delivery capability and security
offered hy the party they engaged.

e, Did NSSA go through a tender process before awarding the contracts te
Metro Realty? If not, why?

As in 14 (d) above, this is a guestion for management.

It is instructive that implementation of all resolutions are done by Management
and not by the Board and certainly not by me as NED Chairman. To this extent,
it was for Management, to ensure they had obtained all the necessary approvals
in accordance with all requirements of the NSSA Act and all other legislation —
not for me as NED Chairman to do so. This rings true for other areas of this
guestionnaire where you seem to insinuate that as NED Chairman | was not to
rely on executive managemeni but rather, myself, ensure that all areas of
legistation are compiled with. That is not what ! did, | relied on Management to
do their job as | was entitled to.

f. It appears there was pressure to award the contracts to Metro Realty.
Where was the pressure coming from and why?
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You may advise me as you appear to have established this. | cannot comment
on what | am not aware of.

g. Were internal processes such as due diligence and investment
appraisals done before the projects were awarded to Metro Realty?
(Yes/No)

This is a question for management to respond to. All BIC and Board approvals
always insisted that management carry ouf the necessary due diligence and
receive appropriafe security. Please read the BIC and Board minutes.

If the above were not done, what gave you and your team the comfort
that;

i, The price being charged was fair?

it. That the contractor had the capacity to deliver?

This is a question for management to respond to. Managemeni recommended
the fransaction and were happy with the delivery capability and security they
received from Metro Realty.

h. Executives from the properties department were alleging that the time
deadlines you set for them to conclude and sign off-take housing
agreements were not realistic. As a result, they could not perform the
required NSSA internal due processes such as the due diligence and
investment appraisals on the projects. What is your comment on this
allegation?

| am sure you appreciate that the allegers must prove their allegations. | cannot
comment on allegations that are patently false and untested. Further, management
have a fiduciary duty to NSSA to act in the best interests of the Authority. Their
implementation of any action by signature is an explicit confirmation of their approval
of the same and satisfaction that all necessary due-diligence, commercial rationale,
security perfection, regulatory and other requirements have been complied with,
coupled with the non-recordal of any objection in any Board or Commitiee minutes.

i. There are a number of indigenous banks which have done a number of
successful housing projects. These include CBZ Building Society, NBS
and FBC Building Society.

How did NSSA come to the position that it had to specifically assist
Metbank and its related entities, especially considering the risk profile
of the bank?

NSSA has gone on public record stating it wanted to do housing offtake arrangements.
There were entities other than Metro Realty that were interested and made approaches
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including such entities as Homestyle Bricks, Masimba Holdings, West Property
Company, and others.

Banks such as CBZ and FBC in which NSSA was significantly invested/ controlied, had
a different housing model and interest. They were infact approached before NBS was
set up and before my tenure to undertake housing delivery. The fact that NBS had to be
set up is instructive of the lack of appetite, at the time, for those said banks to look at
affordable housing whereas they were focussed on cluster developments in middie
income areas.

There are BIC & Board deliberations on these issues, you may refer o those.

Drawcard off-take housing agreement

16.0n 3 August 2017, NSSA entered into an off-take housing agreement with
Drawcard Enterprise (Private) Limited. We noted that Drawcard has close
tinks with Metbank and Metro Realty. We also noted that this project was not
approved by the Board as required.

a. Please can you comment on the assertion that Drawcard got the off-take
housing contract because of its close links with Metbank and Metro Realty?

The NSSA transactions are done by NSSA Management not by the Board or | as
Chairman. The detail is a question for management to respond to. Management
recommended the transaction and were happy with the delivery capability and security
they received from Metro Realty.

b. May you please explain why the Authority entered into the Drawcard off-
take housing contract without a Board approval?

As mentioned in 3 above. This is completely false. Management should know that they
require the appropriate approvals before execution of any transaction. That said, it is
the Board Investment Committee (“BIC”) approval that is relevant NOT the Board
approval. This is because there is a standing authority dated 29 November 2012 giving
management o implement resolutions of the BIC prior to Board Approval. (ANNEXURE

-BDO1).

Interference with executive management matters

From our enquiry from executive management, there were allegations that
you were interfering with executive management decisions. Please can you
comment on each of the matters stated below;

a. Insisting and putting pressure on management to enter into a TBs Custodial
agreement with Metbank.
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This is completely false and unsupported. My aspiration was always to ensure NSSA
delivered — that meant giving strategic direction and allowing management to
implement.

b. Sending a whatsapp message to Mr. Chiuta directing him to issue a letter
authorising Metbank to use US$37,350,000 worth of TBs in their custody.

This is completely false and unsupported. Management know their authority limits. |
always interacted with the General Manager, not her subordinates. Mr Chiuta had no
authority to issue any NSSA letter and nor did |, so if any instruction was to be given it
would have been to the General Manager direct not to Mr Chiuta.

¢. Exerting pressure on management to extend a US$20 million term loan
facility to Metbank for extending to fertitizer producers.

Management provided the structure for the transactions, and recommended the same.
The transactions carried management’s support prior {0 being presented to BIC by
management for approval. Management were repeatedly asked to perform and do their
job to deliver on NSSA’s mandate, for that | make no apology.

d. Awarding of two off-take housing contracts to Metro Realty after meetings
at your offices, involving Ministry, Metbank and NSSA officials.

Management award confracts and enters into contracts and agreements, not the Board
or | as NED Chairman. Such contracts were granted following Board Resolution and
ratified and as such carried the coliective consent and approval of the Board.

e. Introducing Housing Cooperation of Zimbabwe (HCZ) to NSSA, a company
which was awarded a contact worth US$304 million without going to
tender.

Dealt with under 14 above. Further, management have a fiduciary duty to NSSA to act
in the best interests of the Authority. Their implementation of any action by signature
is an explicit confirmation of their approval of the same and satisfaction that all
necessary due-diligence, commercial rationale, security perfection, regulatory and
other requirements have been complied with, coupied with the non-recordal of any
objection in any Board or Committee minutes.

f. Waiver of vehicle loan waiting period to Ms. Mugwira.

This was a management recommendation and request which was also within their
authority to grant. My knowledge of the same was a mere courtesy.

g. Overriding management computation of a 50% increase on retainer fees
approved by Mr. Masoka that resulted in an extra payment of US$42,756
on board expenses.
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Dealt with under 11 above. | am only aware of the amount approved being what was
paid. If that is the case, as Chartered Accountants, how do you suggest there was an
overpayment?

The Board Chairman does not implement anything. Implementation is done by
Management. Management implemented what was approved by the Ministry.

h. Negotiating deals in absence of management. It was alleged that you
negotiated the cost of the land without management involvement in the
purchase of Nyarungu Estate from Philip Chiyangwa.

This is completely false. Mr Chiyangwa had his price set for his land and BDO as
liquidators for Tetrad and Interfin were looking for a tripartite settlement arrangement.
I was contacted by the BDO’s managing partner {(Mr Kudenga) several tfimes as he was
not making headway with NSSA executives, similarly with Mr Chiyangwa. My role was
to ensure NS3A management and executive engaged fo get an outcome that was a win
for all parties. It is also important for you to note that NSSA had actually written off the
amounts owned in its books, so the recovery of value from the land of R15.5m went
immediately to improve NSSA’s profitability for the year. This was land that was, from
memory, independently valued by 3 NSSA accredited valuers at an average value of
R18m. If anything the Board should be commended for recovery of what was lost funds
rather than criticised. See HS pg 17 for BDO correspondence.

17.Are there any other issues you would like to bring to our attention on matters
raised in this questionnaire, please provide them in the space below.

The allegations made in this questionnaire are unsupported by the facts as to my
actions. As Board Chairman, my singular drive was to fix NSSA and deliver a living
pension for the pensioner. In so doing, | ruffled a lot of feathers and so | am not
surprised at the attempt to settle scores from employees who feit they were
disenfranchised and feli disgruntled.

That said, | am comfortable with all my efforts and actions taken at NSSA which were
all done with full approvals and for which the Board, in its numerous minutes, took
collective responsibility for. The achievements of the Board | lead are notable with
NSSA being the only “parastatal” that is profitable, cash positive and demonstrating
growth of assets.

As Board Chairman, | never sought to over-reach or sign ANY contract or give any
instruction for any payments. This was the domain of management who by appending
their signature, giving authority, surely also take responsibility for their actions. NSSA
is a huge organisation, where individuals should have and act on their convictions. Not
once during my tenure was there any notion of dissent or disagreement on resolutions
taken — none of which were done by me as chairman alone.

The Board 1 led had a collective spirit and valued my contribution as evidenced by a
Whatsapp messade | received from Amai Daphne Tomana on the date of my removal.
See Annexure BDO3.
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What is stunning is the culture in Parastatal Boards to be self-centred and spinless
when faced with questions after the fact. The entire NSSA Board was well aware of
every fransaction undertaken under my tenure, no single fransaction was hidden or
delivered at the last minute of by round robin resolution. Every significant transaction
had a meeting of both the BIC and Board! The need for thase members to retain the
board fees earning potential sadly compromises their ethics to the extent that they are
prepared to give false narrative in order to retain position, favour and “save their skin”.
It is a sad indictment on the quality of persons said to be called to lead critical
organisations as many do not have the independence of mind or financial security fo
do so and are too often happy to follow a political driven agenda or narrative to remain
at the feeding trough.

FINALLY AND MOST IMPORTANTLY THIS QUESTIONNAIRE AND MY RESPONSES
ABOVE 1S IN NO WAY A WAIVER OF MY RIGHTS AGAINST SELF INCRIMINATION.

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Rabin Vela

Date: 15 NOVEMBER 2018
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NATIONAL SOCIAL SECH

Head Office
Mssa House
Selous Avenueg / Sam Nujoma St Tel: {04) 706523-5, 706545-8
Box CY 1387, Causeway, Harare Fax: {04) 798320, 795042

20 November 2017

Mr N Masoka

Ministry of Public Service Labour and Social Welfare
9th Floor, Kaguvi House

HARARE

Dear Mr Masoka,

REVIEW OF NSSA NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (NED) BOARD FEES

The Board at its meeting of 26 September 2017 deliberated the
quantum of board fees paid to its members. The members considered
the following factors:
o the number of the Authority’s investee companies and the
complexity of the Authority’s business and
o the amount of work involved and time spent preparing and sitting
on various Board Committee and main Board meetings.

i would also respectfully submit that this NSSA Board has DELIVERED
since its appointment in July 2015, [ attach as schedule A the list of
achievements.

A comparison was made with what other companies paid their Board
members and it was noted that the Authority was in the lower quartile.
I have enclosed Schedule B indicating market comparisons.

After consideration of the above factors, the Board resolved that,
subject to Ministerial approval, the retainer fees paid to Non-Executive
Directoirs, every gquarter be increased by 50% effective from the 4th
Quarter of 2017.

STRICTLY PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL
PRIVILEGE INFORMATION INTENDED FOR ADDRESSEE ONLY PAGE |1
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The proposed increase in the retainer fees is indicated on Schedule C.
The sitting fees will remain unchanged.

It was further resolved that Board Members carrying out official NSSA
business during working hours and having to travel be paid a fee
equivalent to a siting fee, daily per diem and travel allowance in line
with NSSA’s current policy for its staff from 1 July 2017.

| should be grateful if, in the absence of the Minister, you would
approve the proposals in relation to board fees and fees/ allowance for
attendance at NSSA functions by Board Members.

Yours sincerely,

LN

Robin Vela
NSSA Board Chairman

Approved/Not approved

Mr N. Masoka
Permanent Secretary
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Schedule A - Achievements of Board since appointment in July 2015

PERIOD | ACHIEVEMENTS
Q4 2015
e MANAGEMENT TEAM RENEWAL/ RESTRUCTURING OF THE
AUTHORITY
e RESTRUCTURING OF BOARD COMMITTEES
e COST MANAGEMENT - conscionable remuneration framework introduced
o CORPORATE GOVERNANCE - forbidding of related party transactions
Q1 2016
¢ CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY - a continuing activity
Q2 2016
¢« LAUNCH OF THE NATICNAL BUILDING SOCIETY (NBS) — 1164 units to
date
o ACQUISITION OF 80% STAKE BY ZARNET IN TELECEL ZIMBABWE
o  APPOINTMENT OF NEW EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM LED BY Ms,
ELIZABETH CHITIGA, AS GENERAL MANAGER
Q3 2016
e THE STRATEGIC PLAN & THE NEW NSSA - NSSA BY CHOICE, NOT BY
STATUTE
o MOBILE CLINIC RELAUNCH

STRICTLY PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL
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Q4 2016

FORENSIC AUDIT COMPLETED: BEITBRIDGE AND CELEST]AL PARK
SKILLS AUDIT

VOLUNTARY RETRENCHMENT

FAYMENT OF CHRISTMAS BONUS TO PENSIONER

US$20 MILLION FERTILISER FACILITY

BIOMETRIC REGISTRATION — 85% of beneficiaries done
INTRODUCTION OF MOBILE MONEY

OPENING OF THE REHABILITATION CENTRE TO THE PUBLIC

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

a1 2017 GOVERNMENT'S CLEARANCE OF CON'I;RIBUTIONS ARREARS - US
$180.9m .
EXIT FROM TELECEL TRANSACTION — 16% IRR achieve
LAUNCH OF NEW BENEFIT - Funeral Benefit Enhancement — US$500

Q2 2017

Actuarially verified and sustainable 33.33% increase in the minimum
retirement pension benefit {from US$60 to US$80 per month) and further
exercise to enforce biometric registration to eliminate fraudulent claims and
payments;

Audited financial statements for 31 December 2016 delivered with unqualified
and clean auditors’ opinion have been approved by the Minister, showing
improved performance in key areas. US$88m profit — no other parastatal even
close,

NSSA makes several middle management appointments of professionally
qualified and experienced individuals to enable the improved service delivery
narrative;

NSSA continues to seek to "walk the talk" in relation to corporate governance
and call for greater accountability from investee companies — resignation of
Robin Vela from the boards of all NSSA investee companies with effect from
31 December 2017;

The Board remains focussed on draining the "naysayers” and implementing
a focused investment strategy; clustering and consolidating like investments
as will become apparent in the insurance and banking sectors. NSSA's
implementation of its consolidation strategy has commenced with the
Authority successfully gaining control of Nicoz Diamond following a
mandatory offer to minorities;

STRICTLY PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL
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Telecel's exit agreement has been fully executed and instalments received as
scheduled, of the total US$43.25 million to be received by NSSA, US$10.02
million has been received to date. The transaction (which is secured) will
translate to an internal real rate of return of some 16 per cent for the Authority;

Work on the Voluntary Contributory Scheme to cater for unserved market,
mainly the informal sector, is almost complete;

The Authority's CSR initiatives under the mantra — "NSSA for Good” — an
initiative that is touching the lives of the less privileged.

Q3 2017

Opening of 4" branch of NBS and delivery of housing offtake agreements

STRICTLY PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL
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daphine tomana

But why and what do we do. am in
pain. i relied on u. what ofus .,

Jusi be stro_ng and 'conti'nu_e tof'd'o
" the right things. This will pass.

. ~ Am out of zim. And who do i confer
~ with. You have my respect that will
7 not be taken away. Am scared .

% 'Thank you. Sij and Amai Mukwehwa
.- are good old hands

This is a job”and a half. Thanks fbr |

. Missed voice call a3 08:21.




